BINDER, ANDREA MARIA. Ph.D. The Role of dTopors in Nuclear Structure and Meiotic Chromosome Segregation in *Drosophila melanogaster*. (2022) Directed by Dr. John Tomkiel Dean. 130 pp.

Ubiquitination and sumoylation are post-translational modifications that control a variety of cellular processes. Topors, a protein that can act as both an E3 ubiquitin and SUMO-1 ligase, is critical for regulation of gene expression, DNA repair and cell division. The Drosophila homolog, dTopors, is required for establishing proper nuclear structure and chromosome segregation in male meiosis. The relationship between ubiquitination and/or sumoylation in these functions, however, is unknown.

Using CRISPR-Cas9, I created separation-of-function mutants to specifically alter the ubiquitin ligase activity and used these to investigate the role of ubiquitination in these processes. In combination with mass spectrometry, I also utilized these mutants to identify potential targets of dTopors' ubiquitination and sumoylation in testis. Furthermore, to determine which E2 ligase acts with dTopors in the germline, I performed an RNAi knockdown screen of each E2 ligase and assayed for nondisjunction and nuclear defects. Positives were then tested for enhancement of a dtopors hypomorphic allele.

I found that the nuclear structure was more sensitive to lack of dTopors' ubiquitination than was chromosome segregation, suggesting that there may be different targets of dTopors ubiquitination important for each phenotype. Mass spectrometry identified over 800 peptides that were differentially ubiquitinated in the presence or absence of dTopors' ubiquitination. Notably these included chromatin proteins, Lamin Dm0 and numerous components of the ubiquitination pathway. Similarly, differentially sumoylated targets were identified including proteins involved in chromatin structure and transcription. Effete (UbcD1) and Bruce (BIR repeat containing ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme) were identified as potential E2 ligase partners of dTopors. Expanding our knowledge of targets and E2 ligase partners are critical steps towards understanding the relationship between ubiquitination/sumoylation and germline nuclear structure and chromosome segregation.

# THE ROLE OF DTOPORS IN NUCLEAR STRUCTURE AND MEIOTIC CHROMOSOME SEGREGATION IN DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER

by

Andrea Maria Binder

A Dissertation

Submitted to

the Faculty of The Graduate School at

The University of North Carolina at Greensboro

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

Greensboro

2022

Approved by

Dr. John Tomkiel Dean Committee Chair

## DEDICATION

I am dedicating my dissertation to my wife Penelope, who always believed in me, supported me, and comforted me throughout my graduate journey, and to my children Sean and Amelie, for being the source of my perseverance.

I Am Because We Are!

### APPROVAL PAGE

This dissertation written by Andrea M Binder has been approved by the following committee of the Faculty of The Graduate School at The University of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Committee Chair

Committee Members

Dr. John Tomkiel Dean

Dr. Karen Katula

Dr. Paul Steimle

Dr. Dennis LaJeunesse

April 21, 2022

Date of Acceptance by Committee

April 21, 2022

Date of Final Oral Examination

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My sincere gratitude to my friend and mentor Dr. John Tomkiel Dean for his tireless support, constant encouragement, professional guidance, and the never-ending patience that were the cornerstones of my graduate success.

Thank You for Everything!

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
The Role of Ubiquitination and Sumoylation in Signaling and Cancer	2
Regulation of the Nuclear Lamina by Ubiquitination and Sumoylation	4
TOPORS is a Dual E3 Ubiquitin SUMO-1 Ligase	6
TOPORS is Involved in DNA Damage Response Pathways	7
TOPORS is Implicated in Various Cancers	8
The Pleiotropic Effects of TOPORS	9
Conservation of dTopors' Role in Drosophila	10
CHAPTER II: NUCLEAR LAMINA STRUCTURE AND CHROMOSOME SEGRED	GATION
HAVE DIFFERENT REQUIREMENTS FOR DTOPORS-MEDIATED UBIQUIT	INATION
IN THE GERM LINE OF MALE DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER	12
Introduction	
dTopors Role in Drosophila Soma and Male Germline	16
Aim of Study	18
Materials and Methods	19
Drosophila Stocks and Crosses	19
CRISPR-Directed Editing of dTopors RING Domain	19
Plasmid Preparation and gRNA Cloning	19
Single Stranded Template Design for Homology Directed Repair (HDR)	19
Embryonic Injections and Verification of RING Mutants	20
Genetic Assays of Meiotic Chromosome Segregation	21
Quantitative Assessment of the Spermatocyte Nuclear Phenotype	22
Fluorescent In Situ Hybridization	22
FISH Preparation	22
Probe Design	23
Assessment of Anaphase Defects	23
Indirect Immunofluorescence	24
Mass Spectrometry	24
Tissue Preparation	24
Protein Preparation	25
Peptide Purification	25
Anti- K-ε-GG Peptide Enrichment and Fractionation	26
Analysis of Mass Spec Data	26
Results	27
dTopors Ubiquitin Ligase Activity is Required for Spermatocyte Nuclear Struct	ure28
Ubiquitin Ligase Activity of dTopors is Not Required for Its Localization to the	Lamina.30

dTopors Ubiquitin Ligase Activity is Required for Meiotic Chromosome Segregation	31
The Absence of dTopors Ubiquitination Results in Anaphase I Bridge Formations	36
Ubiquitin Ligase Activity of dTopors is Not Required for Insulator Function	39
Targets of dTopors Ubiquitination	42
dTopors Regulates LaminDm0 Ubiquitination	51
Discussion	52
CHAPTER III: IDENTIFYING TARGETS OF DTOPORS SUMOYLATION	61
Introduction	61
The Sumoylation Pathway	62
The Impact of Sumoylation in Human Cells	62
The Impact of Sumovation in Flies	64
Aim of Study	65
Materials and Methods	66
Mass Spectometry	66
Tissue Preparation	66
Protein Preparation	67
Peptide Purification	67
Anti- K-ε-GG Peptide Enrichment and Fractionation	68
Analysis of Mass Spectrometry Data	68
Results	69
Discussion	75
Can dTopors Regulate Sumovlation and Ubiquitination of the Same Targets?	77
CHAPTER IV: IDENTIFICATION OF E2 UBIQUITIN LIGASE PARTNERS OF	
DTOPORS	80
Introduction	80
Dual F3 Ubiquitin SUMO-1 Ligase Topors is Implicated in Cancer	82
dTopors Role in Drosophila Soma and Male Germline	
Aim of Study	02
Materials and Methods	85
Drosonhila Stocks	
RNAi Mediated Knockdown of F2 Ubiquitin Conjugating Enzymes in the Male	
Germline	86
Cytological Assessment of Nondisjunction and Nuclear Structure	86
Genetics Tests of Fourth Chromosome Segregation	80
Genetic Assays of Meiotic Chromosome Segregation	07 97
Cytological Analysis of the Spermatocyte Nuclear Dhanotype	07 QQ
Resulte	00 99
Discussion	00
D19Cu391011	90
CHAPTER V: CONCLUSIONS	. 100

REFERENCES	5	10	2
------------	---	----	---

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Sex and Fourth Chromosome Nondisjunction Frequency from Crosses of yw/y+Y; dtopors; spapol Males to y w sn; C(4)RM ci ey/0 Females	3
Table 2. Gene Products Differentially Ubiquitinated in <i>dtopors</i> 49	9
Table 3. Gene Products Differentially Sumoyalted in <i>dtopors</i> 72	2
Table 4. Results of Fourth Chromosome Nondisjunction from RNAi Knockdown of E2      Ubiquitin Ligase Expression in the Male Germline	)
Table 5. Sex and Fourth Chromosome Disjunctional Data from Crosses of y/y+Y; <i>dtopors</i> ;Df(E2 ligase)/+; spapol Males to y w sn; C(4)RM ci ey/0 Females	3

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Diagram of dTopors' C3HC4 RING Domain Showing Residues Altered in CRISPR/Cas9-Induced Mutations	28
Figure 2. Phase Contrast Images of S5-S6 Spermatocytes and Onion Stage Spermatid Nuclei	29
Figure 3. dTopors and LaminDm0 Localization in Primary Spermatocytes	31
Figure 4. The Effects of <i>dtopor</i> RING Mutants on Autosomal Nondisjunction	35
Figure 5. Anaphase I Defects in Various <i>dtopors</i> Mutants	37
Figure 6. FISH Examination of <i>dtopors</i> <sup>C102A</sup> Nondisjunction in DAPI Stained Spermatocytes	39
Figure 7. The Effects of $dtopors^{C102A}$ on $gypsy$ -Induced $w^{omb}ct^6$ Mutations	42
Figure 8. Gene Ontology for Molecular Function of Differentially Ubiquitinated Targets	44
Figure 9. Gene Ontology for Cellular Components of Differentially Ubiquitinated Targets	47
Figure 10. Gene Ontology for Molecular Function of Targets with Altered Sumoylation	70
Figure 11. Gene Ontology for Cellular Components of Targets with Altered Sumoylation	71
Figure 12. Phase Contrast Images of <i>dtopors</i> <sup>Df(114-118</sup> ); Df(E2)/TM3 Ser Spermatocytes and Onion Stage Spermatid Nuclei	94
Figure 13. Percent Blebbing and Sex and Fourth Chromosome NDJ in <i>dtopors</i> <sup>Df(114-188)</sup> ;Df(E2)/Ser Males	95

### CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

In eukaryotic cells, a protein's fate is regulated by post-translational modifications like ubiquitination and sumoylation. These modifications can affect protein turnover and may even alter the protein's function or its localization pattern. In both processes, a small peptide is covalently conjugated to lysine residues of a target protein via a glycine-lysine isopeptide bond. Although ubiquitination and sumoylation are very similar, involving an E1 activating enzyme, E2 conjugating enzyme and E3 ligases, the outcomes for the target proteins are quite different. In contrast to ubiquitination, which usually marks proteins for degradation, the addition of a SUMO (Small Ubiquitin-like Modifier) group does not lead to protein degradation. Moreover, it may stabilize proteins by competing for lysine residues with ubiquitin (Desterro et al., 1999). To initiate the sumoylation pathway, SUMO proteins need to be activated by means of a C-terminal cleavage of amino acids via SENP (Sentrin/SUMO-specific protease) resulting in an exposed diglycine motif, ready to be conjugate to the lysine residue of a target protein (S.-J. Li & Hochstrasser, 1999). Afterwards sumoylation commences in three steps: first, SUMO is attached to the heterodimeric SUMO E1 activating enzyme (SAE 1/2), then it is passed to an E2 conjugating enzyme (Ubc9), which catalyzes the SUMO transfer to the target protein mediated by an E3 SUMO ligase (Hochstrasser, 2000). Sumoylation is important for multiple cellular processes, including changes in protein localization (RanGAP, Matunis et al., 1996), cellular signaling (HSF1, regulation of heat shock factors, (Hietakangas et al., 2003), chromatin modification of Histones (Shiio & Eisenman, 2003), HATs (Histone Acetyl Transferase) and histone modifiers such as HDACs (Histone Deacetylase) (Girdwood et al., 2003; Kirsh et al., 2002; David et al., 2002), regulation of transcription (for review Gill, 2004) and DNA damage repair (Hardeland et al. 2002). Similar to sumoylation, ubiquitination is also three-step process,

which starts with the ATP-mediated activation of Ub via E1 ubiquitin ligase, followed by conjugation of Ub to an E2 conjugating enzyme, which then complexes with an E3 ligase. The E3 ligase recognizes the substrate and catalyzes the Ub transfer to a lysine residue on the target protein leading to its degradation by the 26S proteosome (Wilkinson et al., 1995). The ubiquitination process may modify ubiquitin itself, resulting in the formation of polyubiquitin chains. Such polyubiquitin modifications usually result in proteolytic degradation of the targeted protein via the 20S proteosome. Other proteins, however, such as p53, may be monoubiquitinated, resulting in alterations to their function. (Grossman et al. 1998). Like sumoylation, ubiquitination alters a variety of targets and regulates multiple cellular processes. some targets may become polyubiquitinated like HDAC1 by IFIXalpha (Yamaguchi et al., 2008) and p53 by the histone acetyltransferase p300 and CBP (CREB-binding protein) (Grossman et al., 1998, 2003; Lill et al., 1997). The processes of ubiquitination and sumoylation are highly conserved from single cell eukaryotes to multicellular plants and animals.

### The Role of Ubiquitination and Sumoylation in Signaling and Cancer

Several E3 ligases have been implicated in various cancers due to their ability to selectively ubiquitinate various targets in cell cycle regulation, signaling and cellular proliferation. The NFkB pathway plays an essential role in for a series of physiological responses including cell cycle regulation through the CDK/CDKi system. The pathway is initiated by phosphorylation (serine 32 and 36) induced activation of IkB (Inhibitors of kappa B) proteins by IKK and their subsequent modification with Ub. Ubiquitination of IkBs leads to their degradation by the proteasome thus allowing NF-kB to enter the nucleus and turn on transcription of oncogenes. Fukushima et al. showed that ubiquitination of the NFkB precursor NFkB2/p100 by SCF(Fbw7), an E3 ubiquitin ligase and tumor suppressor (Welcker et al., 2008),

leads to NFkB degradation by the proteasome, thus regulating oncogene expression (Fukushima et al., 2012). A different study also showed NFkB is also regulation regulated via ubiquitination of another component of a different NFkB activation pathway. IRAK-2 (Interleukin-1 receptor associated kinase-2), an essential component of the TLR (Toll-like receptors) mediated NFkB activation pathway, is involved in TRAF6 (TNF (Tumor Necrosis Factor) Receptor Associated Factor 6)) ubiquitination (Keating et al., 2007). TRAF6, has an amino terminal RING domain and interacts with two E2 conjugating enzymes (UBE2V1/UEV1A and UBE2N/UBC13) to form polyubiquitin chains required for activation of IKK (Keating et al., 2007). Once activated, IKK phosphorylates IkB which triggers IkB ubiquitination and subsequent degradation by the proteosome. This allows NFkB to enter the nucleus and initiate transcription of oncogenes. Studies showed that TRAF6 is overexpressed in a variety of cancers including colon, gastric, breast carcinomas and melanoma (Sun et al., 2014; Han et al., 2016; Shen et al., 2017) and affects cell proliferation, survival, and tumor invasion (Zhang et al., 2018).

SUMO modifications have also been shown to play a role in cancer as a number of cellular proteins implicated in cancer are sumoylated. In HeLa cells, p53, a tumor suppressor and c-Jun, an oncogenic transcription factor are sumoylated *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Müller et al., 2000) and Weger et al., also observed increased levels of Topors-mediated sumoylation of p53 *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Weger et al., 2005). Both c-Jun and p53 are well known targets of ubiquitination, however, they are also regulated by sumoylation at different residues (Müller et al., 2000). Sumoylation of c-Jun negatively regulates its activity, while sumoylation of p53 only impairs its apoptotic activity (Müller et al., 2000). Availability of p53 is also regulated by its degradation via Mdm2, an E3 ligase with RING ubiquitin ligase activity (Haupt et al., 1997). Mdm2 has the capability of self-ubiquitination, and sumoylation interferes with this activity, thus increasing

Mdm2 ubiquitination activity towards p53 (Buschmann et al., 2000, 2001). Sumoylation and ubiquitination may occur on the same residue and may influence protein function and availability as is the case with of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  (nuclear factor of kappa light polypeptide gene enhancer in B-cells inhibitor), where sumoylation antagonizes ubiquitination and protects I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  from degradation (Alarcon-Vargas & Ronai, 2002). I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  functions as an inhibitor of NF- $\kappa$ B, thus preventing NFkB from turning on transcription of oncogenes.

### **Regulation of the Nuclear Lamina by Ubiquitination and Sumoylation**

Ubiquitination plays an essential role at the nuclear lamina, a meshwork of filamentous proteins providing structural integrity to the nucleus and is essential for chromatin organization, DNA replication and gene expression (Bridger et al., 2007; Dechat et al., 2007; Dorner et al., 2007). Interactions between chromatin and the nuclear lamina are also thought to be important for chromosome behavior in many organisms (Bähler et al., 1993; Chikashige et al., 1997; Cooper et al., 1998; Nimmo et al., 1998; MacQueen et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2009; Wynne et al., 2012; Ding et al., 2007; Horn et al., 2013; Link et al., 2013; Morimoto et al., 2012; Schmitt et al., 2007) including flies (Cenci et al., 1994). In humans, several components of the lamina (pRb, LAP2a, lamin B1,lamin A, and Emerin) are ubiquitinated by the E3 RING domain ligase RNF 123 (Khanna et al., 2018). Sumoylation also plays an important role at the nuclear lamina by regulating the assembly of nuclear pore complex, a major transporter conduit between the nucleus and the cytoplasma (Folz et al., 2019). The nucleoporin RanBP2/Nup358 is a SUMO1 E3 Ligase and sumoylates SP100, a major component of the PML (promyelocytic leukemia) bodies (Sternsdorf et al., 1999).

Lamins (A, B and C) are intermediate filament proteins that provide structural stability to the nucleus. Lamin A function and localization is also regulated by SUMO modification (Y.

Li et al., 2019; Y.-Q. Zhang & Sarge, 2008). Lamin A interacts with several other nuclear proteins including DNA binding protein complexes like the highly conserved essential protein BAF (barrier-to-autointegration factor) and nucleoporins. When sumoylated, BAF binds to Lamin A filaments, which hold nuclear pore complexes in place, and to LEM-domain proteins, thus supporting nuclear integrity (Q. Lin et al., 2020).

Numerous mutations in genes encoding lamina proteins have been identified and cause a class of diseases known as laminopathies. Hutchinson-Gilford Progeria Syndrome (HGPS) is perhaps the most profound example. HGPS is a premature aging disorder caused by a rare *de novo* single base substitution in the *lamin A* gene, which codes for both Lamin A and C proteins (B. Liu et al., 2005). In HGPS, the nuclear lamina is destabilized leading to nuclear dysmorphology in the form of blebs (Eriksson et al., 2003), and is also associated with mitotic chromosome segregation defects (Eisch et al., 2016). It is possible that a distorted nuclear morphology and chromosomal damage may impact chromosome segregation, however, the exact mechanism how this may occur is still unclear.

Interestingly, mutations in two different genes encoding lamina proteins in the fruit fly cause somewhat similar phenotypes. Mutants in the nucleoporin-encoding gene *rae 1* (*ribonucleic acid export 1*) and in *dtopors* (*Drosophila Topoisomerase I-interacting Arginine Serine rich protein*), display both chromosome segregation errors and nuclear blebbing in the male germline (Matsui et al., 2011; Volpi et al., 2013). In male flies associations between the nuclear lamina and chromatin appear to be particularly important for meiotic chromosome behavior (Cenci et al., 1994), but the precise relationship between lamina disruption and chromosome segregation errors is not known. To investigate a potential relationship between

nuclear structure and chromosome segregation, I will focus on the role of one of these genes, *dtopors*.

### **TOPORS is a Dual E3 Ubiquitin SUMO-1 Ligase**

*TOPORS* was first identified in human as an *in vitro* interaction partner of Topoisomerase I (Haluska, 1999a) and *in vivo* of p53 (p53BP3, (Zhou et al., 1999)) and as LUN, expressed in lung cells (Chu et al., 2001). Topors was the first protein identified as a dual E3 ubiquitin and SUMO-1 ligase (Rajendra et al., 2004; Weger et al., 2005) and is expressed in both soma and germline (Chu et al., 2001). Topors is a conserved protein, containing an amino-terminal RING (Really Interesting New Gene) domain, bipartite nuclear localization sequences (NLS), an arginine/serine rich (RS) region, and numerous PEST domains (P (proline), E (glutamate), S (serine), and T (threonine)) for degradation (Chu et al., 2001; Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004; Zhou et al., 1999). The RING domain has been shown to be required for DNA-binding and ubiquitin ligase activity (Rajendra et al., 2004) but is not necessary for sumoylating activity (Desterro et al., 1999).

It has been shown that Topors can modify itself, and such modification can influence its own activities. Human Topors can sumoylate targets and can also be a sumoylation target itself at specific lysine residues (Weger et al., 2003). Furthermore, phosphorylation of Topors' serine 98 residue eliminates ubiquitin ligase activity but does not affect sumoylating activity (Park et al., 2008), while phosphorylation of serine 718 residue on Topors by PLK-1 (Polo-like Kinase 1) has been linked to p53 degradation by downregulating p53 sumoylation and inducing p53 ubiquitination (Yang et al., 2009). These observations suggest that the dual enzymatic activity of Topors may be a binary switch function regulated by post-translational modification.

### **TOPORS is Involved in DNA Damage Response Pathways**

In HeLa cells, Topors has been shown to localize to PML-NBs (Promyelocytic Leukemia Nuclear Bodies), multiprotein complexes linked to transcription regulation (Zhong et al., 2000), cell growth (Fagioli et al., 1998), DNA damage (Carbone et al., 2002) and apoptosis (Wang et al., 1998) via PML protein (tumor suppressor, required for PML-NB assembly) binding (Rasheed et al., 2002). The size and number of PML-NBs have been observed to increase in response to double strand breaks (Dellaire et al., 2006). Topors involvement in different aspects of the DNA damage response is evidenced by its dual ligase activity of sumoylating or ubiquitinating unrelated targets in different DNA damage-sensing and repair pathways. Topors was shown to colocalize and sumoylate IKKe (Inhibitor of Kapp-B Kinase epsilon, regulates antiviral signaling pathways including NF-KappaB) in PML-NBs (Renner et al., 2010). A Topors sumovlated IKKe is linked to the phosphorylation of NF-KappaB and p65, thus, plays a role in the anti-apoptotic pathway initiated by DNA damage response (Renner et al., 2010). The first response to DNA damage in form of double strand breaks (DSBs) is hyperphosphorylation of the Histone 2 variant, H2AX at Serine 139 residue (γ-H2AX) (Pan et al., 2011; Rogakou et al., 1998). y-H2AX is thought to anchor broken chromosomes to a large complex of proteins, which then recruit the DNA damage repair machinery (Stucki et al., 2005). Ubiquitination of H2AX is a prerequisite for its phosphorylation and thus for the start of DNA repair (Doil et al., 2009; Pan et al., 2011). H2Ax is ubiquitinated (mono-, di-, tri-ubiquitinated) in vitro by Topors and this ubiquitination leads to the phosphorylation-mediated activation of H2AK (Giannattasio et al., 2005; Hung, n.d.; G. Liu et al., 2021; Zheng & Petes, 2018).

### **TOPORS is Implicated in Various Cancers**

The complexity of Topors enzymatic activity is not yet fully understood but multiple lines of evidence suggest involvement in cell cycle regulation and in cancers. Interestingly, the expression level of Topors is increased in some cancers and decreased in others, suggesting it may function in a tissue-specific manner. In colon adenocarcinomas, the CpG islands in *topors* promoter appear hypermethylated and *topors* expression is downregulated (Saleem et al., 2004). Alternatively, when upregulated, *topors* halts the cell cycle, trapping cells in G0/G1 phase, suggesting a possible role as a tumor suppressor (Saleem et al., 2004). In non-small cell lung cancer, topors mRNA levels were significantly decreased and showed correlation with less favorable cancer progression (Oyanagi et al., 2004). In prostate cancer, Topors is overexpressed and ubiquitinates the tumor suppressor NKX3-1 for proteasomal degradation (Guan et al., 2008), while in ovarian cancer elevated levels of TOPORS-AS1 (lncRNA TOPORS Antisense RNA1) in the early stages of the disease corresponded to decreased levels of  $\beta$ -catenin and disruption of Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway (Fu et al., 2021). High TOPORS-AS1 levels correlated to more favorable disease outcome, as TOPORS-AS1 suppressed cell proliferation and metastasis, while TOPORS-AS1 expression levels were low in more progressed stages. Around half of human cancers harbor mutations in p53, a tumor suppressor gene (Levine, 1994). Expressed among many species, p53 is pivotal in regulating the cell cycle at the G1/S checkpoint, activating DNA repair genes, and initiating apoptosis in case of extensive DNA damage. In HeLa cells, Weger et al., observed increased levels of Topors-mediated sumoylation of p53 in vitro and in vivo (Weger et al., 2005), and in mice, mTopors was shown to be a coactivator and stabilizer of p53 and to enhance the p53-mediated expression of p21 (cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, regulates cell cycle at G1/S), of MDM2 (Mouse double minute 2, E3 ubiquitin ligase and negative regulator of

p53), and Bax (Bcl-2-associated X protein, p53 mediated apoptosis) (L. Lin et al., 2005). Topors expression is inducible by the anticancer drugs camptothecin (topoisomerase 1 inhibitor) and cisplastin and its overexpression causes cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (Lin et al. 2005). Embryonic fibroblasts of Topors knock-out mice have increased chromosomal segregation defects and genetic instability resulting in a 7-fold increase in tumor development and malignancies in different tissues (Marshall et al., 2010).

### The Pleiotropic Effects of TOPORS

Another curious aspect of Topors is its localization pattern in distinct cells of different tissues. In humans Topors was observed in PML bodies (Weger et al., 2003; Zhong et al., 2000) but was not observed at the lamina (Rasheed et al., 2002; Weger et al., 2003), yet plays a role in chromosome segregation (Marshall et al., 2010). In the eye retinal photoreceptor cells, Topors localizes to the connecting cilium junction of the photoreceptor inner and outer segments, while in the retinal ganglia cells it is either aggregated into punctate spots in the nuclei or is associated with the centrosomes during cell division (Chakarova et al., 2011). Mutations in Topors have been associated with retinitis pigmentosa (adRP) perivascular retinal pigment epithelium atrophy, an autosomal dominant disorder resulting in night blindness and eventually vision loss (Bowne et al., 2008; Chakarova et al., 2011) and recently with syndromic ciliopathy, an oralfacial-digital syndrome causing abnormal oral cavity (Strong et al., 2021). In flies, dTopors localizes to the nuclear lamina in both somatic (Capelson & Corces, 2005) and male germ cells and *dtopors* mutants exhibit chromosome segregation defects and nuclear blebbing only in male germline (Matsui et al., 2011). These tissue-specific phenotypes, localization patterns and functions in Topors and homologs might all reflect a pleiotropic role of Topors in regulating numerous pathways, that may or may not be otherwise related. Therefore, it will be important to

identify the downstream targets of both ubiquitin and SUMO - modification by Topors as modification of different targets may be independently associated with the different phenotypes.

### Conservation of dTopors' Role in Drosophila

*Drosophila melanogaster* is a great model organism to study the diverse functions of this conserved protein because of the many similarities that exist between hTopors and dTopors (the fly homolog of hTopors), including the enzymatically active RING domain (Haluska, 1999a; Rasheed et al., 2002; Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). dTopors is an interaction partner of Hairy, a transcriptional repressor required for segmental patterning during early embryonic development (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). dTopors polyubiquitinates Hairy, and like hTopors also interacts with Topoisomerase I (Top I) and p53 (Dmp53) *in vitro*. Unlike mammalian Topors, however, it does not ubiquitinate Dmp53 (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). Despite the structural similarities between hTopors and dTopors, their localizations differ.

Not all aspects of Topors function may be conserved, however. In flies dTopors colocalizes with Lamin Dm0 and Lamin C in both mitotic and meiotic cells (Capelson & Corces, 2005; Matsui et al., 2011), while multiple studies of mammalian Topors localization in mitotic cells failed to detect it at the nuclear lamina (Haluska, 1999a; Rasheed et al., 2002; Weger et al., 2003).

In somatic cells, dTopors colocalizes with components of the *gypsy* insulator complex (gene regulatory elements involved in the establishment of independent chromatin domains) and is required for proper insulator function. None of the other known insulator components, however, are ubiquitinated by dTopors (Capelson & Corces, 2005). Mutations in LaminDm0 disrupt *gypsy* insulator function and interfere with dTopors localization to the nuclear lamina (Capelson & Corces, 2005). No direct role of dTopors in sumoylation has been demonstrated,

although there is evidence of an indirect one. Levels of sumolyation of several insulator complex proteins are decreased by dTopors in *in vitro* sumolyation assays (Capelson & Corces, 2006).

Mutations in *dtopors* that affect meiotic chromosome transmission were first identified as part of a large screen for male chromosome loss mutants by Wakimoto et al., 2004 and were further characterized by Matsui et al., 2011. In spermatocytes, dTopors localizes to the nuclear lamina and accumulates in punctate spots that may be analogous to PML bodies in mammals. (Matsui et al., 2011). In *dtopors* homozygous deletion, both Lamin Dm0 and Lamin C Lamin localization to the lamina is disrupted and the nuclei bleb (Matsui et al., 2011). Moreover, both Lamin Dm0 and Lamin C are distributed within the nucleus but in a somewhat different pattern. While Lamin C appears to accumulate on large intranuclear spots, Lamin Dm0 is distributed more evenly in the nucleus (Matsui et al., 2011). In addition to the nuclear blebbing phenotype, dtopors mutants also display a multiplicity of meiotic defects including failure of proper centriole separation, chromatin condensation defects, Anaphase I bridges/lagging chromosomes and chromosome nondisjunction (NDJ) resulting in an euploid gametes (Matsui et al., 2011). It is unknown however, if the nuclear blebbing and meiotic defects are independent phenotypes. Since chromosomes occupy distinct domains at the nuclear lamina at prophase, would perturbance of the laminar structure influence chromosome segregation during meiosis or are these two distinct events? Does dTopors play a structural or an enzymatic role to preserve intact lamina structure and proper chromosome segregation in male meiosis? What type of enzymatic activity is needed for lamina structure and for chromosome segregation, is it ubiquitination or sumoylation, or are there different requirements and different targets for each?

# CHAPTER II: NUCLEAR LAMINA STRUCTURE AND CHROMOSOME SEGREGATION HAVE DIFFERENT REQUIREMENTS FOR DTOPORS-MEDIATED UBIQUITINATION IN THE GERM LINE OF MALE *DROSOPHILA MELANOGASTER*

### Introduction

The nuclear lamina is a meshwork of filamentous proteins providing structural integrity to the nucleus and is essential for chromatin organization, DNA replication and gene expression (Bridger et al., 2007; Dechat et al., 2007; Dorner et al., 2007). Alterations in lamina/chromosome interactions underlie defects in chromosome behavior in humans. Mutations in genes encoding lamina proteins cause a class of diseases known as laminopathies, with Hutchinson-Gilford Progeria Syndrome (HGPS), being the most profound case. HGPS is a premature aging disorder caused by a rare *de novo* single base substitution in the *lamin A* gene, which codes for both Lamin A and C proteins (Eriksson et al., 2003). In HGPS, the nuclear lamina is destabilized, leading to nuclear dysmorphology in the form of blebs (Eriksson et al., 2003) and is also associated with chromosome segregation defects (Eisch et al., 2016). The precise relationship between distorted nuclear morphology and chromosome segregation, however, is unclear.

Interactions between chromosomes and the nuclear lamina are also observed during meiosis in many species including in plants (Bähler et al., 1993), the nematode roundworm Caenorhabditis *elegans* (MacQueen et al., 2005; Sato et al., 2009; Wynne et al., 2012), mouse (Ding et al., 2007; Horn et al., 2013; Link et al., 2013; Morimoto et al., 2012; Schmitt et al., 2007), and in male *Drosophila melanogaster* (Cenci et al., 1994). In other organisms, such as the fission yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, which lacks Lamins, interactions between chromosomes and structures associated with the nuclear envelope (Chikashige, 1997.; Cooper et

al., 1998; Nimmo, 1998.) may be analogous to lamina interactions. Numerous observations underlie the importance of these interactions in respect to meiotic chromosome behavior. In many plant species, meiotic chromosomes exhibit bouquet formation (Thomas & Kaltsikes, 1976), having their telomeres anchored to an attachment plaque at the inner nuclear membrane (Zickler & Kleckner, 1998). Bouquet formation may facilitate homolog pairing by limiting the homology search to two rather than three dimensions, thus limiting homolog interactions to a small area of the nucleus (Bähler et al., 1993).

*Caenorhabditis elegans* a conserved LINC complex makes connections across the nuclear lamina and envelope between chromosomes to cytoskeletal actin, and is important for meiotic chromosome movement (Sato et al., 2009). Chromosomal sequences called pairing centers (Phillips et al., 2005) connect chromosomes via zinc finger proteins to a lamina-associated KASH/SUN-domain protein complex (Klarsicht/ANC-1/Syne/ homology; meiosis specific, Sad-1/UNC-84) the LINC complex) across the nuclear envelope to the cytoskeleton (Sato et al., 2009). Actin-dynein forces are transmitted through the lamina mediate movement of the chromosomes and are believed to help stabilize proper homolog pairing while shaking lose potential weaker unfitting heterologous associations.

This complex is highly conserved and is also observed in mouse germ cells, where the telomeric protein KASH5, connects across the nuclear membrane with the telomere-associated SUN1 protein and this complex interacts with the microtubule-associated dynein-dynactin complex resulting in meiotic chromosome movement (Morimoto et al., 2012). The nuclear lamina, a dense mesh-like structure made of Type-V intermediate filaments that provides stability to the nucleus, is located on the inner side of the nuclear membrane (Paouneskou & Jantsch, 2019). It provides regions for chromatin attachment (<u>Gruenbaum & Foisner, 2015</u>) and

interacts with components of the nuclear envelope (i.e., SUN1, nucleoporins, and LEM (LAP2, Emerin, MAN1) domain proteins) (Cohen-Fix & Askjaer, 2017).

Even though *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* does not have Lamins, the connection between chromosomes and nuclear structure is still important. Dramatic meiotic chromosomes movements are mediated by attachment across the nuclear membrane to the SPB (Spindle Pole Body, a microtubule organizing center in yeast connected to the nuclear envelope, like centrosomes). During interphase, the chromosomes are gathered next to the SPB, and their centromeres clumped into a cluster (Chikashige et al., 1997). During meiotic prophase, the telomeres attach to the SPB, and the centromeres subsequently separate from it (horsetail stage). Chromosomes remain attached through their telomeres while the entire nucleus is drawn between cell poles by the SPB (Ding et al., 1998).

A particularly interesting system to study the connection between meiotic chromosomes and nuclear structure is in the Drosophila male, where paired meiotic chromosomes appear to be intimately associated with the nuclear periphery (Cenci et al., 1994), suggesting a possible role for the lamina in regulating chromosome behavior in this organism as well. By mid-prophase in this organism, paired bivalents have moved into discreet nuclear territories at the nuclear periphery and remain in these separate domains until prometaphase. While associated with the lamina, they undergo an unusual "unpairing" of both homologs and sister chromatids. These observations were made in live spermatocytes using chromosomes tagged with a GFP-tagged Lac repressor (GFP-Lac I)/Lac-operator (LacO) system at 14 different euchromatic loci. Homologs pair and remain associated through euchromatic interactions in early prophase (Vazquez et al., 2002). However, in older Stage 3 (S3) spermatocytes, chromosomes associations between LacO sites on both homologs and sister simultaneously separate (Vazquez et al., 2002). The formation of these territories in prophase of S3 (S3 is mid-prophase) spermatocytes separates bivalents into physically distinct domains, and may provide a sorting mechanism to disrupt non-homologous chromosome associations (Vazquez et al., 2002). The fact that these territories are located at the nuclear lamina suggest that a) interactions between the chromosomes and the lamina are important for territory formation and b) chromosomes may be attached to sites on the nuclear lamina to facilitate bivalent associations (Vazquez et al., 2002), although the specific nature of this relationship is not well understood.

Although the formation of these lamina-adjacent domains suggests their importance to subsequent meiotic chromosome segregation, it is unknown if chromosome segregation defects would result if they were disrupted. The chromatin-binding protein Dany (distal antenna-young, involved in regulation of transcription in spermatogenesis) disrupts the formation of these domains, however, *dany* mutants also affect transcription, and completely disrupt meiosis prior to anaphase (Trost et al., 2016). Recently it was demonstrated that mutants in the condensin complex component CapH also disrupt domain formation, and these mutants result in chromosome segregation defects. However, these segregation errors may reflect a role of CapH mutants in resolving centromere associations early in prophase, rather than the result of domain disruption *per se*. Prior to domain formation in early prophase, clustering between all centromeres is observed, and these associations are normally resolved as domains form. In *capH* mutants, however, centromeres fail to separate and lead to anaphase I bridges (Vernizzi & Lehner, 2021).

Interestingly, mutations in two different genes encoding lamina proteins cause lamina disruptions, and result in meiotic chromosome segregation errors as well. Mutants in the nucleoporin *Rae 1 (Ribonucleic acid export 1)* and in *dtopors (Drosophila Topoisomerase I-*

*interacting Arginine Serine rich protein*), display both nuclear herniations and chromosome segregation errors in the male germ line (Matsui et al., 2011; Volpi et al., 2013). To investigate a potential relationship between nuclear structure and chromosome segregation, I will focus on the role of one of these genes, *dtopors*.

### dTopors Role in Drosophila Soma and Male Germline

Mutations in *dtopors* that affect meiotic chromosome transmission were first identified from a screen for male chromosome loss mutants by Wakimoto et al., 2004 and were further characterized by Matsui et al., 2011. dTopors had been previously identified as a ubiquitin ligase that regulates proteosome-mediated degradation of Hairy, a transcriptional repressor required for segmental patterning during early embryonic development (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004).

dTopors shares structural similarities with hTopors including the conserved RING (Really Interesting New gene) domain, an RS (arginine-serine rich) region, NLS (nuclear localization signal), several PEST ((proline (P), glutamic acid (E), serine (S), and threonine (T) rich sequences)) sequences and a consensus sequence unique to Topors homologs, but there is only limited sequence homology outside of the RING domain (Haluska, 1999a; Matsui et al., 2011; Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004; Zhou et al., 1999).

Despite these structural similarities between hTopors and dTopors, protein localization is very different. In humans, Topors is not observed at the lamina (Rasheed et al., 2002; Weger et al., 2003), yet it also plays a role in chromosome segregation (Marshall et al., 2010). A TOPORS mouse knockout shows chromosomes segregation defects, but no nuclear deformations (Marshall et al., 2010).

dTopors colocalizes with Lamin Dm0 and Lamin C in mitotic cells and meiotic spermatocytes (Capelson & Corces, 2005; Matsui et al., 2011) and *dtopors* mutants display

nuclear herniations in spermatocytes and meiotic chromosome segregation defects (Matsui et al., 2011). In somatic cells, dTopors also colocalizes with components of the *gypsy* insulator complex (gene regulatory elements involved in the establishment of independent chromatin domains) and is required for proper insulator function, however none of the insulator components are ubiquitinated by dTopors (Capelson & Corces, 2005).

In spermatocytes dTopors was observed to localize to the nuclear lamina and to accumulate in punctate intranuclear spots (Matsui et al., 2011), however in a *dtopors* deletion dTopors localization to the lamina is disrupted and the nuclei bleb (Matsui et al., 2011).

Lamin Dm0 and Lamin C still localize to the spermatocyte nuclear lamina in a *dtopors* mutant, however, there is also an abnormal accumulation of these Lamins in the nucleoplasm (Matsui et al., 2011). In addition to the nuclear blebbing phenotype, *dtopors* mutants also display a multiplicity of meiotic defects including failure of proper centriole separation, chromatin condensation defects, Anaphase I bridges/lagging chromosomes and chromosome NDJ resulting in aneuploid gametes (Matsui et al., 2011).

It is unclear if the effects on chromosome segregation are related to lamina disruption, or if they reflect Topors regulation of components of separable pathways. Since chromosomes occupy distinct domains at the nuclear lamina at Prometaphase, would perturbance of the laminar structure influence chromosome segregation during meiosis or are these two distinct events? In this context, there does not seem to be a gross change in the formation of nuclear domains. Does dTopors play a structural or an enzymatic role to preserve intact lamina structure and proper chromosome segregation in male meiosis? What type of enzymatic activity is needed for lamina structure and for chromosome segregation? Is it ubiquitination or sumoylation or are there different requirements and different targets for either case?

### Aim of Study

To investigate the relationship between nuclear structure and chromosome segregation, and the role of dTopors-mediated ubiquitination in each, I created a separation-of-function ubiquitin null allele of *dtopors*. The RING domain of human Topors is required for Topors' ubiquitin ligase activity (Rajendra et al., 2004) but not for sumoylation activity (Weger et al., 2003). I used CRISPR-directed mutagenesis to alter conserved residues in the RING domain, and then assayed the effects of these mutations on nuclear structure and meiotic chromosome segregation. I then used these mutations in combination with tandem mass spectrometry to identify potential targets of Topors ubiquitination that may be associated with each phenotype.

To expand the understanding of the differential enzymatic activities of dTopors, direct targets of dTopors need to be identified and dTopors effects on the activities of these substrates characterized. Previous research revealed that many targets of hTopors sumoylation are involved in chromatin modification and transcriptional regulation ((i.e., Sin3A (switch independent 3) and SAF-B2 (Scafold Attachement Factor-B2)) (Pungaliya et al., 2007) and in cell cycle regulation (p53, Weger et al., 2005) and TopI, Hammer et al., 2007). While sumoylating activities of hTopors were described in more detail little is known about its ubiquitination activities and targets. Based on the dual ligase activity of dTopors, it is possible that dTopors regulates the same targets alternatively by ubiquitination and sumoylation, or perhaps the two functions have entirely separate targets. Here, I present evidence that the nuclear structure and chromosome segregation are two independent phenotypes, potentially requiring different thresholds of ubiquitination by dTopors. Furthermore, I also identified possible targets of dTopors ubiquitination in the male germline by proteomic analysis.

### **Materials and Methods**

### Drosophila Stocks and Crosses

*Drosophila melanogaster* were reared at room temperature on a standard diet of cornmeal, molasses, agar, and yeast with propionic acid and tegosept added to prevent mold. The *Df(dtopors<sup>AA</sup>)* allele was provided by Susan Parkhurst. All other stocks were obtained from Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center at Indiana University (NIH P400D018537) and are described on Flybase (http://flybase.bio.indiana.edu).

### **CRISPR-Directed Editing of dTopors RING Domain**

**Plasmid Preparation and gRNA Cloning.** In two separate experiments I used CRISPR directed mutagenesis to introduce point mutations at different sites on exon 1 encoding the dTopors RING domain. I aimed to replace a cysteine with a serine at position 118 (C118S) and a cysteine with an alanine at position 102 (C102A). To accomplish this, I designed guide RNAs (gRNA) using primer sets to synthesize the gRNA (5'TGCACTGCAGGAGGAAGTGCTTCA 3' and 5'AAACTGAAGCACTTCCTCCTGCAG 3' for C118S;

5'TGCACCTGCAGCGGGACAAGCAGA 3' and 5' AAACTCTGCTTGTCCCGCTGCAGG 3' for C102A). The gRNAs were cloned into a commercially available multiplex gRNA plasmid pCFD5 (Addgene) which expressed the gRNA under the control of the strong, ubiquitous RNA polymerase III promoter, U6:3 (crisprflydesign.org). Recombinant plasmids were verified by sequencing (MWG Eurofins).

Single Stranded Template Design for Homology Directed Repair (HDR). Template strands were designed for HDR for each clone. For the C118S substitution the template strand 5'TCCGCCGCGGAGGAGGAACGGAACAGTAGAGCGCAACTCGCCGCCGCCCAATT GCGCCATCTGCTTGTCCCGCTGCAGGAGGAAGTGCTTCACGGACAGC<u>AGT</u>ATGCAC CAGTTCTGCTTCAAGTGCCTGTGCGAGTGGAGCAAGATAAAGCCCGAGTGTCCACTG TGTAAGCAGCCCTTCAGAACCATCATACACAATGT 3' was designed to replace the nucleotides TGC (exon 1 at bp 352-354) with AGT (bold underlined). For the C102A substitution TGC (exon 1 at bp 313-315) was replaced with GCC (bold underlined) in the template

Embryonic Injections and Verification of RING Mutants. The recombinant plasmid and the template were commercially injected (GenetiVision) into y[1] M{w[+mC]=nos-Cas9.P}ZH-2A w[\*] (BDSC54591) embryos for C118S and y1 M{Act5C-Cas9.P.RFP-}ZH-2A w1118 DNAlig4169 (BDSC58492) embryos for C102A. The latter strain contains a mutation in DNA ligase to increase the frequency of insertions at the repair junction during homology directed repair (HDR) (Yu & McVey, 2010) and to increase ratio of HDR to non-homologous end joining (Beumer et al., 2008) after Cas9-induced DNA break. Germline transformants were identified and homozygous stocks were established for each G1 offspring due to the possibility of parental germline mosaicism. Genomic DNA was extracted from males in each line using a single fly DNA extraction protocol <u>(Gloor et al. 1993)</u>. The presence of the desired CRISPRinduced change was first verified by PCR with primers 5'GGATAATGCCAACGCCATCG 3'and 5'CTGGTACCACGCCTCACAATGTGGTAACG 3' and then by restriction enzyme (RE) digest with NspI (New England Biolabs), as the mutant template did not contain the restriction site (R-CATG-Y) for NspI. The presence of the C102A alteration was verified by PCR with primers 5'GAGGAGAACGGAACAGTA 3' and 5'CTTGAAGCAGAACTGGTG 3' and by RE digest with PVU I (CGAT\*CG, a site not found in the wildtype). Positive lines identified by the RE digests were subsequently confirmed by sequencing (Eurofins Genomics).

### Genetic Assays of Meiotic Chromosome Segregation

Crosses were set up between y w sn; C(4)ciey females and yw/y+Y; spa males either homozygous or heterozygous for the following *dtopors* alleles recovered for the CRISPR- based mutagenesis:  $Df(dtopors^{114-118})$  (from here on Df(114-118)),  $dtopors^{C102A}$  (C102A), and dtopors<sup>fsF114SX19</sup> (FS) to monitor sex and fourth chromosome NDJ. Normal progeny consisted of y+w males and y w females, while progeny arising from sex chromosome NDJ were detected as either y w sn males (nullo-XY, which received no paternal sex chromosome) or as y + w females (diplo-XY, which received both paternal X and Y chromosomes). Fourth chromosome NDJ was detected as *spa* progeny produced from *diplo-4* sperm or *ci ey* progeny from *nullo-4* sperm. To test for NDJ of the major autosomes, crosses were set up between males homozygous or heterozygous for *dtopors* and females with *Compound 2* (C(2)EN cu sp) chromosomes, where chromosome 2 homologs are attached to the same centromere resulting in the production of either nullo-2 or diplo-2 eggs. Since major autosome aneuploidy is lethal, the only viable offspring of these females result from aneuploid sperm produced from NDJ events. I counted embryo hatch rates first and then the number of progenies per male for homozygous *dtopors* males versus their heterozygous siblings to assess frequencies of chromosome 2 NDJ.

### Quantitative Assessment of the Spermatocyte Nuclear Phenotype

Testes of 1-day old homozygous *C102A*, *Df*(*C114-118*), *Df*(*dtopors*<sup>AA</sup>) and *wildtype*(+) adults were dissected and one testis pair per slide was mounted under a coverslip in 3  $\mu$ l of Schneider's tissue culture medium. The tissue was immediately observed Nikon Eclipse E600 phase microscope and images were taken with a Moticam X<sup>3</sup> WiFi color camera (Motic Scientific). For each image, the number of S5-S6 spermatocytes with and without nuclear herniation (blebbing) was recorded. Images were collected from at least 12 individual males and at least 850 cells were assessed per genotype.

#### Fluorescent In Situ Hybridization

Testes were dissected in Schneider's Drosophila medium (GIBCO BRL, Gaithersburg, MD) and were placed in a small drop of Schneider's medium on a silanized coverslip, were opened with a thin needle and carefully squashed onto a Poly-L-Lysine coated slide (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, PA). The slides were briefly submerged in liquid nitrogen and the coverslips were subsequently removed. The testes were fixed in a 55% methanol/25% acetic acid solution for 10 min, then dehydrated for 10 minutes in 95% ethanol.

**FISH Preparation.** A modified protocol of Beliveau et al. (2014) was used. The slides were rehydrated for 10 min at room temperature in 2X SSCT (saline sodium citrate/Tween 20) and then incubated in 50% formamide/2X SSCT for 2.5 min at 92°C followed by 60°C for 20 min. To remove Formamide residue, slides were rinsed in 2X SSCT for 5 min and then air dried. 5  $\mu$ l of a probe master mix containing 12.5  $\mu$ l hybrid cocktail (50% dextran sulfate, 20X SSCT), 12.5  $\mu$ l formamide, 1  $\mu$ l of 10 mg/ml RNase, 2  $\mu$ l of probe 1 (5 pmol/ $\mu$ l), and 2  $\mu$ l of probe 2 (5 pmol/ $\mu$ l) was added onto a silanized 18x18 mm coverslip which was carefully mounted onto the tissue slide and sealed with Elmer's rubber cement. The slides were placed on a heat block for

2.5 min at 92°C and were transferred to a moist chamber for overnight (>18 hours) incubation at 42°C. At the end of the incubation period, unbound probes were washed off first with 2X SSCT for 20 min at 60°C, then with 2X SSCT for 10 minutes at room temperature, and lastly with 0.2X SSC (saline sodium citrate) for 10 min at room temperature. Chromosomes were stained for 2 min with 1X DAPI (1  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO), excess stain was rinsed off in 0.2X SSC. Slide was mounted in 11 $\mu$ l ProLong Gold antifade (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and the signals were visualized with a Keyence BZ-X700 Fluorescence Microscope. Meiocytes were selected in early – late anaphase of meiosis I, and signals in were evaluated based on their presence or absence in chromosome bridges and/or trailing chromosomes in Anaphase 1.

**Probe Design.** The probes were designed as described by Hylton et al., (2020). Probe Design pools were generated to selected sequences at a density of 10 probes/Kb and a complexity of ~10,000 probes per pool (Arbor Biosciences, Ann Arbor, MI). For chromosome 2, a triple-labeled Atto-488 probe was generated to bp 20368577-21368577 (56F-57F) and for the Y chromosome, an Atto-488 probe (Eurofins MWG Operon, Louisville, KY) was synthesized to the Y-specific AATAC heterochromatic repeat (Lohe and Brutlag 1987). For the X chromosome, a triple-labeled Atto-594 oligonucleotide probes were made to X salivary gland chromosome bands 2E1-3E4, bp 2606837-3606837; 12A4-12F4, bp 13824004-14826069; and 16F7-18A7, bp 18193946-19193592.

### Assessment of Anaphase Defects

Testes squashes of heterozygous control and of homozygous *C102A* and *FS* adults were dissected in Schneider's tissue culture medium and gently squashed under silanized coverslips. The slides were frozen in liquid nitrogen, the coverslips were instantly removed, and the tissue

was fixed in cold methanol for 10 minutes. Chromosomes were stained with 1X DAPI and the slides were mounted in 50% glycerol. The signals were visualized with a Keyence BZ-X700 Fluorescence Microscope. For each line a minimum of 100 meiosis I cells from at least 5 males were assessed at anaphase-telophase transition for chromosome bridges and lagging chromosomes.

### Indirect Immunofluorescence

Testes of homozygous *C102*, *Df114-118*, and dtopors<sup>05115</sup> mutants were dissected in Schneider's tissue culture medium and fixed as described above. After fixation, slides were rehydrated in 1X PBS for 5 minutes 3 times. Primary antibodies were applied in the following dilutions in 1X PBST (PBS with 0.1% TritonX): rabbit anti-dTopors 1:20 (Capelson & Corces, 2005) and mouse anti-Lamin Dm0 (ADL67.10) 1:100 (Iowa Hybridoma Bank). The slides were incubated in a humid chamber at 4<sup>0</sup>C overnight. Primary antibodies were removed with 3 X 5 min washes in 1X PBS. Secondary antibodies of Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-mouse (Molecular Probes) and Alexa Fluor 546 goat anti-rabbit (Molecular Probes) were applied in a dilution of 1:1000 in 1X PBST + 3% BSA (bovine serum albumin, Fisher Scientific). Secondary incubation was 2 hours at room temperature (rt), followed by a 3X 5 min washes in 1X PBS. Slides were stained for 2 min with 1X DAPI, briefly rinsed in 1X PBS and mounted in 50% glycerol. The signals were visualized with a Keyence BZ-X700 Fluorescence Microscope.

### Mass Spectrometry

**Tissue Preparation.** For each mass spectrometry analysis two thousand pairs of testes of 1-3 Day old males of either  $yw/y^+Y$ ;  $spa^{pol}$  and  $yw/y^+Y$ ;  $dtopors^{C102A}$ ;  $spa^{pol}$  genotypes were collected in Schneider's Drosophila medium (GIBCO BRL, Gaithersburg, MD). Testes were centrifuged at 1700 rpm for 2 minutes, Schneiders was removed, and testes were gently washed

in 200µl 1X PBS (Phosphate Buffer Saline pH 7.4). The centrifugation was repeated, and the PBS was removed. An Inhibitor Cocktail (IC, 0.1 mM MG132, 80 mM NEM and 0.4 mM IAA (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO), and 0.1 M Halt 100X to final concentration of 1X (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL) was added in amounts of 1 µl per 2 pair of testes. The tissues were sonicated in short 20 second intervals for a total of 10 repeats and a standard Bradford assay was done to quantitate protein concentrations (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL).

Mass spectrometry analysis was performed by Creative Proteomics, Shirley, NY. Briefly, the samples were digested by Lys-C followed by trypsin. The resulted diglycine remnant containing peptides were enriched through Anti-Ubiquitin Remnant Motif (K- $\epsilon$ -GG) Antibody conjugated agarose beads and then identified by applying a nano-LC-MS/MS platform.

**Protein Preparation.** Disulfide bridges were reduced by 10 mM Tris(2-carboxyethyl) phosphine (TCEP) at 56°C for 1 hour. Reduced cysteine residues were alkylated by 20 mM iodoacetamide (IAA) in the dark at room temperature for 30 min. The lysates were then diluted to < 1M urea by addition of 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.2 before digestion. For the analysis, 4.16 mg protein was digested by Lys-C using an enzyme to substrate ratio of 1:400 (w/w) followed by trypsin using an enzyme to substrate ratio of 1:200 (w/w). After overnight digestion at 37°C, TFA was added to 1% final concentration. Any precipitate was removed by centrifugation at 1,780g for 15 min.

**Peptide Purification.** Purification of peptides was performed at room temperature on C18 reversed-phase columns. The columns were first conditioned by 100% ACN followed by 0.1% TFA, 50% ACN and then equalized by 0.1% TFA. The acidified and cleared digest were then loaded onto column. After wash by 0.1% TFA, the peptides were eluted from the column by 0.1% TFA, 50% CAN and dried using a SpeedVac.
Anti- K- $\epsilon$ -GG Peptide Enrichment and Fractionation. Before incubation, the beads were washed in pre-chilled PBS 4 times. The peptides were resuspended in IAP buffer (50 mM MOPS, pH 7.2, 10 mM sodium phosphate, 50 mM NaCl). The peptide solution was then added into the vial containing motif antibody beads and incubated on a rotator for 2 hr at 4°C. After incubation, the beads were washed with pre-chilled IAP buffer 2 times and HPLC grade water 3 times. The enriched peptides were eluted from the beads by 0.15% TFA and were separated into 3 fractions using an Ultimate 3000 nano UHPLC system (ThermoFisher Scientific, USA) with a trapping column (PepMap C18, 100Å, 100  $\mu$ m × 2 cm, 5  $\mu$ m) and an analytical column (PepMap C18, 100Å, 75  $\mu$ m × 50 cm, 2 $\mu$ m). A sample volume of 1  $\mu$ g was loaded along a mobile phase made of A: 0.1% formic acid in water; B: 0.1% formic acid in 80% acetonitrile. The total flow rate for 250 nL/min LC linear gradient was from 2 to 8% buffer B in 3 min, from 8% to 20% buffer B in 50 min, from 20% to 40% buffer B in 26 min, then from 40% to 90% buffer B in 4 min.

**Analysis of Mass Spec Data.** The full scan was performed between 300-1,650 m/z at the resolution 60,000 at 200 m/z, the automatic gain control target for the full scan was set to 3e6. The MS/MS scan was operated in Top 20 mode using the following settings: resolution 15,000 at 200 m/z; automatic gain control target 1e5; maximum injection time 19ms; normalized collision energy at 28%; isolation window of 1.4 Th; charge sate exclusion: unassigned, 1, > 6; dynamic exclusion 30 s. Raw MS files were analyzed and searched against *Drosophila melanogaster* protein database based on the species of the samples using Maxquant (1.6.2.14). The parameters were set as follows: the protein modifications were Carbamidomethylation (C), oxidation (M) (variables), GlyGly(K); Lys-C and Trypsin were set as the enzymes for ubiquitinated-proteomic analysis. The maximum missed cleavage was set to 4, the precursor ion mass tolerance was set to

10 ppm, and MS/MS tolerance was 0.6 Da. The data was sorted by gene ontology enrichment analysis and categorized for molecular function and cellular components (geneontology.org). **Results** 

To ask if dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity was required for proper nuclear structure and/or for chromosome segregation in spermatocytes, I used CRISPR-directed mutagenesis to induce mutations (*C102A* and *C118S*) in the conserved RING finger required for ubiquitin ligase activity (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). The C102A mutation in dTopors was previously shown to eliminate ubiquitin ligase activity *in vitro* (Secombe and Parkhurst, 2004)and the C118S mutation was shown to abolish the activity of a homologous RING domain in mammalian MDM2 ligase (Honda & Yasuda, 2000). Three alleles were recovered: the desired *C102A* point mutation, a 15 bp deletion that removed the codons for 5 amino acids including the conserved cysteine at position 118 (*Df*(*114-118*), and a frameshift within the RING-encoding domain *dtopors*<sup>fsF1145X19</sup>). In this latter mutation, a cytosine was deleted at bp 339 in the open reading frame causing a *frameshift* at F114 resulting in a 113 amino acid peptide from dTopors with a 19 amino acid fusion (Figure 1).

# Figure 1. Diagram of dTopors C3HC4 RING Domain Showing Residues Altered in CRISPR/Cas9-Induced Mutations. Conserved residues are displayed in orange, and the

number of amino acids between conserved residues is indicated. In  $Df(dtopors^{1/4-118})$ , the FTDS residues (red) were deleted in addition to C118 potentially allowing C113 (green) to substitute for C118 in the RING domain. (Figure modified from https://www.mcb.ucdavis.edu/faculty-labs/Callis/).



#### dTopors Ubiquitin Ligase Activity is Required for Spermatocyte Nuclear Structure

Testes of homozygous mutant males were dissected, and late prophase (Stage 5-6, S5-S6) spermatocytes were observed by phase microscopy for nuclear herniations (blebs). In addition, post-meiotic onion stage cells (early spermatids) were examined for the presence of micronuclei and/or nuclear size differences, indicative of chromosome missegregation. Both *RING* mutants and the frameshift (*FS*) exhibited blebbing (Figure 2, top panels) and micronuclei, indicative of NDJ (Figure 2 bottom panels). Thus, dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity is required for both nuclear structure and germline chromosome segregation.

**Figure 2.** Phase Contrast Images of S5-S6 Spermatocytes and Onion Stage Spermatids Nuclei. Genotypes are indicated above each column. Unequal sized nuclei and micronuclei (arrows) resulting from nondisjunction.



Although the cytological observations revealed blebbing and NDJ in both *RING* mutants, I noticed some differences in the frequency of the blebs and in the number of observed micronuclei. To quantify these differences, I scored the frequency of blebs in double blind cytological assays on testes of at least 12 individual 1-day old homozygous *C102A*, *Df*(*C114-118*) and controls (*Df*(*dtopors*<sup>AA</sup>) and *wildtype*) adult males. To minimize variation induced by different degrees of squashing of dissected cells, I mounted single pairs of testes under a coverslip in a defined amount of tissue culture medium and examined the tissue without additional squashing. The number of S5-S6 spermatocyte nuclei with and without blebs were counted immediately. Chi square statistical analysis of at least 850 cells per genotype was conducted. I found that both *Df*(*114-118*) and *C102A* mutants displayed blebbing at least as frequently as complete deletion of the gene, *Df*(*dtopors*AA) (31%, 50.3% and 34.4%, respectively). This indicates that the ubiquitin ligase activity is required for proper nuclear

structure, and suggests other possible functions of dTopors (i.e., a structural role at the lamina, or sumoylation) may be of secondary importance to nuclear structure.

#### Ubiquitin Ligase Activity of dTopros is Not Required for Its Localization to the Lamina

It was possible that the nuclear defects observed in the *RING* mutants were an indirect consequence of dTopors mislocalization rather than a loss of ubiquitin ligase activity *per se*, as it had not been demonstrated that lamina localization is independent of this activity. To determine if the blebbing was a consequence of dTopors mislocalization to the nuclear lamina, I examined dTopors localization at the nuclear lamina by indirect immunofluorescence using rabbit antidTopors (Capelson & Corces, 2005) and mouse anti-Lamin Dm0 antibodies (ADL67.10) (Iowa Hybridoma Bank). I found that dTopors colocalized with LaminDm0 at the nuclear lamina in both *RING* mutants suggesting that ubiquitin ligase activity is not required for localization (Figure 3).

**Figure 3. dTopors and Lamin Dm0 Localization in Primary Spermatocytes.** S5-S6 stage spermatocytes stained with DAPI (blue), α-LaminDm0 antibodies (green) and α-dTopors antibodies (red). Arrows indicate co-localization of dTopors and LaminDm0. Scale bar 20 μm.



In the *frameshift (FS)* mutant, which is expected to produce a truncated protein containing only the N-terminal 118 amino acids, lamina colocalization was not observed. This suggests that this fragment is not sufficient for lamina localization or is unstable, or perhaps the antibody does not recognize any of the epitopes of the truncated protein. It is also of note that Lamin Dm0 localization appeared grossly normal in these mutants, although I cannot rule out the possibility that this technique failed to detect a subtle change in LaminDm0 localization. Overall, I conclude that dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity is not required for its assembly at the nuclear lamina. This suggests that dTopors' ubiquitin ligase activity, possibly acting on some component of the lamina, plays a critical role in nuclear structure.

#### dTopors Ubiquitin Ligase Activity is Required for Meiotic Chromosome Segregation

While cytological observations indicated that the two RING mutations and a *dtopors* null allele had a similar effect on nuclear morphology, my initial observations on chromosome

segregation suggested differences between the mutants. Micronuclei and nuclear size differences were much more apparent in the *FS* mutant than in either *C102A* and *Df(114-118)* mutants (Figure 2). To quantify the effects on chromosome segregation, I performed genetic assays of NDJ. In these assays, I simultaneously monitored the frequencies of chromosome loss and NDJ of the sex chromosomes and the fourth chromosomes (see Materials and Methods) (Table 1). I found that there were significant differences in both sex and fourth chromosome transmission among the mutants. When compared to  $Df(dtopors^{AA})$ , sex chromosome NDJ was significantly less frequent for both *C102A* and Df(114-118), and Df(114-118) frequencies were significantly lower than the *C102A* levels (Table 1). The difference was even greater for the fourth chromosome NDJ than  $Df(dtopors^{AA})$  mutants. The frequency of fourth NDJ in Df(114-118) mutant was not significantly elevated over wildtype (Table 1).

				X/Y;			X;	Y;	0;	0;	X/Y;	X/Y;	
Recovered male gametes:	Y; 4	X; 4	0;4	4	X; 0	Y; 0	4/4	4/4	0	4/4	0	4/4	#totals
Paternal genotype													
$dtopors^{fsF114SX19}/Df(dtopors^{AA})$	294	401	381	184	87	67	89	86	207	66	26	55	1943
dtopors <sup>C102A</sup> /Df (dtopors <sup>AA</sup> )	263	242	222	53	25	29	17	31	39	7	5	7	940
$Df(dtopors^{114-118})/Df(dtopors^{AA})$	316	317	357	77	22	28	18	16	31	18	5	3	1208
<i>dtopors</i> <sup>fsF114SX19</sup>	88	95	153	32	23	14	14	29	51	21	5	19	544
<i>dtopors</i> <sup>C102A</sup>	481	492	233	66	11	7	7	3	9	4	1	2	1316
$Df(dtopors^{114-118})$	852	1247	78	4	6	5	0	0	2	0	0	0	2194
dtopors <sup>fsF114SX19</sup> /Cy	1018	1504	9	4	2	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	2540
dtopors <sup>C102A</sup> /Cy	499	560	0	1	0	1	0	0	9	0	0	0	1070
$Df(dtopors^{114-118})/Cy$	710	982	2	2	1	0	0	2	3	0	0	0	1702

Table 1. Sex and Fourth Chromosome Nondisjunction Frequency from Crosses of yw/y<sup>+</sup>Y; *dtopors*; spa<sup>pol</sup> Males to y w sn; C(4)RM ci ey/0 Females

	Nullo	Diplo	Nullo	Diplo		
% Nondisjunction	XY	ΧY	4	4	XY	4
dtopors <sup>fsF114SX19</sup> /Df(dtopors <sup>AA</sup> )	33.7	13.6	19.9	15.2	47.3	35.2
dtopors <sup>C102A</sup> /Df(dtopors <sup>AA</sup> )	28.5	6.9	10.4	6.6	35.4	17.0
$Df(dtopors^{114-118})/Df(dtopors^{AA})$	33.6	7.0	7.1	4.6	40.6	11.7
<i>dtopors</i> <sup>fsF114SX19</sup>	41.4	10.3	17.1	15.3	51.7	32.4
dtopors <sup>C102A</sup>	18.7	5.2	2.1	1.2	23.9	3.3
$Df(dtopors^{114-118})$	3.6	0.2	0.6	0.0	3.8	0.6
dtopors <sup>fsF114SX19</sup> /Cy	0.4	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.6	0.2
dtopors <sup>C102A</sup> /Cy	0.8	0.1	0.9	0.0	0.9	0.9
$Df(dtopors^{114-118})/Cy$	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.4	0.4

The significantly lower NDJ frequency in the ubiquitin null *C102A* mutants compared to the *null Df(dtopors*<sup>AA</sup>) mutants indicates that loss of ubiquitin ligase activity does not disrupt chromosome segregation to the same degree as does loss of all dTopors functions. This suggests that another function of dTopors, perhaps sumoylation, contributes to chromosome segregation. I was surprised to find a difference in NDJ between the *Df(114-118)* and *C102A* mutants, as mutation of either C102 or C118 was previously reported to abolish ubiquitin ligase activity. My data suggest instead that *Df(114-118)* may be behave as a hypomorph. The deletion of the C118 target residue and four additional residues (FTDS) downstream, potentially allows C113 to substitute for C118 in the RING domain (Figure 1). This would result in a RING domain with an altered variable region between conserved cysteines, which might only partially disrupt the ability of the domain to properly fold.

Another interesting observation was that for each of the *RING* mutants, there was a greater effect on sex than on fourth chromosome segregation, whereas in null alleles sex and fourth chromosome NDJ are both nearly completely randomized (Table 1). It is possible that this difference might be related to chromosome size (sex chromosomes are much larger than the 4<sup>th</sup>) or chromosome specificity (sex chromosome versus an autosome). Overall, in all NDJ assays, chromosome 4 *nullo*- exceptions were slightly elevated over the diplo-exceptions amongst all *dtopors* alleles suggesting that suggesting that there may be some chromosome 4 loss as well. For the sex chromosome exceptions, the *nullo*-exceptions were significantly higher than the diplo-exceptions. This difference is unlikely to reflect chromosome loss, rather it is likely due to meiotic drive, where sperm with lower overall chromatin content (i.e., *nullo-XY*) are preferentially recovered among progenies. This phenomenon occurs when sex chromosome segregation is disrupted in male meiosis (McKee, 1991).

To discern between sex chromosome specificity versus size specificity, I examined the transmission of chromosome 2, a major autosome. In this assay, I crossed mutant males homozygous or heterozygous for *dtopors* to *Compound 2* (*C*(2)) females. These females produce eggs with either both chromosome 2 homologs attached at a single centromere, or a chromosome 2-deficient egg, and when mated to chromosomally normal males, the only surviving progeny are produced from aneuploid sperm. Therefore, the percent of embryos which gave rise to eclosed adults is a measure of autosomal NDJ. I collected embryos and counted the frequency that survived to adults from *C102A*, *Df*(*114-118*) *and Topors*<sup>*05115*</sup> (a P-element induced *null* allele previously described by Matsui et al., 2011) fathers and their heterozygous brothers to estimate NDJ frequency. The chromosome 2 NDJ frequencies of *C102A* and *f05115* were nearly identical, whereas the frequency was significantly lower for the *Df*(*114-118*) allele (Figure 4).

Figure 4. The Effects of *dtopors RING* Mutants on Autosomal Nondisjunction. Frequencies indicated as percent of eclosed progeny per male produced from males bearing the indicated *dtopors* alleles. (n = number of progeny). NS = Not significant. \*\*\*\*\* p < 0.001.



These data show that chromosome 2 segregation is also affected by the *RING* mutations, indicating that both types of chromosomes (autosomes and sex chromosomes) are affected by the mutation, regardless of size. However, it is interesting to note that although chromosome 2 is larger than chromosomes X and Y, yet it shows much lower frequency of NDJ. This suggests that chromosome specificity exist, however, the significance of this is elusive and should be further investigated. The difference in the NDJ frequencies among progeny of *C102A* and *f05115* males showing that segregation of chromosome 2 is affected equally by the *null* and the ubiquitin *null*. As observed for the sex chromosomes, the frequency of chromosome 2 NDJ was significantly lower among progeny of males bearing the for the *Df(114-118)* allele (when compared to the ubiquitin null), consistent with the hypothesis that *Df(114-118)* is hypomorphic.

#### The Absence of dTopors Ubiquitination Results in Anaphase I Bridge Formations

Prior examination of *dtopors* chromosome behavior suggests that meiotic NDJ is caused by the formation of Anaphase I bridges (Matsui et al 2011). To investigate whether dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity was required to prevent the formation of such bridges, I examined Anaphase I meiotic chromosomes in *RING* mutant males as well as in *FS null* males. I assessed at least one hundred meiosis I cells per mutant. The frequency of Anaphase I bridges and lagging chromosomes in *C102A* was similar to that of the null mutant, but was significantly lower in the Df(114-118) mutant (Figure 5). This indicates that Anaphase I bridges result from lack of dTopors ubiquitination. **Figure 5.** Anaphase I Defects in Various *dtopors* Mutants. Frequencies indicated as percent of cells with bridges and lagging chromosomes at anaphase I. (n = number of progeny). NS = Not significant. \*p < 0.05 \*\*\* p < 0.00001.



There are several possible causes of Anaphase I bridges. Matsui et al., (2011) ruled out that these bridges result from improper resolution of the conjunction complex that joins homologs together in male meiosis NDJ. In a double mutant homozygous for *dtopors* and *mnm*, the bridges were not resolved. A second possibility is that the bridges may result from improper orientation of sister chromatid centromeres to opposite poles at meiosis I. In yeast and mammals, the monopolin complex ensures that sister centromere co-orient to a single spindle pole at Anaphase I (Corbett & Harrison, 2016; Tóth et al., 2000). Although this complex has not been identified in Drosophila, an analogous function must exist.

To investigate whether these bridges might result from the misregulation of a monopolinlike complex, I examined meiosis I in male flies double mutant for f05115 and sisters unbound (sunn), a gene require for sister chromatid cohesion in meiosis (Krishnan et al., 2014). Anaphase I bridges resulting from sister centromere misorientation would be expected to be dependent on sister chromatid cohesion. This, relieving connections between sister centromeres by sunn would be expected to resolve such bridges. I used flies transheterozygous for two alleles of sunn  $(sunn^{Z3-1956} \text{ and } sunn^{Z3-4085})$  to avoid effects of background mutations on the sunn chromosomes. I found that the anaphase I bridges persisted despite the removal of cohesion between sister chromatids, suggesting that bridges do not results from inappropriate regulation of a monopolinlike function. (Figure 5). This posed the question, what chromosomes are together in bridges? To find an answer to this question, I performed fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) of meiosis I cells from homozygous C102A males, using probes to chromosomes X, Y and 2 and observed lagging chromosomes between X-Y homologs and X-2 and X-A heterologs (Figure 6). Based on this I conclude that both sex chromosomes and autosomes are present in the bridges. Although there is one example in panel B that suggests that some of these bridges may occur between sister chromatids, the mechanism of how these occur is unclear (it may be a case where each X sister was entangled with a different chromosome that segregated to opposite poles and dragged the X with it).

# Figure 6. FISH Examination of *dtopors*<sup>C102A</sup> Nondisjunction in DAPI-Stained

**Spermatocytes.** Panels A-E hybridized with X probe (red) and Y probe (green). Panel F hybridized with X probe (red) and chromosome 2 probe (green). A. Telophase I with normal XY segregation. B. Anaphase I with X chromosome bridge. C. Lagging X chromosome at Telophase I. D. Lagging X and Y at Anaphase I. E and F. Lagging autosomes. Bar, 10 µm.



## Ubiquitin Ligase Activity of dTopors is Not Required for Insulator Function

Insulator complexes are regulatory elements found in eukaryotic genome that influence gene transcription by either blocking enhancers from accessing the promoter of a gene (Geyer &

Corces, 1992; Kellum & Schedl, 1991), and/or preventing silencers from spreading of adjacent repressive chromatin (Chung et al., 1993; Kuhn & Geyer, 2003). The Drosophila gypsy insulator complex is a *cis*-regulatory element with enhancer blocking activity (Geyer & Corces, 1992) found at the borders between heterochromatin and euchromatic regions (Labrador & Corces, 2002). In somatic cells, dTopors colocalizes with components of the gypsy insulator complex and associates with the nuclear lamina (Capelson & Corces, 2005). To ask whether dTopors disrupts insulator function, Corces et al., used mutations generated by gypsy insertions in  $y^2 w^{omb}$ ct<sup>6</sup> (yellow-2 (y<sup>2</sup>), white optomotor blind-P1-D11 (ombP1-D11), cut-6 (ct6)) genes as phenotypic markers for insulator activity. Each of these mutations is caused by the insertion of gypsytransposon insulator into the regulatory regions of the gene, causing an insulator-dependent misexpression. Insertion of the gypsy insulator in the  $y^2$  gene regulatory region causes drastic reduction of the black pigment production in the body cuticle (Gever & Corces, 1992; Golovnin et al., 2008; Parnell et al., 2003). In the ommatidia, insertion of the gypsy transposon between the silencer element in the *omb* gene and the promoter of the *white* gene causes the appearance of red patches in the eye, dependent on the activity level of gypsy, with a less gypsy activity resulting in smaller patcher (Tsai et al., 1997).

In the wing, the insertion of gypsy between the enhancer of *wing margin* and the promoter of the *cut* gene results in the phenotype of jagged wing tips (Gause et al., 2001). Reduction of dTopors levels disrupts the *gypsy* insulator function resulting in phenotypes consistent with decreased insulator activity in these genetic assays (Capelson & Corces, 2005). To test whether dTopors ubiquitinates components of the insulators *in vivo*, Capelson et al., made an inducible *dtopors* construct carrying a C118S point mutation (Honda & Yasuda, 2000). The transgene was expressed in males hemizygous on the X chromosome for y<sup>2</sup>w<sup>omb</sup> ct<sup>6</sup>. Whereas overexpression of a *wildtype* dtopors transgene rescued disruption of insulator activity by an *mmm* mutation, expression of the C118S construct did not (Capelson & Corces, 2005). My genetic evidence suggests that Df(114-118), which targets the same C118 residue, behaves as a hypomorph and may still retain some ubiquitin ligase activity, therefore it was important to test the C102A in the same context, as this has been biochemically shown to be a ubiquitin ligase null. I tested male flies homozygous (or heterozygous) for the ubiquitin null *C102A* and hemizygous for two *gypsy* phenotype markers (w<sup>omb</sup> and ct<sup>6</sup>) on the X chromosome and found no changes in any of the phenotypes between test males and controls (Figure 7). This confirms Capelson and Corces' previous finding that dTopors ubiquitination is not required for insulator function (Capelson & Corces, 2005).

Figure 7. The Effect of *dtopors*<sup>C102A</sup> on the *gypsy*-Induced  $w^{omb}ct^{6}$  Mutations. Phenotypes of flies either wildtype (A and D), heterozygous (B and E) or homozygous (C and F) for the indicated *topors*<sup>C102A</sup> and hemizygous for  $w^{omb}ct^{6}$ .



### Targets of dTopors Ubiquitination

The mutants I created gave me a unique tool to identify *in vivo* targets of ubiquitination in the presence of functional *wildtype* dTopors versus *dtopors* (*C102A*) incapable of ubiquitination activity. To identify potential downstream targets of dTopors ubiquitination in the male germline, I made lysates of whole testis dissected from *wildtype* and *C102A* adults and immunoprecipitated ubiquitinated peptides using antibodies directed against the diglycine-lysine remnant (K- $\epsilon$ -GG) derived from preceding digestion with trypsin. A Ubiquitin molecule is conjugated to lysine residues of its target peptides by the -RGG (arginine-glycine-glycine) residue sequence, resulting in a Ub-RGG-K bond. Trypsin cleaves the bond between arginine and glycine, thus exposing an -GGK epitope of the ubiquitinated target peptide. Immunoprecipitants were analyzed by tandem mass spectrometry (see Methods). I identified 924 differentially recovered ubiquitinated peptides. Of these, 69 were less than 0.67-fold frequent in the mutant and 855 were more than 1.5-fold frequent in the mutant when compared to the *wildtype* (supplementary data). When sorted for molecular function (describes activities that occur at the molecular level), more than half of the gene ontology groups were ubiquitination and proteasome related (Figure 8). Fold changes indicate representation of these gene ontology group members versus overall representation in the genome. The greatest number of targets were involved in polyubiquitin modifications, at nearly 14-fold higher than the overall representation in the genome (Figure 8), suggesting that dTopors is somehow involved in the regulation of other components of the ubiquitination pathway.

## Figure 8. Gene Ontology Groups for Molecular Function of Differentially Ubiquitinated

**Targets.** In the presence or in the absence of dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity (A) and fold change of each GO group (B).





When sorted for cellular components (locations relative to cellular structures in which a gene product performs a function), nearly half of the gene ontology groups were proteasome and ribosome related (Figure 9), suggesting that dTopors may be regulating components of the proteasome.

# Figure 9. Gene Ontology Groups for Cellular Components of Differentially Ubiquitinated

**Targets.** In the presence or in the absence of dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity (A) and fold change of each GO group (B).





The 924 peptides were also analyzed based on whether they were either present in wildtype but undetected in the mutant (dTopors-dependent) or undetected in the *wildtype* but present in the mutant (dTopors suppressed). Peptides classified as dTopors dependent are the most likely direct targets of dTopors ubiquitination. Peptides classified as dTopors suppressed

are peptides that may be ubiquitinated by other Ubiquitin ligases which in turn are regulated by

dTopors. Among the dTopors-suppressed ubiquitination ontology groups we found that several

Histones (His2B, His3, and His4) (Table 2).

Table 2. Gene Products Differentially Ubiquitinated in dtopors.	(*ubiquitinated in the
presence and absence of dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity).	

Gene Ontology	dTopors-dependent	dTopors-suppressed			
Chromatin/Transcription	His3*; dikar; CG10887*	ash1, CG12674, His2B, His3*, His4, Sirt2, CG10887*			
Chromosome segregation	Tcp-1zeta, CG6971, alphaTub84D*, alphaTub84B*, alphaTub85E *	14-3-3zeta, Moe, Klp59C, alphaTub84D*, alphaTub84B*, alphaTub85E*			
ER association	Srp68*	Rtnl2, Cnx99A, Rtnl1, Srp68*, Surf4			
Membrane association	CG32512	FK506-bp, AnxB10, spartin, CG2930, CG7627, CG8153, l(2)k05819, MFS14, Pkd2, sut4, out, CG34126			
Metabolism	Akr1B*, CG4546, CG8526	Argk, Pect, ACC, AdipoR, Akr1B*, AMPdeam, AOX1, Bacc, FucTD, CG32445			
Actine related	cpb, tsr, Rtnl2	Act42A, Act5C, spn-F, cib, Act87E, Act88F, Act79B, Mhc, bent			
<b>Ribosome/Translation</b>	Rpl11, Rps29*, bol, Ef1beta	RlP24, RpS29*, RpS3, RpS27, RpS17, CG6907, Ef1alpha48D, Ef1alpha100E, EF2, elF-4a			
RNA association	Dhx15, Cpsf160, Saf- B	blanks, lost, pAbp, Ref1, spoon, exu, Dcr-2, qkr58E-3, Hrb98DE, Hrb87F, CG7907, bel, Rm62, SF2			
Signaling	Gp150*, Hop*	Inos, Gp150*, Hop*, CG34125, Sh3beta			
Sperm	heph, CG15144, CG3330	Npc1a, Jyalpha			

Stress response	Hsp27	CG16817, Hsc70-3, Hsc70-4, Hsp67Ba, Hsp8, UGP, Gss1, DnaJ- H
Ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis	Prosbeta4, Uba1, CG7220, CG3473, CG40045, Ubc10, hyd	CG10254, Np14, poe, CG4968, Rpn6, Rpt1, CG8786, CG8858, Rpn13R, Rpn3, Rpt6, Rpt6R, Atg8a, Atg8b, Prosalpha3, Fur1, klhl10, Uch, Usp7, Asx, Cul3, CG8042
Vesicle	comt, Rab2, Csp	Rab39, Syx7, Syb
Miscellaneous (apoptosis, development, laminar, mitochondria, protein folding, sumoylation, oogenesis, dephosphorylation, courtship)	Tom70*, Aos1, sds22, Pp1-Y2, qtc	Prx2540-1, CG12896, CG13516, Unc-13-4B, fax, Ntf-2r, Lam, Tom70*, Taz, COX6B, Sgt, Cctgamma, CG10635
Unknown	CG8136, CG2898, CG3760, CG3760, CG43675	CG10734, CG43121, CG42394, CG2861

Histone 3 is an important target for different epigenetic modifications on its lysine residues, and here we report differential ubiquitination in a dTopors -dependent at lysine 23 (23K, KQLATK(gl)AAR) and in dTopors -suppressed manner at lysine 36 (K36, SAPSTGGVK(gl)KPHR). H3K23 is acetylated in flies and is implicated in courtship learning, memory impairment and cancer (Kai-Le et al., 2018; Klein et al., 2019). Here we show that the same H3K23 residue is ubiquitinated in the presence of dTopors, suggesting a competition between acetylation and ubiquitination for the same residue. H3K36 is a methylation site in flies for mono-, di-, and trimethylation associated with chromatin compaction and transcriptional regulation (Bell et al., 2007; Filion et al., 2010; Mukai et al., 2015). I found H3 peptides ubiquitinated at this site were enriched in the absence of dTopors, suggesting that dTopors somehow regulates components of the ubiquitination pathway targeting this residue. However, dTopors' role is in this chromatin modification needs to be further investigated.

His2B is known to be part of the DNA repair pathway in many organisms. Here we show the first evidence that in Drosophila, His2B is ubiquitinated in the absence of dTopors, and furthermore, our screen revealed that the His2B lysine that is differentially ubiquitinated in the absence of dTopors, K118 (AVTK(gl)YTSSK), corresponds to the lysine mono-ubiquitinated in association with the DNA damage response K123 in yeast (Hung et al., 2017; G. Liu et al., 2021; Zheng & Petes, 2018), K120 in calf (Thorne et al., 1987), and in human cells (Chernikova et al., 2010, 2012). These results suggest that dTopors may be regulating components of the ubiquitination pathway for His2B. It is interesting to note that in the ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis group many of the targets ubiquitinated in the presence of dTopors are E2 ligases (CG7220, CG3473, CG40045, Ubc10), E1 (Uba1) and E3 ligase (hyd), suggesting that dTopors may be regulating the abundance of these ligases. Ubiquitination of E2 ligases may cause their degradation, and this may affect other targets indirectly. It also appears that dTopors regulates Uba, the only E1 ubiquitin ligase shared by all E2 ligases. This is very important since degradation of E1 would have a major impact on multiple ubiquitination pathways and thus on a myriad of different targets.

#### dTopors Regulates LaminDm0 Ubiquitination

dTopors physically interacts with LaminDm0 in somatic cells (Capelson & Corces, 2005) and also in spermatocytes, where these interactions have structural consequences for the lamina assembly (Matsui et al., 2011). In spermatocytes, there is no difference in the overall LaminDm0 levels in a *dtopors* deletion (null) mutant when compared to wildtype, however, there is variation in LaminDm0 distribution (Matsui et al., 2011). The mass spec analysis revealed an

accumulation of ubiquitinated LaminDm0 (K244) in absence of dTopors suggesting that dTopors somehow prevents LaminDm0 ubiquitination. dTopors colocalizes with both Lamins at the spermatocyte nuclear lamina in the wildtype (Matsui et al., 2011), and was shown to physically interact with Lamin Dm0 in somatic cells (Capelson & Corces, 2005).

#### Discussion

I set out to investigate the role of dTopors-mediated ubiquitination in nuclear structure and chromosome segregation, and to understand the relationship between nuclear lamina and chromosome segregation in meiosis. To accomplish this, I created a separation-of-function ubiquitin null allele of *dtopors* targeting different conserved residues in dTopors' RING domain. Fortuitously, the gene editing also yielded a *dtopors* frameshift and a genetic hypomorphic allele, a unique tool to uncover different requirements for ligase activity at the nuclear structure and in meiotic chromosome segregation.

It had previously been suggested that the meiotic chromosome segregation defects observed in *dtopors* mutants might be a consequence of perturbation of the nuclear structure (Matsui et al., 2011). Although this was a compelling argument, given the known examples of chromosome interactions with the lamina, our data argue that this may not the case. Rather, we suggest that the chromosome segregation defects and nuclear blebbing may be independent consequences of alterations in ubiquitination of different target proteins. Genetic and cytology assays of these different *RING* mutants revealed nuclear blebbing in all three mutants, but surprisingly the NDJ levels were very different. When compared to the *dtopors* deletion, both Df(114-118) and *C102A* mutants displayed similar frequencies of nuclear blebbing, but there were striking differences in NDJ frequencies and anaphase I defects. I suggest that this differential effect of the Df(114-118) on the two phenotypes might be explained by different

threshold requirements for ubiquitination of chromosome-associated versus lamina-associated dTopors' targets.

Examination of the primary amino acid sequence of the dTopors RING domain offers an explanation for the hypomorphic behavior of the Df(114-118) allele. In the consensus RING sequence, this deletion occurs in a variable region that is between 9 and 39 residue. (Borden et al., 1995). The deletion results in a variable region of 7 residues, just below the lower limit of the length observed in some wildtype RING domains. This may allow the domain to fold properly in some fraction of the dTopors proteins, thus allowing for some activity. Alternatively, as the RING domain is the region of the E3 that physically interacts with the E2 ligase (Joazeiro et al., 1999), alterations to this domain may have weakened or diminished assembly of the active ligase complex and reduced but not eliminated Ub ligase activity. While the deletion may affect protein folding causing some loss of function, the potential C113 to C118 substitution may partially restore ubiquitin ligase activity. As increase of temperature affects protein structures, I hypothesize that the deletion may exacerbate the folding defect. However, since blebbing occurs in all mutants while NDJ varies greatly, I assume that there may be different threshold requirements for dTopors-mediated ubiquitination in chromosome segregation and in nuclear structure. It also suggests that chromosome misbehavior may not be a consequence of the disturbed nuclear structure.

Interestingly, I found that different chromosomes showed different sensitivities to disruption by the Ub-null mutation. Sex chromosome segregation was disrupted to a greater degree than that of the tiny fourth chromosome. This difference was exaggerated in the *Df(114-118)* mutants, in which fourth chromosome segregation was nearly normal while sex chromosome NDJ was significantly elevated. This suggests that different chromosomes may

have different requirements for levels of dTopors ubiquitination activity. Surprisingly, I found that the larger autosome, chromosome 2, responded to the different alleles in a manner more similar to the 4<sup>th</sup> instead of the larger sex chromosomes. This may suggest that for dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity chromosome size does not play a significant role and that chromosome specificity exist. Generally, larger chromosomes tend to be more prone to entanglement, telomer fusion and breakage. In most cases DNA breakage is resolved by homology directed repair, but sometimes it may be repaired through NHEJ. All these cases may lead to chromosome segregation defects which are reflected in my findings. The significance of chromosome 2 having less NDJ than a sex chromosome of similar size is elusive and should be further investigated. Although both RING mutants showed NDJ, the differences in the frequencies were significant, C102A NDJ was comparable to the f05115 null, while Df(114-118) was at wildtype levels, adding support for Df(114-118) being a genetic hypomorph. The significant lower NDJ frequency in the C102A ubiquitin null mutants compared to the *dtopors* deletional null  $Df(dtopors^{AA})$  mutants indicates that dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity is necessary but not sufficient for chromosome segregation. Therefore, chromosome segregation may be aided by some other function of dTopors, perhaps sumoylation.

NDJ may result from homolog, heterology and/or sister chromatid entanglements. FISH was used to verify involvement of both sex chromosome and autosomes in bridges and to investigate whether dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity plays a role in creating these bridges. Moreover, the frequency of anaphase I bridges and lagging chromosomes in *C102A* was similar to that of the null mutant, but was significantly lower in the Df(114-118) mutant, indicating that the bridges results from lack of or improper ubiquitination of some targets at chromosomes.

The anaphase I bridges persisted despite the removal of cohesion between sister chromatids, suggesting that bridges do not result from inappropriate regulation of a putative Monopolin complex.

In addition to NDJ, nuclear structure was also affected in both *RING* mutants as we observed nuclear blebs in both. We found that both *RING* mutants displayed blebbing at least as frequently as complete deletion of the gene, indicating that the ubiquitin ligase activity is required for intact nuclear morphology, but other possible functions of dTopors (i.e., a structural role at the lamina, or sumoylation) may be of secondary importance to nuclear structure. It remained possible that the nuclear defects observed in the *RING* mutants were an indirect consequence of dTopors mislocalization rather than a loss of ubiquitin ligase activity *per se*, as it had not been demonstrated that lamina localization is independent of this activity. I found that in the absence of its ability to ubiquitinate, dTopors protein still localized to the nuclear lamina, therefore enzymatic activity or interaction dependent on RING domain is not important for its localization. If the NDJ were a direct consequence of nuclear disruption, then I would have expected that more frequent nuclear disruption would lead to more frequent NDJ. Since this is not the case, the hypothesis is supported that the two phenotypes may be due to separate activities of dTopors – i.e., ubiquitination of different targets.

To test whether ubiquitination by dTopors was necessary for the components of the insulator complex *in vivo*, Capelson et al. made a transgene with an inducible *dtopors* construct carrying a C118S point mutation. The transgene was expressed in males hemizygous on the X chromosome for  $y^2w^{omb}$  ct<sup>6</sup> phenotypic markers for insulator activity. Each of these mutations is caused by the insertion of gypsy-transposon insulator into the regulatory regions of the gene, causing an insulator-dependent misexpression. Overexpression of the *C118S* construct did not

rescue disruption of insulator activity by an *mnm* mutation (Capelson & Corces, 2005), suggesting that a) ubiquitin ligase activity is not important for the insulator complex assembly or function, or b) the transgene was a hypomorph and retained some ubiquitin ligase activity due to a potential substitution of C113 for C118 in the RING domain. We identified *Df*(*114-118*) as a genetic hypomorph, and therefore it was important to test the *C102A* in the same context, since this was shown biochemically to be a definite ubiquitin ligase null in flies (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). My results confirmed Capelson and Corces previous results of dTopors ubiquitination not being required for insulator function. The RING mutants still localize to the lamina, and thus is consistent with Corces' model that dTopors role in insulator function may be limited to its ability to anchor insulators in the lamina. This could mean that the defects seen are not likely to be the indirect consequences of alterations of the transcriptional profile of spermatocytes, but rather directly result from lack of ubiquitination on some target(s).

The *C102A* mutant is a unique tool to identify in vivo targets of ubiquitination because it is a ubiquitin null, therefore it allows us to identify differences in ubiquitination when compared to dTopors wildtype. The great variety of targets confirm a broad and significant role of dTopors' ubiquitin ligase activity in the male germline. A prime candidate for involvement in the nuclear defects revealed by our comparative proteomic analysis was the Lamin Dm0 protein. In humans, post-translational modifications regulate Lamin function and integrity (Wagner et al., 2011), and many of these modifications (ubiquitination, acetylation, and sumoylation) target the same lysine at multiple locations on the protein (Murray-Nerger & Cristea, 2021). However, how these modifications interfere with each other and how such competition influences Lamin function and behavior is not yet fully understood. Ubiquitination by several E3 ligases are known to mediate proteasomal degradation of Lamins (Khanna et al., 2018; Krishnamoorthy et al.,

2018). Ubiquitination mediated degradation of Lamins is an important process to eliminate excess or unincorporated Lamins from the cell, and several E3 ligases (RNF123, HECW2, Smurf2, and Siah)1 are known to interact with Lamins in humans (Khanna et al., 2018). Phosphorylation at specific residues (S395 and S405 in Lamin B, S392 for LaminsA/C) leads to Lamin disassembly and solubilization, followed by ubiquitin-mediated degradation of the Lamins by E3 ligases (Shimizu et al., 1998; Y. Zhang et al., 2018), resulting in DNA breakage and apoptosis (Murray-Nerger & Cristea, 2021).

In the mass spec analysis, I found a 15-fold increase in ubiquitinated LaminDm0 in the absence of dTopors (see supplementary table), suggesting dTopors may prevent the ubiquitination and thus possibly the degradation of LaminDm0. This would fall in line with the blebbing phenotype present in all *dtopors* mutants, including the *RING* mutants. A possible explanation could be that in the presence of dTopors, LaminDm0 is not ubiquitinated and thus can be assembled into the nuclear lamina, while in the absence of dTopors, LaminDm0 is ubiquitinated and may not be effectively assembled into the lamina, thus weakening laminar structure resulting in blebbing. There is some evidence to support this assumption. Matsui et al., found no difference in the amount of LaminDm0 present in a *dtopors* null and in the wildtype, but they observed differences in intranuclear localization of LaminDm0. While in wildtype males virtually all LaminDm0 seemed to be found at the nuclear lamina, in the mutant, laminDm0 localizes at the lamina but is also dispersed throughout the nucleus (Matsui et al., 2011).

We also found that several Histones were ubiquitinated in the presence and in the absence of dTopors, suggesting a broader role for dTopors in chromatin modifications and transcriptional control. Histone 3 is an important target for different epigenetic modifications on its lysine

residues and we found two different histone sites of ubiquitination regulated by dTopors. These sites are known for epigenetic regulations and are also targeted by other post-translational modifications, such as acetylation and methylation. Ubiquitination of these residues may compete with other post-translational modifications at these sites, thus affecting chromatin structure and possibly regulating transcription of genes. Since H3K23 is ubiquitinated in the presence of dTopors, it is possible that this mark is a direct target of dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity. In flies, enoki mushroom (Enok), an acetyltransferase responsible for germline cell formation and abdominal segmentation in fly embryos acetylates H3K23 and regulates expression of genes involved in neuronal development and oogenesis (Huang et al., 2014). It is possible that in the male germline H3K23 is ubiquitinated to block acetylation and keep the chromatin closed, thus repressing expressions of genes not needed in the germline. H3K36 is mono-, di-, and trimethylated in wildtype flies, and here it is ubiquitinated in the absence of dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity. The methylation of this mark in the wildtype is associated with chromatin compaction and transcriptional gene silencing (Bell et al., 2007; Filion et al., 2010; Mukai et al., 2015), and in mammals with tumor suppression (Berthelet et al., 2018, p. 36; Zhu et al., 2017) and recombination in germ cells (Powers et al., 2016). These sites are important for chromatin modification events, and the fact that they are differentially regulated by dTopors, suggests that dTopors may play a role in their regulation. The exact role of dTopors at these epigenetic marks should be further investigated.

The other Histone ubiquitinated in the absence of dTopors is Histone 2B (His2B). His2B is of particular interest given what is known about dTopors and its own role in DNA damage repair. As part of the DNA damage response, H2Ax is first ubiquitinated by Topors and then activated by phosphorylation ( $\gamma$ -H2AX) (Doil et al., 2009; Pan et al., 2011; Rogakou et al., 1998;

Seong et al., 2012). An activated  $\gamma$ -H2AX recruits the DNA damage repair machinery (Stucki et al., 2005; Jackson et al., 2009). His2B is mono-ubiquitinated in yeast, mouse, calf, and human cells in response to DNA damage (Hung et al., 2017; G. Liu et al., 2021; Zheng & Petes, 2018; Thorne et al., 1987; Chernikova et al., 2010, 2012). dTopors does not exist in yeast and there is no evidence of Topors ubiquitinating His2B in the other organisms. I found that in Drosophila male germline, His2B is ubiquitinated in the absence of dTopors at K118 and that residue corresponds to the lysine mono-ubiquitinated in association with the DNA damage response K123 in yeast (Hung et al., 2017; G. Liu et al., 2021; Zheng & Petes, 2018), K120 in calf (Thorne et al., 1987), and in human cells (Chernikova et al., 2010, 2012). This suggests the possibility that dTopors somehow modifies this residue in response to DNA damage. The role of His2B ubiquitination in response to DNA damage has not yet been established in Drosophila and further experiments are needed to elucidate the dTopors role in this pathway. I observed that both LaminDm0 and His2B are ubiquitinated in the absence of dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity, and although these might be independent occurrences, it is interesting to note that His2B interacts with LaminDm0 by binding to the carboxy terminal end of the protein (Goldberg et al., 1999). It is possible that chromatin is linked to the lamina through His2B and LaminDm0 binding, and dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity plays a role in this interaction.

Interestingly, it seems that dTopors also regulates some of the ligases in the ubiquitination pathway as we found Uba1 (the sole Ub E1in Drosophila) and several E2 ligases ubiquitinated in the presence of dTopors. Since Uba1 is the only E1 ubiquitin ligase shared by all E2 ligases, its ubiquitination may have a major impact on multiple ubiquitination pathways and thus on a myriad of different targets. It is possible that dTopors is some sort of feedback regulator for Uba1 and functions to ubiquitinate excess Uba1 for degradation. Furthermore,

ubiquitination of E2 ligases may cause their degradation, and this may also affect many other targets indirectly. Based on this we suggest that dTopors may function as a "master regulator" of the ubiquitination pathway by interacting with several E2 ligases and by regulating the abundance of these pathway components through ubiquitination. Generally, E3-E2 interactions are determined by specificity of an E2 to an E3, however, a single E2 can interact with different E3 ligases, as seen with Ube2D/UbcH5 and the ubiquitination of a target depends on which E3 is chosen by an E2 (Ye & Rape, 2009). E2s utilize different residues to recognize various E3s, and additional components unique to certain E2s may increase specificity towards an E3 ligase (Ye & Rape, 2009). Topors was shown to interact with several E2 ligases (UbcH5a, UbcH5c, and UbcH6) *in vitro* (Rajendra et al., 2004), and it is unclear if those interactions are biologically meaningful as proteins are present in high concentrations in these assays. For future work, the hypomorphic Df(114-118) allele would serve as a great tool to screen for potential E2-dTopors interactions *in vivo*, where possible interactions between Df(114-118) and specific E2 ligases are expected to exacerbate the mutant phenotype.

#### CHAPTER III: IDENTIFYING TARGETS OF DTOPORS SUMOYLATION

#### Introduction

Post-translational modifications are important components for regulation of protein function and are essential for cell survival. After translation, most proteins undergo adjustments to their amino acid side chains or to one of their termini in form of a covalently attached group, often determining the protein's fate, or effecting functional activation. Ubiquitination and sumovalation are types of post-translational modification in which a small peptide is covalently conjugated to lysine residues of a target protein via a glycine-lysine isopeptide bond. Although these processes are very similar, both involving an E1 activating enzyme, E2 conjugating enzyme and E3 ligases, the outcomes for the target proteins are quite different. In contrast to ubiquitination where a (Ub) tag usually marks proteins for degradation, the addition of a SUMO (Small Ubiquitin-like Modifier) group does not lead to protein degradation, but may stabilize proteins by competing for lysine residues with ubiquitin (Desterro et al., 1999). SUMO was first identified as SMT3 (Suppressor of Mif Two 3) in S. cerevisiae (Meluh & Koshland, 1995a, 1995b) and although its 3D structure resembles Ubiquitin, its amino acid sequence is less than 20% identical to ubiquitin (Bayer et al., 1998; Bernier-Villamor et al., 2002; Mossessova & Lima, 2000). The human SUMO gene family encodes for four SUMO proteins paralogs (SUMO 1-4) (Gareau & Lima, 2010), whereas other organisms like yeast (Lapenta et al., 1997), C. elegans (Jones & Candido, 1993) and D. melanogaster (Lehembre et al., 2000) have a single SUMO gene, *smt3*.
### The Sumoylation Pathway

To initiate the sumoylation pathway in mammals, SUMO proteins need to be activated by means of a C-terminal cleavage of amino acids via SENP (Sentrin/SUMO-specific protease), which results in an exposed di-glycine motif, ready to be conjugate to the lysine residue of a target protein (S.-J. Li & Hochstrasser, 1999). Afterwards sumoylation commences in three steps: first, SUMO is attached to the heterodimeric SUMO E1 activating enzyme (SAE 1/2), then it is passed to an E2 conjugating enzyme (Ubc9), which catalyzes the SUMO transfer to the target protein mediated by an E3 SUMO ligase (Hochstrasser, 2000). Interestingly, in comparison to the ubiquitin pathway which utilizes dozens of E2 conjugating enzymes, only one E2 enzyme (Ubc9) is known to exist for the SUMO pathway (Gill, 2004). To date, several SUMO E3 ligases have been discovered including the nucleoporin RanBP2 (Pichler et al., 2002), members of the PIAS (Protein Inhibitors of Activated STATs) family (Hochstrasser, 2000), polycomb complex protein Pc2( Kagey et al., 2003), Mms21 (Zhao & Blobel, 2005) and Topors (Weger et al., 2005).

# The Impact of Sumoylation in Human Cells

Sumoylation plays an important role in many nuclear and subnuclear processes in the cell. Localization of proteins may change with sumoylation as is the case with the small GTPase activating protein RanGAP, the first identified target of SUMO (Matunis et al., 1996). Prior to sumoylation RanGAP is cytoplasmic, however, once sumoylated, it localizes to the nuclear pore complex and associates with RanBP2 (Matunis et al., 1996), a nucleoporin and SUMO E3 ligase (Pichler et al., 2002).

Sumoylation also plays a role in epigenetic modifications of Histones. Histone 4 was the first shown to be modified by SUMO, and *in vitro* studies showed that the N-terminal tail serves

as a substrate for SUMO modification (Shiio & Eisenman, 2003). Since then, the other Histones were found to be targets of cross-talks between sumoylation and various other post-translational modifications (Ryu & Hochstrasser, 2021). In general, sumoylation of Histones is associated with chromatin compaction and transcriptional repression, which result in chromatin structure modifications and gene silencing (Ryu & Hochstrasser, 2021). However, research suggests that in yeast, Histone-SUMO conjugates may also be involved in DNA damage repair response and chromosome segregation (Ryu & Hochstrasser, 2021).

Cellular signaling pathways are also linked to sumoylation of several components like HSF1, PML, p53 and IKB (Inhibitor of NFKB). Signal-dependent phosphorylation of HSF1 (Heat Shock factor 1) in response to heat induced stress increases sumoylation of HSF1 (Hietakangas et al., 2003), while phosphorylation appears to decrease sumoylation of PML (Muller, 1998; Everett et al., 1999), p53 (Müller et al., 2000), and IKB (Desterro et al., 1999). Interestingly, phosphorylation of IKB inhibits its sumoylation, thus allowing ubiquitination to occur on the same residue, K21 (Desterro et al., 1999). Ubiquitinated IKB undergoes proteasomal degradation and as a result, NFKB is released from its inactive state. Considering the substrates involved, just like ubiquitination, sumoylation is expected to be influential in human cancers. The oncoprotein Mdm2 is a RING finger E3 ubiquitin ligase known to ubiquitinate p53 for degradation (Ellison-Zelski & Alarid, 2010; Haupt et al., 1997; Honda & Yasuda, n.d.; Kubbutat et al., 1997) and if needed, Mdm2 can also self-ubiquitinate and thus help regulate p53 levels. Ubc9-mediated sumoylation of Mdm2 causes a reduction of selfubiquitination levels and thus an increase of Mdm2 ubiquitination activity of p53 (Buschmann et al., 2001). The mammalian homolog of the yeast repressor Sin3A (switch independent 3) is transcriptional repressor of key apoptotic genes whose expression promotes breast cancer cell

63

growth by inhibiting apoptosis (Zelski et al., 2010). The Sin3A complex localizes to the PML body where it serves as a scaffold to recruit other corepressors into a complex (Ayer et al., 1995; Khan et al., 2001). In the PML body, Sin3A and the corepressors (c-Ski, N-CoR) recruit HDAC1 (histone deacetylase 1) and interact with PML and initiate transcriptional repression (Khan et al., 2001). SAP130 (SinA3 Associated Protein 130) is part of the mammalian Sin3A complex and interacts with the Sin3A-HDAC complex for transcriptional repression (Marshall et al., 2010). Human Sin3A is sumoylated by Topors, suggesting a potential role of Topors as a tumor suppressor by regulating Sin3A in HeLa cells (Pungaliya et al., 2007). Topors also sumoylates TOP1 (DNA Topoisomerase I) in osteosarcoma cells (Hammer et al., 2007) and p53 *in vitro* and *in vivo* in HeLa cells (Weger et al., 2005).

#### The Impact of Sumoylation in Flies

Sumoylation also occurs in a variety of tissues in *D. melanogaster* and plays a role in multiple biological functions. SUMO involvement can be detected among others in immune signaling, central nervous system development, chromatin structure and chromosome segregation in mitotic and meiotic cells. As part of the fly immune response to infection, RSS (Arginyl tRNA Synthetase) which is a member of the MARS (multi-aminoacyl tRNA complex) immune signaling complex, is sumoylated (Nayak et al., 2021). In the central nervous system, sumoylation of SoxN (SRY-related HMG-box Neural, a transcription factor) is required for proper CNS development *in vivo* to avoid severe CNS defects (Savare et al., 2005). Sumoylation also contributes to chromatin modifications and regulates heterochromatic silencing such as PEV (Position Effect Variegation), which can be suppressed by SUMO modification of Su(var)2-10 (a SUMO E3 ligase and member of PIAS protein family) (Hari et al., 2001) or enhanced by sumoylation of SU(VAR)3-7 (Reo et al., 2010). Chromosome segregation in mitotic and meiotic

cells is also partly regulated by SUMO modification of components involved. In mitotic cells, sumoylation of various targets is required for progression through the cell cycle (Nie et al., 2009). In meiosis, the SUMO E2 conjugation enzyme Ubc9 mediates homolog separation during female meiosis I and the Ubc9 mutant *lesswright* displays chromosome segregation defects (Apionishev et al., 2001). Based on prior observation of mammalian Topors localization to PML bodies containing increased concentrations of proteins involved in the sumoylation pathway (Rasheed et al., 2002) and because dTopors is a dual E3-ubiquitin/SUMO-1 ligase (Rajendra et al., 2004; Weger et al., 2003, 2005), Corces et al., explored the possibility of the sumoylation function of dTopors on the components of the *gypsy* insulator in fly somatic cells. *In vivo* and *in vitro* results showed two components of the gypsy insulator (Mod(mdg4)2.2 and CP190) are sumoylated in the absence of dTopors indicating that dTopors may inhibit the sumoylation of these proteins (Capelson & Corces, 2006). In contrast to human Topors, which is known to interact with Ubc9 and sumoylate several targets, there is no known interaction between dTopors and Ubc9 in flies.

#### Aim of Study

Sumoylating activities of Topors were described in detail in human somatic cells, but it is not known if dTopors mediates sumoylation in Drosophila. In yeast and human cells, the SUMO E2 conjugating ligase Ubc9 interacts with the E1 ligase and the SUMO group for sumoylation of substrates (Desterro et al., 1999; Johnson & Blobel, 1997; Saitoh et al., 1998; Schwarz et al., 1998). The Ubc9 protein (i.e., 99% identical to human protein in mouse, 87% in flies, 78% *C. elegans*, >60% in yeast), acts as an E2 sumoylating enzyme and sumoylates targets in concert with Uba2 (E1) and SUMO. In humans, Topors interacts with Ubc9 to sumoylate targets (Pungaliya et al., 2007). Although direct evidence for a role of dTopors in sumoylation is lacking, Ubc 9 and dTopors interaction were shown in a yeast-two-hybrid assay (Capelson & Corces, 2006), suggesting dTopors likely acts as an E3 SUMO ligase. However, even if dTopors is not a Sumo ligase, evidence indicates it can regulate sumoylation of other proteins, and it would be interesting to identify which proteins are regulated in this manner. As such, direct targets of dTopors sumoylation need to be identified and dTopors effects on the activities of these substrates characterized. Based on the dual ligase activity of dTopors, it is possible that dTopors could regulate the numerous targets alternatively by ubiquitination and sumoylation, as it is the case with p53 and hTopors, or perhaps the two functions have entirely separate targets. Very few proteins in humans are both ubiquitinated and sumoylated by Topors, and it is not known if these are exceptional cases or if the modification of many proteins by both sumoylation and ubiquitination is regulated by Topors. To explore these possibilities, and to identify proteins for which the sumoylation status is affected by dTopors in *D. melanogaster* male meiosis, we immunoprecipitated SUMO-conjugated proteins from testes lysates of a *dtopors* null mutant versus wildtype males and analyzed the recovered peptides via mass spectrometry.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Mass Spectrometry

**Tissue Preparation.** For each mass spectrometry analysis two thousand pairs of testes of 1–3-day old males of either  $yw/y^+Y$ ;  $spa^{pol}$  and  $yw/y^+Y$ ;  $dtopors^{fsF114SX19}$ ;  $spa^{pol}$  genotypes were collected in Schneider's Drosophila medium (GIBCO BRL, Gaithersburg, MD). Testes were centrifuged at 1700 rpm for 2 minutes, Schneiders was removed, and testes were gently washed in 200µl 1X PBS (Phosphate Buffer Saline pH 7.4). The centrifugation was repeated, and the PBS was removed. An Inhibitor Cocktail (IC, 0.1 mM MG132, 80 mM NEM and 0.4 mM IAA (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO), and 0.1 M Halt 100X to final concentration of 1X (Thermo

Scientific, Rockford, IL) was added in amounts of 1  $\mu$ l per 2 pair of testes. The tissues were sonicated in short 20 second intervals for a total of 10 repeats and a standard Bradford assay was done to quantitate protein concentrations (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). Mass spectrometry analysis was performed by Creative Proteomics, Shirley, NY. Briefly, the samples were digested by  $\alpha$ -Lytic Protease and the resulted diglycine remnant containing peptides were enriched through Anti-Ubiquitin Remnant Motif (K- $\epsilon$ -GG) Antibody conjugated agarose beads and then identified by applying a nano-LC-MS/MS platform.

**Protein Preparation.** Disulfide bridges were reduced by 10 mM Tris(2-carboxyethyl) phosphine (TCEP) at 56°C for 1 hour. Reduced cysteine residues were alkylated by 20 mM iodoacetamide (IAA) in the dark at room temperature for 30 min. The lysates were then diluted to < 1M urea by addition of 50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.2 before digestion. For the analysis, 6.85 mg protein was digested by 50 ug  $\alpha$ -Lytic Protease. After overnight digestion at 37°C, TFA was added to 1% final concentration. Any precipitate was removed by centrifugation at 1,780g for 15 min.

**Peptide Purification.** Purification of peptides was performed at room temperature on C18 reversed-phase columns. The columns were first conditioned by 100% ACN followed by 0.1% TFA, 50% ACN and then equalized by 0.1% TFA. The acidified and cleared digest were then loaded into column. After the wash with 0.1% TFA, the peptides were eluted from the column by 0.1% TFA, 50% CAN and dried using a SpeedVac.

Anti- K- $\epsilon$ -GG Peptide Enrichment and Fractionation. Before incubation, the beads were washed in pre-chilled PBS 4 times. The peptides were resuspended in IAP buffer (50 mM MOPS, pH 7.2, 10 mM sodium phosphate, 50 mM NaCl). The peptide solution was then added into the vial containing motif antibody beads and incubated on a rotator for 2 hr at 4°C. After incubation, the beads were washed with pre-chilled IAP buffer 2 times and HPLC grade water 3 times. The enriched peptides were eluted from the beads by 0.15% TFA and were separated into 3 fractions using an Ultimate 3000 nano UHPLC system (ThermoFisher Scientific, USA) with a trapping column (PepMap C18, 100Å, 100  $\mu$ m × 2 cm, 5  $\mu$ m) and an analytical column (PepMap C18, 100Å, 75  $\mu$ m × 50 cm, 2 $\mu$ m). A sample volume of 1  $\mu$ g was loaded along a mobile phase made of A: 0.1% formic acid in water; B: 0.1% formic acid in 80% acetonitrile. The total flow rate for 250 nL/min LC linear gradient was from 2 to 8% buffer B in 3 min, from 8% to 20% buffer B in 50 min, from 20% to 40% buffer B in 26 min, then from 40% to 90% buffer B in 4 min.

Analysis of Mass Spectrometry Data. The full scan was performed between 300-1,650 m/z at the resolution 60,000 at 200 m/z, the automatic gain control target for the full scan was set to 3e6. The MS/MS scan was operated in Top 20 mode using the following settings: resolution 15,000 at 200 m/z; automatic gain control target 1e5; maximum injection time 19ms; normalized collision energy at 28%; isolation window of 1.4 Th; charge sate exclusion: unassigned, 1, > 6; dynamic exclusion 30 s. Raw MS files were analyzed and searched against *Drosophila melanogaster* protein database based on the species of the samples using Maxquant (1.6.2.14). The parameters were set as follows: the protein modifications were Carbamidomethylation (C), oxidation (M) (variables), GlyGly(K); Lys-C  $\alpha$ -Lytic Protease was set as the enzyme for SUMO-proteomic analysis. The maximum missed cleavage was set to 4, the precursor ion mass

tolerance was set to 10 ppm, and MS/MS tolerance was 0.6 Da. The data was sorted by gene ontology enrichment analysis and categorized for molecular function and cellular components (geneontology.org).

# Results

To identify targets of dTopors sumoylation, I made use of the *FS* (*fsF114SX19*) mutant I recovered from the CRISPR-Cas9 experiment. This mutant was genetically confirmed to be a *dtopors null* allele and thus give me an opportunity to look for targets of sumoylation in the presence and absence of dTopors in the male germline. To identify such potential downstream targets of dTopors sumoylation I made lysates of whole testis dissected from *wildtype* and *FS* young adults and immunoprecipitated ubiquitinated peptides using antibodies directed against the diglycine-lysine remnant (K- $\varepsilon$ -GG) derived from digestion with  $\alpha$ -Lytic Protease. SUMO is conjugated to lysine residues of its target peptides by the -TGG (threonine-glycine-glycine) residue sequence, resulting in a SUMO-TGG-K bond.  $\alpha$ -Lytic Protease cleaves the bond between threonine and glycine, thus exposing an -GGK epitope for antibody binding and subsequent immunoprecipitation. Recovered immunoprecipitants were analyzed by tandem mass spectrometry (see Methods section).

I identified 59 differentially sumoylated peptides, of which 33 were upregulated (FC >1.5) and 14 were downregulated (FC<1/1.5) when compared to the *wildtype* (supplementary data). When sorted for molecular function, I found that all targets grouped into only two gene ontology groups, mRNA, and RNA binding (Figure 10). This suggests that the molecular function of dTopors sumoylation targets may be association with RNA.



# Figure 10. Gene Ontology Groups for Molecular Function of Targets with Altered Sumoylation.

When sorted for cellular components, the two largest ontology groups were ribosome and chromatin related (Figure 11), suggesting that there may be targets dTopors at the chromatin that are differentially sumoylated in the presence or absence of dTopors.

# Figure 11. Gene Ontology Groups for Cellular Components of Targets with Altered

**Sumoylation.** In the presence or absence of dTopors (A) and fold change of these GO groups(B).



To identify these targets, I performed additional analysis of the 59 peptides and chose candidates that had a 2-fold difference for both in up or down regulation. From these I selected a subset of sumoylated peptides candidates that were either present in wildtype but undetected in the mutant and those that were undetected in the wildtype but are present in the mutant. Peptides absent in the mutant precipitate but present in wildtype are the most likely direct targets of dTopors sumoylation, I will refer to these as dTopors-dependent targets of sumoylation. Peptides present in the mutant precipitate but absent in the wildtype suggest suppression of sumoylation by dTopors and I will refer to these as dTopors-suppressed targets of sumoylation. Interesting candidates in the dTopors-suppressed class include Su(var)3-7 in the Chromatin/Transcription associated ontology group and *smt3* and *Uba2* in the sumoylation associated group (Table 3).

Table 3. Gene Products Differentially Sumoyalted in <i>dtopors</i> .	(*sumoylated in the p	presence
and absence of dTopors, **sumoylated and ubiquitinated).		

Gene Ontology	dTopors-dependent	dTopors-suppressed
Chromatin/Transcription	Sap130, mle, CG9899	Su(var)3-7, Nipped-B, Saf-B**
Chromosome segregation	n/a	Plp
ER association	CG11190	n/a
Membrane association	CG9702, CG5549	RyR
Metabolism	CG8673, l(2)k01209	Sk2
<b>Ribosome/Translation</b>	Aats-glupro*	Aats-asp, Aats-glupro*,
		RpL13
<b>RNA</b> association	n/a	Sym, DIP1
Signaling	DIP2, Spn, l(2)01289	n/a
Sperm	n/a	heph**
Sumoylation	n/a	smt3, Uba2
Ubiquitin-mediated	n/a	RpL40
proteolysis		

SU(VAR)3-7 (Suppressor of variegation 3-7) associates with the heterochromatin and increased

expression triggers heterochromatin expansion and gene silencing (Cléard et al., 1997). PEV

(Position Effect Variegation) is enhanced by sumoylation of SU(VAR)3-7 (Reo et al., 2010) and here we show that in absence of dTopors, SU(VAR)3-7 is sumoylated, suggesting an indirect role of dTopors in the sumoylation pathway of SU(VAR)3-7. What this role is in SU(VAR)3-7sumoylation and how it affects PEV should be further investigated. Surprisingly, we also found two components of the sumoylation pathway *smt3* (Drosophila SUMO group) and Uba2 (Ubiquitin-like activating enzyme 2, SUMO E1 ligase) among the candidates of dToporssuppressed groups, suggesting that dTopors may be a regulator of the sumoylation pathway (Table 3).

Among the dTopors-dependent ontology groups, the Chromatin/Transcription group has three candidate genes, Sap 130, mle and CG9899 (Table 3). SAP130 (Sin3A-Associated Protein) is a subunit of the HDAC1-dependent Sin3A corepressor complex involved in transcriptional repression (Marshall et al., 2010). Human Sin3A was shown to be sumoylated by Topors (Pungaliya et al., 2007) and here I present evidence that the SAP130 subunit of the Drosophila Sin3A (dSin3A) complex is sumoylated in the presence of dTopors, suggesting that analogous to human Topors, dTopors may regulate sumoylation of the Sin3A complex in flies. CG9899 has not yet been fully described but based on its protein structure, it is predicted to enable the binding of RNA Polymerase II complex to DNA and thus facilitating transcription of target genes by RNA Pol II, and to associate with transcriptionally active chromatin by regulating histone H3-K4 methylation (FBgn0034829). The last gene in the Chromatin/Transcription group, *mle* (*maleless*), encodes a helicase and is a member of the MSL chromatin modifying complex (male-specific-lethal) responsible for X chromosome dosage compensation in male flies involving the two-fold increase of transcription of the X-chromosome genes (Kuroda et al., 1991). The presence of these in the Chromatin/Transcription associated dTopors-dependent

group supports dTopors' sumoylation role in chromatin structure remodeling and transcription regulation. In a similar experiment Pungaliya et al., found that chromatin-

modifying/transcriptional regulators to be the largest ontology for human Topors and showed that human Topors sumoylates Sin3A (Pungaliya et al., 2007). I did not find Sin3A itself in this screen nor p53 (Weger et al., 2005), however, I detected Saf-B which was also identified in the same screen by Pungaliya et al., as sumoylation target of TOPORS (Pungaliya et al., 2007). It is possible that Sin3A and p53 are not targets of sumoyaltion by dTopors in flies, or they may be present at levels below our level of detection.

I found only two targets for which both sumoylation and ubiquitination is regulated by dTopors, *heph (Hephaestus)* and *saf-B (Scaffold attachment factor B). Hephaestus* encodes the protein PTB (Polypyrimidine Tract-binding Protein), involved in spermatid individualization, and its male germline-specific expression is correlated with male fertility (M. Robida et al., 2010). In a *heph* mutant, spermatid differentiation is disrupted and cysts of elongated spermatids form without fully separated motile sperm (M. D. Robida & Singh, 2003). Our results show that PTB is modified on the same lysine residue K27, when ubiquitinated in the presence of dTopors or sumoylated in the absence of dTopors (**NIGVK(gl)RGSDELLS**). This suggests that dTopors regulates PTB ubiquitination, and in the absence of ubiquitination this residue may be sumoylated. Thus, these two modifications may be competing for the same residue and may result in alternative outcomes on PTB function.

Saf-B is the other protein differentially regulated by dTopors. Human and mouse studies showed that Saf-B binds to SAR/MAR (Scaffold/Matrix Attachment Region) sequences on chromosomes (Renz & Fackelmayer, 1996) and aides the assembly of a transcriptosome complex for actively transcribed genes, i.e. Hsp27 (heatshock protein 27) (Weighardt, et al.,

74

1999). Chromatid interactions with SAR/MAR link the chromosomes to the nuclear scaffold and serve as attachment points for nuclear matrix tethering (Nayler et al., 1998). Saf-B is also an estrogen receptor corepressor (Townson et al., 2000) and has been implicated in breast cancer tumorigenesis (Oesterreich, 2003; Townson et al., 2000). Pungaliya et al., also detected Saf-B2 (SAF-B paralog) as a target of dTopors sumovlation in an *in vitro* assay when searching for Topors sumoylation targets (Pungaliya et al., 2007). The Drosophila homolog of Saf-B contains all conserved domains and motifs of the human Saf-B, it is a component of the nuclear matrix important for connecting the nuclear matrix to gene expression (Alfonso-Parra & Maggert, 2010). Drosophila Saf-B (dSAF-B) localizes in intranuclear punctate spots and interacts with RNA polymerase II and with SR (serine-arginine-rich) proteins (Nayler et al., 1998; Nikolakaki et al., 2001). Akin to Heph, Saf-B is also ubiquitinated in the presence of dTopors and is sumoylated in the absence of dTopors, however, in contrary to Heph where both modifications happen at the same lysine residue, Saf-B modifications target different lysine residues (K341-VIGAK(gl)VVTNTR for dTopors-dependent ubiquitination; K89-IK(gl)EEPIDANEEEVK(gl)V for dTopors-suppressed sumoylation.

# Discussion

Chromatin modifications are critical regulators of gene expression. Histone acetylation is addition of an acetyl group to a histone lysines by HATs (Histone Acetyl Transferases) generally leading to open chromatin, while deacetylation by HDACs removes the acetyl group and closes the chromatin structure. These processes make genes either accessible or inaccessible for transcription. HATs and HDACs are also SUMO modified, affecting localization and/or function of these enzymes (Girdwood et al., 2003; Kirsh et al., 2002; David et al., 2002). One of the proteins we found to be sumoylated in the presence of dTopors is SAP130 (Sin3A-Associated Protein), a subunit of the HDAC1-dependent Sin3A corepressor complex involved in transcriptional repression (Marshall et al., 2010). The Sin3A complex localizes to the PML body where along with other corepressors recruits HDAC1 and interacts with PML and initiate transcriptional repression (Khan et al., 2001). In HeLa cells, Topors also localizes to PML-NBs via PML protein binding (Rasheed et al., 2002) and sumoylates Sin3A (Pungaliya et al., 2007). . In vitro sumoylation assays with human Topors found many targets of dTopors mediated sumoylation of proteins involved in chromatin modification and transcriptional regulation, including Sin3A (Pungaliya et al., 2007). Although I did not find the fly homolog of Sin3A in my screen, I found evidence that the SAP130 subunit of the Drosophila Sin3A (dSin3A) complex is sumoylated in the presence of dTopors. This suggests that dTopors may regulate the dSin3A complex in flies by sumoylation of its subunit SAP130.

Sumoylation also contributes to chromatin modifications and regulates phenotypes associated with heterochromatic silencing, such as PEV, which may be suppressed by SUMO modification of Su(var)2-10 (Hari et al., 2001) or enhanced by sumoylation of SU(VAR)3-7 (Reo et al., 2010). *SU(VAR)3-7 (Suppressor of variegation 3-7)* that associates with the heterochromatin and increased expression triggers heterochromatin expansion and gene silencing (Cléard et al., 1997). In flies, *SU(VAR)3-7* interacts with *mle* and these proteins mutually suppress each other (Spierer et al., 2008). The morphology of the X chromosome is sensitive to amounts of SU(VAR)3-7 expressed, and changes in SU(VAR)3-7 expression levels affect H4K16 acetylation patterns (Spierer et al., 2008). Acetylation of Histone 4 enhances its sumoylation (Shiio & Eisenman, 2003) and the attached SUMO groups may lead to transcriptional repression (Spierer et al., 2008). Our screen revealed that *mle* is sumoylated in the presence of dTopors suggesting that it may be a potential direct target of dTopors. Given that MLE and SU(VAR)3-7 are mutually repressive, it is interesting to note that one is sumoylated in the presence of dTopors (*mle*) while the other is sumoylated in the absence of dTopors (*SU*(*VAR*)3-7)). An explanation could be that when dTopors is present, MLE is sumoylated and represses SU(VAR)3-7. Changes in SU(VAR)3-7 expression levels affect H4K16 acetylation, thus altering chromatin structure affecting gene transcription. CG9899 is also sumoylated in presence of dTopors and although it has not yet been fully described, it is predicted to associate with transcriptionally active chromatin by regulating histone H3-K4 methylation (FBgn0034829). Taken together these results support the role of dTopors in regulating chromatin structure and transcription regulation in flies.

Among the candidates sumoylated in the absence of dTopors were the SUMO-1 ligase Uba2 and Drosophila SUMO encoded by *smt3*. It was surprising to find that in the absence of dTopors two components of the sumoylation pathway are sumoylated. It is possible that dTopors may prevent sumoylation of Uba2 and of SUMO by ubiquitinating upstream targets, thus regulating of the sumoylation pathway.

#### Can dTopors Regulate Sumoylation and Ubiquitination of the Same Targets?

Automodification by SUMO can interfere with an E3 ligase's activity as is the case of Mdm2, a RING finger E3 ubiquitin ligase and oncoprotein. Mdm2 regulates p53 levels by directly ubiquitinating p53 for degradation or by ubiquitinating itself to stabilize p53 levels (Haupt et al., 1997; Honda & Yasuda, n.d.; Kubbutat et al., 1997). The SUMO E2 conjugating ligase, Ubc9 (*lesswright*), sumoylates Mdm2, thus causing a competition with Mdm2's auto-ubiquitination. This leads to increased Mdm2 levels and thus to increased p53 ubiquitination (Buschmann et al., 2000). In a different case, Topors automodifications can act as binary switch function and influence its own activities. This is evident in Topors regulation of p53 alternatively

by ubiquitination and sumoylation. When Topors is phosphorylated, p53 sumoylation is downregulated and p53 ubiquitination is induced (Müller et al., 2000; Yang et al., 2009). Topors ubiquitinates (Rajendra et al., 2004) and sumoylates (Shinbo et al., 2005; Weger et al., 2005) *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

In this screen we identified two proteins, PTB and SAF-B, for which sumoylation and ubiquitination are both regulated by dTopors. Both PTB and Saf-B are ubiquitinated in the presence of dTopors and sumovlated in the absence of dTopors, however, whereas in PTB both modifications occur at the same lysine residue (K27), SAF-B modifications target different lysine residues (K341 for ubiquitination; K89 for sumoylation). Targeting of the same residue suggests competing post-translational modifications, perhaps due to differential regulation of targets in different pathways. It is possible that sumoylation stabilizes the protein by preventing its ubiquitination. Ubiquitination of the protein may ensure turnover after its function during spermatid individualization has been completed. In an *in vitro* screen for Topors sumoylation targets in human cells, Pungaliya et al., also detected SAF-B2 (SAF-B paralog). In humans, SAF-B interacts with its paralog SAF-B2 to bind to the estrogen receptor and suppress  $ER\alpha$ expression (Chan et al., 2007; Hashimoto et al., 2012; Oesterreich, 2003), and they are also involved with alternative splicing complexes (Sergeant et al., 2007). dTopors mediated SAF-B modifications at different lysine residues (342K for ubiquitination; 90K for sumoylation) supports the idea of differential regulation of this protein. This is important because human SAF-B binds to DNA and regulates many genes (Hammerich-Hille et al., 2010), suggesting of a direct link between nuclear matrix and chromosomes. Based on dSAF-B localization, its DNA binding domain (SAP-BOX), its RNA recognition motif (RRM) and its interaction with RNA pol II, Alphonso-Parra et al., proposed that dSAF-B links the nuclear matrix to chromosomes and

influences transcriptional activity (Alfonso-Parra & Maggert, 2010). Ubiquitination of SAF-B in the presence of dTopors would suggests a role for dTopors at the nuclear matrix and transcription.

While the mass spec screen revealed some interesting targets for dTopors sumoylation, they are only preliminary results, and these interactions must be confirmed by direct biochemical tests of sumoylation to determine if dTopors can act as an E3 SUMO ligase. My work identifying potential sumoylation targets provided candidate substrates for such experiments.

# CHAPTER IV: IDENTIFICATION OF E2 UBIQUITIN LIGASE PARTNERS OF DTOPORS Introduction

Ubiquitin is a small regulatory peptide found everywhere in eukaryotic tissues. As a form of post-translational modification, Ubiquitin (Ub) is covalently attached to a target protein, altering the protein's function or destiny. Ubiquitin is highly conserved among many species, however, the number of genes coding for Ub varies (Ozkaynak et al., 1984; Wiborg et al., 1985). In humans, four genes (UBB, UBC, UBA52 and RPS27A) code for Ub (Kimura & Tanaka, 2010), while in D. melanogaster there are two genes Ubi-p5E (X chromosome) and DmUbip63E (chromosome 3), and three additional genes coding for ribosomal proteins with tandem repeats of Ub (RpL40, RpS27A and RpS30), from which, the Ub groups are produced via posttranslational cleavage (Barrio et al., 1994; Spradling et al., 1999). Ub conjugation is a major pathway of protein degradation, and it involves three types of enzymes: a Ubiquitin activating enzyme (E1), a Ubiquitin conjugating enzyme (E2) and a Ubiquitin ligase (E3). In humans there is only one E1 ubiquitin activating enzyme known to date (Uba1) shared by all E2 ligases, while there are about 40 E2 and over 600 E3 ligases (Hou et al., 2012; W. Li et al., 2008). D. *melanogaster* also has a single E1 ubiquitinating enzyme (Uba1), that interacts with 28 E2 ligases and about 150 E3 ligases. However, one of the E2 ligases, Taf1 (TBP-associated factor 1) can function as an E1 or E2 ligase. Taf1 encodes a component of the evolutionarily conserved general transcription factor TFIID and also acts as a HAT (Histone Acetyl Transferase). There are different types of E2 enzymes: Ubc and UEV. Ubc type E2 ligases catalyze the attachment of polyubiquitin chains to proteins which marks them for degradation, while UEV type E2 ligases attach polyubiquitin chains to proteins but these do not automatically cause target degradation

(Pickart, 2000). E3 ligases fall into three categories depending on their enzymatic domains: RING (Really Interesting New Gene, domain located near the N terminus of protein), HECT (Homologous to the E6-AP Carboxyl Terminus, domain located at the C terminus of protein), and U-box (an E4 ligase and ubiquitin chain elongation factors, mediate ubiquitination in absence of HECT and RING ligases, or elongate chains previously set up by RING or HECT E3 ligases).

Ubiquitination is a three-step process and starts with the ATP-mediated activation of Ub via E1 ubiquitin ligase. This step is then followed by conjugation of Ub to an E2 conjugating enzyme, which then complexes with an E3 ligase. The E3 ligase recognizes the substrate and catalyzes the Ub transfer to a lysine residue on the target protein, causing its degradation by the 26S proteosome (Wilkinson et al., 1995). The ubiquitination process may repeat itself and some targets may become polyubiquitinated like HDAC1 by IFIXalpha (Yamaguchi et al., 2008) and p53 by the histone acetyltransferase p300 and CBP (CREB-binding protein) (Grossman et al., 1998, 2003; Lill et al., 1997). Polyubiquination is a conserved aspect of targeting proteins for degradation, and also occurs in Drosophila (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). Generally, Ub groups are attached to lysine residues, and the exact location of the lysine to which a ubiquitin chain is added can be a decisive factor in determining the proteins fate. Ubiquitin groups are linked into a chain through the K48 residue and polyubiquitination leads to 26S proteasome mediated degradation, while polyubiquitination through K63 regulates signaling (Thrower et al., 2000). Although ubiquitination is mostly utilized to mark proteins for degradation via the 26S proteasome, ubiquitination is also involved in many other cellular processes, most notably the DNA damage response, NF-κB signaling pathway and cancer.

### Dual E3 Ubiquitin SUMO-1 Ligase Topors is Implicated in Cancer

E3 ligases have pleiotropic roles in a variety of tissues and due to their ubiquitin ligase activity, many of them are implicated in different types of cancer. Topors, a E3 ligase with a RING domain, is expressed in both soma and germline, and was the first Ub ligase identified to also have SUMO-1 ligase activity (Chu et al., 2001; Rajendra et al., 2004; Weger et al., 2003). The RING domain has been shown to be required for DNA-binding and ubiquitin ligase activity (Rajendra et al., 2004) but not for sumoylating activity (Weger et al., 2003). The complexity of Topors enzymatic activity is not yet fully understood. The expression levels of Topors differ in various cancers suggesting alternate targets, tissue specificity or possibly different E2 ligase interactions. In colon adenocarcinomas, *topors* expression is downregulated, however, when upregulated, *topors* halts the cell cycle, trapping cells in G0/G1 phase, suggesting a possible role as a tumor suppressor (Saleem et al., 2004). In prostate cancer, *topors* is overexpressed and ubiquitinates the tumor suppressor NKX3-1 for proteasomal degradation (Guan et al., 2008), while in ovarian cancer elevated levels of TOPORS-AS1 showed disruption of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway and correlated to more favorable disease outcome (Fu et al., 2021).

# dTopors Role in Drosophila Soma and Male Germline

In flies, E3 RING ligases are involved in protein turnover, thus regulating many pathways in the cell. For instance, the E3 RING ubiquitin ligase Bre1 monoubiquitinates H2B and influences the transcription of RNA pol II mediated transcription of genes (Bray et al., 2005). dTopors, which is also an E3 RING ligase (Haluska, 1999b; Rasheed et al., 2002), is involved in early embryonic patterning as it regulates the transcriptional repressor Hairy (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). In wildtype embryos, Hairy in concert with several cofactors (including dTopors), regulates the repression of Fushi tarazu (*ftz*) gene, resulting in seven stripes during early development (Dearolf et al., 1989; Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). In a transheterozygous *hairy* mutant, *ftz* is only partially repressed and the stripes are wider (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). Dosage reduction of dTopors in the *hairy* transheterozygous mutant improves the stripes, suggesting that polyubiquitination of Hairy by dTopors causes degradation of Hairy, thus improving *ftz* expression (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004).

When compared to its human homolog, dTopors possesses many similarities structurally and functionally, however, there are also some important differences in their targets and subcellular localizations. In flies, dTopors colocalizes with Lamins (Dm0 and C) at the nuclear lamina in both spermatocytes (Matsui et al., 2011) and in somatic cells (Capelson & Corces, 2005), whereas a laminar localization of human Topors is not observed (Haluska, 1999a; Rasheed et al., 2002; Weger et al., 2003). At the somatic nuclear lamina, dTopors colocalizes with components of the *gypsy* insulator complex and is required for proper insulator function, but does not ubiquitinate insulator components, suggesting an alternative function for dTopors at the insulator complex (Capelson & Corces, 2005). In spermatocytes dTopors also accumulates in punctate intranuclear spots (Matsui et al., 2011) that may be analogous to Topors accumulation in PML bodies in humans (Rasheed et al., 2002).

Analogous to human Topors, dTopors ubiquitination activity requires its RING domain (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). Secombe et al., (2004) created a ubiquitin null mutant (*His*<sub>6</sub>*dTopors*<sup>C102A</sup>) and tested ubiquitin ligase activity of dTopors in the presence of both E1 and the human E2 enzyme UbcH5a. Ubiquitin chains formed in the presence of His<sub>6</sub>-dTopors but none with His<sub>6</sub>-dToporsC102A, confirming that dTopors ubiquitin ligase activity requires the RING domain (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004).

My research shows that the nuclear morphology phenotype and chromosome segregation phenotype seems to have disparate responses to distinct *topors* mutations, both the hypomorph Df(114-118) and the ubiquitin null C102A had extensive nuclear blebbing, while chromosome NDJ was significantly different, raising the possibility of separate targets, and perhaps involvement of distinct E2s. Could the nuclear structure and chromosome segregation defects result from dTopors ubiquitinating different targets and using different E2 ligases? Generally, E3-E2 interactions are determined by specificity of an E2 to an E3, however, a single E2 can interact with different E3 ligases, as seen with Ube2D/UbcH5 and the ubiquitination of a target depends on which E3 is chosen by an E2 (Ye & Rape, 2009). E2s utilize different residues to recognize various E3s, and additional components unique to certain E2s may increase specificity towards an E3 ligase (Ye & Rape, 2009). In flies, the only E2 ligase to date shown to interact with dTopors *in vitro* was UbcH5a, the human version of the fly E2 conjugating enzyme UbcD1 (effete) (Capelson & Corces, 2005; Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004), while human Topors appears to be promiscuous and interacts with more than one E2 ligase (UbcH5a, UbcH5c and UbcH6) (Rajendra et al., 2004). However, it is unclear if these interactions are biologically meaningful as proteins were present in high concentrations in each of these assays and do not reveal which interactions are relevant in vivo with respect to developmental and/or tissue specificities. Are there other E2 ligases that would interact with dTopors and would their tissue- and temporalspecific expression patterns determine the nature of these interactions with dTopors?

#### Aim of Study

It is not known which E2 ligases dTopors interacts with *in vivo* and in different developmental and tissue-specific contexts. In this study, we aimed to identify which E2 ligases are required *in vivo* for meiotic chromosome segregation and/or for proper nuclear structure. To

achieve this, we knocked down the expression of several E2 ligases in the male germ using RNAi and observed effects on meiotic chromosome segregation and spermatocyte nuclear structure. As a secondary screen, we assayed deletions of E2 ligase genes for their ability to dominantly enhance the phenotypes of Df(114-118). This allele behaves as a hypomorph with respect to chromosome segregation, and we speculate that the phenotype may result from a partial disruption of its interaction with an E2 ligase. Thus, enhancement of the mutant phenotype might be expected if the abundance of the relevant interacting E2 were reduced by 50%. We also developed an assay to quantify the severity of the nuclear blebbing phenotype to test if a similar enhancement might be observed.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Drosophila Stocks

Drosophila were reared at room temperature on a standard diet of cornmeal, molasses, agar, and yeast with propionic acid and tegosept added to prevent mold. Fly stocks were purchased from Bloomington Drosophila Stock Center at Indiana University (BDSC, NIH P400D018537) and from Vienna Drosophila Resource Center (VDRC, <u>www.vdrc.at)</u>. The following stocks were obtained from BDSC and are described on Flybase (http://flybase.bio.indiana.edu): BDSC6998 P{GawB}T110 (T110), BDSC6998(nanos), P{bam-GAL4:VP16}1, BDSC6978 P{GawB}C135 (C135), BDSC28721 P{TRiP.JF03148}attP2 (ben), BDSC35431 P{TRiP.GL00355}attP2 (effete), BDSC77416 P{TRiP.HMC06548}attP2 (Ubc6), BDSC76066 P{TRiP.HMS05878}attP2 (Uba1), BDSC67934 P{TRiP.HMS05766}attP40 (Taf1), BDSC35489 P{TRiP.GL00418}attP2 (CG4502), BDSC51410 P{TRiP.GLC01776}attP40 (UbcE2H), BDSC51681 P{TRiP.GLC01774}attP40 (CG2924), BDSC51687 P{TRiP.GLC01787}attP40 (CG10254), BDSC51814 P{TRiP.HMC03385}attP2 (Bruce), BDSC64032 P{TRiP.HMS05368}attP40 (CG40045), BDSC64035

P{TRiP.HMS05371}attP40 (Ubc4), BDSC(65871 P{TRiP.GLC01873}attP40 (CG8188). VDRC stocks used in the RNAi crosses were described by Dietzl et al [Nature 448,151-156,12 Jul 2007] and are listed as: VDR105725 P{KK107231}VIE-260B (CG2574), VDR104207 P{KK104360}VIE-260B (CG3473), VDR100099 P{KK103640}VIE-260B (CG5440), VDR108292 P{KK101280}VIE-260B (CG5823), VDR104478 P{KK109208}VIE-260B (CG7220), VDR100791P{KK108673}VIE-260B (CG7656), VDR101113 P{KK106941}VIE-260B (CG10862), VDR105594 P{KK105908}VIE-260B (CG14739), VDR108804 P{KK107234}VIE-260B (CG17030), VDR101755 P{KK109433}VIE-260B (CG46338), VDR330352 P{KK109433}VIE-260B (Ubc2), VDR104440 P{KK108858}VIE-260B (Ubc7), VDR100570 P{KK108273}VIE-260B (Ubc10), VDR106363 P{KK110243}VIE-260B (Ubc84D), VDR102641 P{KK103525}VIE-260B (Ubc87F), VDR107720 P{KK102343}VIE-260B (vihar).

#### RNAi Mediated Knockdown of E2 Ubiquitin Conjugating Enzymes in the Male Germline

Test males (*GAL4/RNAi-E2 ligase*) were generated bearing one of four different Gal4 drivers and a UAS-RNAi construct targeting an E2 ligase. In this system, the transcription factor GAL4 is cloned downstream of a tissue-specific promoter (either bam, nanos, T110 or C135) to allow for expression of GAL4 at different stages during spermatogenesis while the RNAi hairpin repeat is cloned downstream of a the Gal4 binding Upstream Activating Sequence (UAS).

**Cytological Assessment of Nondisjunction and Nuclear Structure.** To identify E2 ligases that may affect chromosome segregation and/or nuclear structure, testes of five young *GAL4/RNAi-E2 ligase* test males were dissected and one testis per slide was mounted under a coverslip in 3 μl of Schneider's tissue culture medium. The slides were immediately observed

under Nikon Eclipse E600 phase microscope and were assessed for the presence of unevenly sized nuclei, micronuclei (indicating NDJ) and blebs.

**Genetics Tests of Fourth Chromosome Segregation.** *GAL4/RNAi-E2 ligase* test males were crossed to *y w sn; C(4)ciey* females to detect fourth chromosome NDJ as *spa* progeny produced from *diplo-4* sperm or *ci ey* progeny from *nullo-4* sperm. I counted at least 200 progeny per line from at least 10 fathers for each of the drivers.

#### Genetic Assays of Meiotic Chromosome Segregation

Deficiencies of E2 ligase positives previously identified in the RNAi screen were crossed into *dtoporsDf(114-118)* and stocks were made as yw/y+Y; *Df(114-118)/CyO;Df(\*)/TM3 Ser*, where (\*) stands for an E2 deficiency. These stocks were made for the following deficiencies: *Df(7635)*, *Df(7622)*, *Df(7582)*, *Df(9076)*, *Df(8959)*, *Df(26836)* and *Taf1<sup>1</sup>red<sup>1</sup>e<sup>1</sup>* (BDSC5300). Null alleles of E2 ligases located on chromosome 2 were recombined with *dtoporsDf(114-118)* and made into stocks: rec*Df(114-118)+P{lacW}Ubc2[k13206]/CyO*, *recDf(114-118)+P{GT1}Ubc10[BG00902]/CyO*, and *recDf(114-118)+P{lacW}Uba1[s3484]/CyO*. To monitor sex and fourth chromosome NDJ, *yw/y+Y; spa* males either homozygous or heterozygous for the alleles above were mated to *y w sn; C(4)ciey* females. Normal progeny consisted of y+ w males and y w females, while progeny from sex chromosome NDJ was detected as either *y w sn* males (*nullo-XY*, which received no paternal sex chromosome) or as *y*+ *w* females (*diplo-XY*, which received both paternal X and Y chromosomes). Fourth chromosome NDJ was detected as *spa* progeny produced from *diplo-4* sperm or *ci ey* progeny from *nullo-4* sperm.

#### Cytological Analysis of the Spermatocyte Nuclear Phenotype

To identify E2 ligases that modified the *dtopors* nuclear phenotype, testes of young males yw/y+Y; *spa* either homozygous Df(114-118), and heterozygous for  $Df(E2 \ ligase)$  were dissected and one testis per slide was mounted under a coverslip in 3 µl of Schneider's tissue culture medium. The slides were immediately observed under Nikon Eclipse E600 phase microscope and images of S5-S6 spermatocytes were taken using a Moticam X3 WiFi color camera (Motic Scientific). Images were collected from at least 10 individual males per genotype and at least 200 cells were assessed for the presence of blebs.

#### Results

A screen was performed using RNAi-mediated knockdown of E2 ligases to identify those involved in both male meiotic chromosome segregation and/or in spermatocyte nuclear structure. It was expected that knockdown of an E2 conjugating enzyme important for dTopors-mediated ubiquitination would result in a phenocopy of a *dtopors* mutant. In other words, I would observe defects in meiotic chromosome segregation and/or in nuclear structure. As it was not known *a priori* when dTopors activity is required, GAL4 drivers were selected to cause RNAi knockdown of these ligases at different times during spermatogenesis. The drivers *nanos* and *bam* are germline specific, and express specifically in stem cells (nanos) or in gonial cells and early prophase spermatocytes. While *T110* and *C135* are not germline -specific, they are useful candidates for temporal expression of E2 ligases at different times during meiotic prophase. T110 expresses in the early spermatocytes (S1-S2) and C135 expresses late spermatocytes (S3-S6) (Arya et al., 2006). I used three *dtopors* RNAi lines as controls to test whether this approach was effective (Table 4). As an indication of NDJ, I expected to see micronuclei and uneven sized nuclei in spermatids (onion cells). If an E2 was necessary for nuclear structure, I expected

nuclear blebbing in spermatocytes. One RNAi line was tested for most E2 ligases, and I also included a line for Uba1 (the sole E1 ubiquitin ligase).

Cytological analysis of spermatocyte nuclei for each of the *GAL4/RNAi-E2 ligase* test lines failed to reveal blebbing, except for the *dtopors* control lines. NDJ, however, was produced in several different tests. In addition to these cytological assays, we assessed 4<sup>th</sup> chromosome NDJ frequency genetically for all drivers */RNAi-E2 ligase* combinations. I identified several lines that gave 4<sup>th</sup> chromosome NDJ with at least one of the driver lines, and some lines (*dtopors*, *Bruce, CG10862, CG17030, vihar, CG4502, Ubc4, CG3473, CG2574*) had NDJ with more than one driver, and only *dtopors, Bruce, CG10862,* and *Ubc87F* had NDJ significantly above the background level of 0.5% (Table 4).

Table 4. Results of Fourth Chromosome Nondisjunction from RNAi Knockdown of E2Ubiquitin Ligase Expression in the Male Germ Line. Gal4 Drivers Indicated in TableBelow.

Gal4 Driver		Bam	Bam	Nanos	Nanos	T110	<i>T110</i>	<i>C135</i>	<i>C135</i>
Stocks	UAS- RNAi	Total flies	% 4 <sup>th</sup> ndj						
BDSC34671	dtopors	50	2.00	256	0.00	251	0.00	284	0.35
BDSC10642	dtopors	220	0.46	350	0.29	239	0.00	231	0.00
BDSC31091	dtopors	429	0.23	168	0.00	523	0.00	152	0.00
BDSC51814	Bruce	716	1.40	391	0.00	786	0.13	591	0.00
VDR101113	CG10862	563	0.36	407	0.74	298	0.00	346	0.00
VDR102641	Ubc87F	218	0.00	256	0.00	478	0.63	552	0.00
VDR10884	CG17030	724	0.14	351	0.00	350	0.00	575	0.52
VDR104440	Ubc7	276	0.00	268	0.00	360	0.00	396	0.51
BDSC35431	effete	0	sterile	317	0.00	258	0.00	392	0.26
BDSC77416	Ubc6	0	sterile	279	0.00	lethal		lethal	

BDSC67934	Tafl	0	sterile	251	0.00	lethal		lethal	
BDSC76066	Uba1	0	sterile	262	0.00	lethal		lethal	
VDR100570	Ubc10	281	0.00	258	0.00	276	0.00	674	0.45
VDR330352	Ubc2	285	0.00	261	0.00	262	0.00	256	0.39
VDR107720	vihar	460	0.43	507	0.39	262	0.00	256	0.00
BDSC35489	CG4502	468	0.43	460	0.22	355	0.00	272	0.00
BDSC64035	Ubc4	306	0.33	230	0.00	478	0.42	226	0.00
VDR104207	CG3473	681	0.15	247	0.00	301	0.00	565	0.35
VDR105725	CG2574	245	0.00	573	0.17	307	0.00	431	0.23
VDR108292	CG5823	283	0.00	294	0.00	300	0.00	453	0.22
VDR101755	cbx	286	0.00	266	0.00	399	0.00	488	0.20
VDR100099	CG5440	447	0.00	338	0.00	358	0.00	512	0.20
VDR105594	CG14739	339	0.00	258	0.00	280	0.00	552	0.18
BDSC35476	Ubc6	422	0.00	260	0.00	604	0.17	359	0.00
VDR104478	CG7220	386	0.00	331	0.00	573	0.17	313	0.00
BDSC51687	CG10254	379	0.00	224	0.00	407	0.00	614	0.16
VDR100791	CG7656	380	0.00	307	0.00	331	0.00	924	0.11
BDSC28721	ben	267	0.00	375	0.00	322	0.00	457	0.00
BDSC35314	Tafl	204	0.00	239	0.00	364	0.00	324	0.00
BDSC51410	UbcE2H	370	0.00	312	0.00	391	0.00	400	0.00
BDSC51681	CG2924	430	0.00	292	0.00	375	0.00	323	0.00
BDSC64032	CG40045	283	0.00	349	0.00	464	0.00	320	0.00
BDSC65871	CG8188	224	0.00	258	0.00	285	0.00	290	0.00
VDR106363	Ubc 84D	321	0.00	350	0.00	303	0.00	275	0.00

These genetic tests were largely consistent with our cytological observations but were likely more sensitive at detecting NDJ, as NDJ of the tiny fourth chromosome is not apparent

cytologically. Thus, it was not surprising that we found additional lines that caused NDJ by these genetic tests. Knockdown of an E2 ligase that results in NDJ suggests its importance in chromosome segregation, but not necessarily through a dTopors pathway. Thus, each of these were candidates to be part of the dTopors pathway, but an additional assay would be necessary to determine which were. From all the GAL4/RNAi-E2 ligase lines tested with all drivers, Bruce (BIR repeat containing ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme) had the highest frequency of fourth chromosome NDJ. I also observed four lines (*effete*, *Ubc6*, *Taf1*, and *Uba1*) which were sterile with the *bam* driver. In addition, RNAi against Taf1, Uba1 and Ubc6 was lethal when expressed via T110 and C135 drivers. As the T110 and C135 are not germline-specific, the lethality reflects essential functions for these E2 ligases in the soma. Generally, homozygous mutant alleles of these lines are expected to be either lethal or sterile. I dissected the lines that were sterile when RNAi was driven by bam GAL4 and found no cytological evidence for NDJ nor nuclear blebbing for Uba1, Ubc6 or effete knockdowns. I detected an unusual phenotype in Taf1, Uba1 and Ubc6 which had mostly spermatocytes with only a few weak sperm tails, suggesting that these were important for progression through meiosis. To identify those that might be dTopors-related, I tested a subset of the initial NDJ screen positives for enhancement of the *dtopors* hypmorphic allele, Df(114-118). I generated males heterozygous for deficiencies of both Bruce and effete and either homozygous or heterozygous for Df(114-118). These were tested in genetic assays for fourth and sex chromosome NDJ (Table 5). The Df(114-118); +/Ser RING hypomorph was chosen because my previous results showed relatively high levels of blebbing and at the same time reduced levels of chromosome segregation defects, especially for chromosome four which was reduced to near wildtype levels. I expected that a reduction of the E2 ligase levels would exacerbate the NDJ defect of the hypomorph if the E2 interacts with dTopors in the germline.

For controls I used *Df(114-118); +/TM3 Ser* homozygous and heterozygous *Df(114-118)/CyO;* +/*TM3 Ser* (see Methods).

Table 5. Sex and Fourth Chromosome Disjunctional Data from Crosses of *y*/*y*+*Y*; *dtopors*; *Df*(*E2 ligase*)/+; *spa<sup>pol</sup>* Males to *y w sn*; *C*(*4*)*RM ci ey*/0 Females

				X/Y;			Х;	<i>Y;</i>	0;	0;	X/Y;	X/Y;	
Recovered male gametes	Y; 4	X; 4	0; 4	4	X; 0	Y; 0	4/4	4/4	0	4/4	0	4/4	Total
$Df(dtopors^{AA})$	16	15	12	12	4	7	2	10	15	8	2	2	105
<i>Df(dtopors</i> <sup>114-118</sup> ); +/ <i>Ser</i>	171	377	38	9	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	596
Df(dtopors <sup>114-118</sup> );Df(Bruce)/Ser	279	508	99	22	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	910
Df(dtopors <sup>114-118</sup> );Df(effete)/Ser	329	567	157	53	2	6	3	2	2	4	0	2	1127
Df(dtopors <sup>AA</sup> )/CyO	206	342	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	550
Df(dtopors <sup>114-118</sup> )/CyO; +/Ser	373	547	1	1	0	2	2	0	0	0	0	0	926
Df(dtopors <sup>114-118</sup> )/CyO;Df(Bruce)/Ser	168	288	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	457
Df(dtopors <sup>114-118</sup> )/CyO;Df(effete)/Ser	54	79	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	133

	Nullo	Diplo	Nullo	Diplo		
% Nondisjunction	XY	XY	4	4	XY	4
Df(dtoporsAA)	33.3	15.2	26.7	21	48.5	47.7
<i>Df(dtopors114-118);</i> +/ <i>Ser</i>	6.5	1.5	0.2	0.0	8.1	0.2
Df(dtopors114-118);Df(Bruce)/Ser	10.9	2.4	0.1	0.1	13.3	0.2
Df(dtopors114-118);Df(effete)/Ser	14.5	4.9	0.9	1.0	19.3	1.9
Df(dtoporsAA)/CyO	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.4
Df(dtopors114-118)/CyO; +/Ser	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.4
Df(dtopors114- 118)/CyO;Df(Bruce)/Ser	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.2
Df(dtopors114- 118)/CyO;Df(effete)/Ser	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

I found that both the  $Df(Bruce \ and \ the \ Df(effete)$  each significantly increased sex chromosome NDJ in Df(114-118) males. For the Df(Bruce), sex chromosome NDJ was significant (p=0.0015 at p<0.05), while no significant difference was found for the fourth chromosome NDJ (p=0.9313 at p<0.05). For the Df(effete), both sex and fourth chromosome NDJ were significant (p < .00001 and p=0.005477 at p<0.05, respectively). I further analyzed these deficiencies for cytological enhancement of Df(114-118). Testes of Df(114-118); Df(Bruce)/TM3 Ser and Df(114-118); Df(effete)/TM3 Ser were dissected and compared to those of the *RING* hypomorph Df(114-118) alone and to those form the control

wildtype and the dtopors deficiency null allele (Df(dtopors<sup>AA</sup>)). I assayed NDJ in form of

micronuclei in the onion stage spermatids, and nuclear blebbing in S5-S6 spermatocytes (Figure

12).

**Figure 12. Phase-Contrast Images of S5-S6 Spermatocytes and Onion Stage Spermatid Nuclei.** Genotypes are indicated above each column. Arrows indicate unequally sized nuclei and micronuclei resulting from nondisjunction.



I saw a few micronuclei in *Df*(114-118);*Df*(*Bruce*)/*TM3* Ser, almost none in the *hypomorph*, and very high amounts in the *null*. Interestingly, *Df*(114-118); *Df*(effete)/*TM3* Ser had also very high frequencies of NDJ, comparable to the *null*, which might explain the low fertility of *Df*(114-

*118); Df(effete)/TM3 Ser* males. Furthermore, in each of the mutants I saw extensive blebbing and both *Df(Bruce)* and *Df(effete)* appeared to enhance the frequency of nuclear blebbing over that of the hypomorph or the null (Figure 12).

Figure 13. Percent Blebbing and Sex and Fourth NDJ in Df(114-188);Df(E2)/Ser Males. Blebbing assessed by the frequency of S5-S6 spermatocyte nuclei with visible herniations using phase microscopy. NS = Not significant. \*p <0.1, \*\*\* p < 0.00001.



To quantitate the blebbing phenotype, I dissected testes of at least ten males and scored at least 200 S5-S6 spermatocyte nuclei per genotype. I found a significant increase of the blebbing in both Df(114-118);Df(Bruce)/TM3 Ser and Df(114-118); Df(effete)/TM3 when compared to the Df(114-118); +/Ser hypomorph (p<0.00001 for both) and to  $Df(dtopors^{AA})$  deficiency (p<0.00001 for both) (Figure 12). There was no significant difference in percent blebbing between the hypomorph and the null.

#### Discussion

The aim was to identify potential E2 ligases as interaction partners of dTopors in male meiosis. To identify E2 ligases involved in chromosome segregation, we knocked down E2 ligase expression by RNAi in the germ line using germline-specific drivers which expressed at specific times of spermatogenesis. I identified several E2 lines with fourth chromosome NDJ and four lines where RNAi caused either sterility or lethality for the offspring. I expected to see nuclear blebbing in one or more E2 ligases RNAi-knockdown, based on the assumption that some E2 ligase would be required at the nuclear lamina, but surprisingly, none of the knockdowns showed blebbing. The lack of blebbing may suggest that a pathway is functionally redundant: dTopors may be able to interact with multiple different E2 ligases to affect the same outcome on nuclear structure. Alternatively, the RNAi knockdown may not have sufficiently reduced E2 ligase expression in the germline, given the weak blebbing in the positive control, *dtopors*. As the male germ line has low level expression of the RNAi mediator Dicer, this screen may be improved by upregulating Dicer to enhance RNAi knockdown efficiency (Kim et al., 2005).

Based on RNAi screen NDJ positives, *Bruce* (BIR repeat containing ubiquitinconjugating enzyme) and *effete* (UbcD1) were selected for further testing. I selected *Bruce* because it had the highest rate of NDJ and therefore was the strongest candidate. I selected *effete* because it is the fly ortholog of the human UbcH5(A,B,C), and is functionally substitutable for UbcH5 (Treier et al., 1992). Human Topors was shown to interact with UbcH5a, UbcH5c, and UbcH6 *in vitro* (Rajendra et al., 2004), furthermore human UbcH5a was also shown to function *in vitro* with dTopors to direct ubiquitination Hairy (Secombe & Parkhurst, 2004). To determine if these E2 were important for dTopors function, I examined their ability to enhance the *dtopors*  hypomorphic allele. A change in NDJ frequency or/and in nuclear blebbing would indicate that the E2 deficiency affects the Df(114-118) phenotypes. Halving expression levels of BRUCE and Effete significantly intensified nuclear blebbing in Df(114-118), and increased NDJ frequencies in both. The NDJ frequencies, however, were not as high as in a *dtopors* deletion. Because *Bruce* and *effete* enhanced blebbing more severely than NDJ, it suggests that Bruce and Effete in concert with dTopors ubiquitinate different targets at the nuclear lamina than at chromosomes. The NDJ frequency increased greatly in the hypomorph when the amount of these E2s was reduced to half the amount. This indicates that when contrasted to chromosome segregation, there may be a dosage sensitivity for these E2s and perhaps a threshold requirement for ubiquitin ligase activity at the nuclear lamina. At wildtype E2 levels, blebbing occurs if ubiquitin ligase activity is either missing or reduced to a level where proper nuclear structure is not sustainable. The enhancement of NDJ in the hypomorph by *Bruce* was less severe than that of *effete* (13.3%) versus 19.3% for sex NDJ, respectively). This suggests that these E2s might have different targets in chromosome segregation, or they target the same protein(s) with different efficiencies. In mouse soma, Bruce is an important regulator of the DNA damage response by activating checkpoints and DNA repair machinery (Ge, Che, & Du, 2015; Ge, Che, Ren, et al., 2015), while in the male germline, Bruce is required for genomic stability in spermatogonia and spermatocytes by promoting DNA damage repair induced by double strand breaks (Che et al., 2020). It is possible that reduced levels of Bruce in the RING hypomorph may cause increased DNA repair via NHEJ rather than HDR, therefore resulting in joining of heterologs and anaphase I bridges during meiosis I. It is known that in flies, Bruce blocks apoptosis by ubiquitinating proapoptotic proteins like rpr (reaper) (Domingues & Ryoo, 2012). In testis, Bruce interacts with Klhl10, a protein that recruits substrates for a testis specific Cul3-ubiquitin E3 ligase for
spermatid terminal differentiation in spermatogenesis. My proteomics results identified Klhl 10 as ubiquitinated in the absence of dTopors, and here we implicate Bruce as an E2 ligase partner of dTopors. In vitro ubiquitination assays will be necessary to determine if and how dTopors acts with Bruce to target Klh10 ubiquitination pathway.

The Df(114-118); Df(effete)/Ser males were nearly sterile and had very low number of offspring, this is not surprising since nearly all homozygous effete mutants are either lethal or sterile. Testes dissections showed high frequency of NDJ comparable to the *dtopors* null in the onion cells, suggesting that ubiquitin transferase activity of Effete is necessary for dTopors mediated ubiquitination of targets in chromosomes segregation. In flies, Effete is implicated in many processes including chromatin modifications (Cipressa F. & Cenci G., 2013) and heterochromatin induced PEV (Cipressa et al., 2013). In mitosis, Effete physically and genetically interacts with dAPC2, subunit of APC (Anaphase Promoting Complex, multi-subunit E3 ligase) to ubiquitinate cyclin A for degradation (Chen et al., 2009), thus allowing for completion of mitosis. In mitosis and in male meiosis, Effete is needed for proper telomere behavior (Cenci et al., 1997). Male flies mutant in effete, display abnormal telomere attachments in both meiotic divisions and exhibit lagging chromosomes in form of acentric chromosome fragments in both anaphase I and anaphase II (Cenci et al., 1997). There is no present research linking Effete to dTopors. Males mutant for *effete* display fused telomeres and lagging chromosomes at anaphase I (Cenci et al., 1997). Therefore, it is possible that the reduced levels of Effete in the *RING* hypomorph may be originating from abnormal telomere attachments causing anaphase bridges. If dTopors is involved in this pathway by acting with Effete to ubiquitinate a target important for telomere behavior (i.e., telomere capping), then this might also explain the anaphase bridges observed in *dtopors* mutants.

Sex but not fourth chromosome NDJ was significantly increased in *Df(114-118)* males when heterozygous for each *Df (Bruce)* and *Df(effete)*. This could suggest that the ubiquitin transferase activity of each Bruce and Effete is needed for dTopors mediated ubiquitination of targets at the chromosomes. Since the fourth chromosome NDJ was minimal and my genetic crosses did not assay for major autosome NDJ, I cannot say whether the elevated sex chromosome NDJ was due to the larger size of the chromosome perhaps requiring more enzyme than the much smaller forth chromosome. However, *effete* alleles do show a similar variation in frequencies of bridges for different chromosomes (Cenci et al., 1997).

In conclusion, these enhancements of the hypomorphic phenotype strongly suggests that these genes act in the *dtopors* pathway, and therefore are candidate E2s for a direct interaction with dTopors and should be verified by yeast-2-hybrid and coimmunoprecipitation assays.

## CHAPTER V: CONCLUSIONS

My research showed that ubiquitination by dTopors is essential for proper nuclear structure and for chromosome segregation. The nuclear structure was seen to be more sensitive to perturbation by loss of ubiquitination than was chromosome segregation. Reduction of ubiquitin ligase activity had a profound effect on the nuclear structure, while only caused low NDJ. Total elimination of the ubiquitin ligase activity caused severe blebbing, but NDJ was not observed at levels comparable a dTopors deletion. Based on my data I conclude that the laminar structure has only limited influence on chromosome segregation during meiosis. This is surprising given the intimate association observed between chromosomes and the lamina throughout prophase in this organism. Furthermore, numerous examples of interactions between chromosomes and the nuclear lamina in other organisms suggests that this is a common feature of meiosis. This could mean that the unique bivalent domains that form in male flies in meiotic prophase are not dependent on direct interactions with the lamina. This role is ubiquitination and is essential at the lamina structure, while for chromosome segregation, loss of ubiquitination does not completely disrupt chromosome segregation, suggesting the involvement of another function of dTopors (perhaps sumoylations?).

In my proteomics screen, I identified an abundance of differentially ubiquitinated and/or sumoylated proteins in the presence versus absence of dTopors activity across a variety of ontology groups, highlighting the importance of dTopors in various cellular aspects. Besides the ubiquitination-related targets, many of these proteins appeared to be chromatin/transcriptionrelated. I identified Histone affected by dTopors, including H3 epigenetic marks for chromatin regulation and other histone modifications such as H2B, previously unknown in flies. Several other targets identified here may be implicated in conserved processes important for regulation of cell division, transcription, etc.

In my *in vivo* genetic assays, I identified E2 candidates as potential interaction partners of dTopors. Little is known about what specificity is needed for E2-E3 interaction but generally, they are determined by specificity of an E2 to an E3. A single E2 can interact with different E3 ligases, as seen with Ube2D/UbcH5 (Effete) and the ubiquitination of a target depends on which E3 is chosen by an E2 (Ye & Rape, 2009). E2s utilize different residues to recognize various E3s, but an E3 is specific to and E2 and a substrate. However, human Topors was shown to interact with several E2 ligases (UbcH5a, UbcH5c, and UbcH6) *in vitro* (Rajendra et al., 2004). Here I identified two potential E2 partners of dTopors *in vivo*, thus suggesting that dTopors may be promiscuous as well. The E2s I identified through the *in vivo* assay, combined with the list of ubiquitination targets from the mass spectrometry screen may be used to investigate and potentially discover dTopors mediated ubiquitination pathways in flies.

## REFERENCES

- Alarcon-Vargas, D., & Ronai, Z. (2002). SUMO in Cancer—Wrestlers Wanted. *Cancer Biology* & *Therapy*, 1(3), 237–242. https://doi.org/10.4161/cbt.74
- Alfonso-Parra, C., & Maggert, K. A. (2010). Drosophila SAF-B Links the Nuclear Matrix, Chromosomes, and Transcriptional Activity. *PLoS ONE*, 5(4), e10248. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010248
- Apionishev, S., Malhotra, D., Raghavachari, S., Tanda, S., & Rasooly, R. S. (2001). The
   Drosophila UBC9 homologue lesswright mediates the disjunction of homologues in
   meiosis I. *Genes to Cells : Devoted to Molecular & Cellular Mechanisms*, 6(3), 215–224.
- Arya, G. H., Lodico, M. J. P., Ahmad, O. I., Amin, R., & Tomkiel, J. E. (2006). Molecular Characterization of teflon, a Gene Required for Meiotic Autosome Segregation in Male Drosophila melanogaster. *Genetics*, *174*(1), 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.106.061556
- Ayer, D. E., Lawrence, Q. A., & Eisenman, R. N. (1995). Mad-max transcriptional repression is mediated by ternary complex formation with mammalian homologs of yeast repressor Sin3. *Cell*, 80(5), 767–776. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(95)90355-0
- Bähler, J., Wyler, T., Loidl, J., & Kohli, J. (1993). Unusual nuclear structures in meiotic prophase of fission yeast: A cytological analysis. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *121*(2), 241–256. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.121.2.241
- Barrio, R., del Arco, A., Cabrera, H. L., & Arribas, C. (1994). Structure and expression of the Drosophila ubiquitin-80-amino-acid fusion-protein gene. *Biochemical Journal*, 302(1), 237–244. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj3020237

- Bayer, P., Arndt, A., Metzger, S., Mahajan, R., Melchior, F., Jaenicke, R., & Becker, J. (1998).
   Structure determination of the small ubiquitin-related modifier SUMO-1. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 280(2), 275–286. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmbi.1998.1839
- Bell, O., Wirbelauer, C., Hild, M., Scharf, A. N. D., Schwaiger, M., MacAlpine, D. M.,
  Zilbermann, F., van Leeuwen, F., Bell, S. P., Imhof, A., Garza, D., Peters, A. H. F. M., &
  Schübeler, D. (2007). Localized H3K36 methylation states define histone H4K16
  acetylation during transcriptional elongation in Drosophila. *The EMBO Journal*, 26(24), 4974–4984.
- Bernier-Villamor, V., Sampson, D. A., Matunis, M. J., & Lima, C. D. (2002). Structural Basis for E2-Mediated SUMO Conjugation Revealed by a Complex between Ubiquitin-Conjugating Enzyme Ubc9 and RanGAP1. *Cell*, *108*(3), 345–356. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00630-X
- BERTHELET, J., DUVAL, R., BUI, L.-C., MATHIEU, C., PETIT, E., DUPRET, J.-M., GUIDEZ, F., CHOMIENNE, C., & RODRIGUES-LIMA, F. (2018). The H3K36 histone methyltransferase SETD2 as a target of leukemogenic chemicals: Molecular and cellular studies. *The FASEB Journal*, 32(S1), 524.10.

https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2018.32.1\_supplement.524.10

- Beumer, K. J., Trautman, J. K., Bozas, A., Liu, J.-L., Rutter, J., Gall, J. G., & Carroll, D. (2008).
  Efficient gene targeting in *Drosophila* by direct embryo injection with zinc-finger nucleases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *105*(50), 19821–19826.
  https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0810475105
- Borden, K. L., Boddy, M. N., Lally, J., O'Reilly, N. J., Martin, S., Howe, K., Solomon, E., & Freemont, P. S. (1995). The solution structure of the RING finger domain from the acute

promyelocytic leukaemia proto-oncoprotein PML. *The EMBO Journal*, *14*(7), 1532–1541. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC398240/

- Bowne, S. J., Sullivan, Lori. S., Gire, A. I., Birch, D. G., Hughbanks-Wheaton, D., Heckenlively,
  J. R., & Daiger, S. P. (2008). Mutations in the TOPORS gene cause 1% of autosomal dominant retinitis pigmentosa. *Molecular Vision*, 14, 922–927.
  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2391085/
- Bray, S., Musisi, H., & Bienz, M. (2005). Bre1 Is Required for Notch Signaling and Histone Modification. *Developmental Cell*, 8(2), 279–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2004.11.020
- Bridger, J. M., Foeger, N., Kill, I. R., & Herrmann, H. (2007). The nuclear lamina. *FEBS Journal*, 274(6), 1354–1361. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2007.05694.x
- Buschmann, T., Fuchs, S. Y., Lee, C.-G., Pan, Z.-Q., & Ronai, Z. (2000). SUMO-1 Modification of Mdm2 Prevents Its Self-Ubiquitination and Increases Mdm2 Ability to Ubiquitinate p53. *Cell*, 101(7), 753–762. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80887-9
- Buschmann, T., Lerner, D., Lee, C.-G., & Ronai, Z. (2001). The Mdm-2 Amino Terminus Is
  Required for Mdm2 Binding and SUMO-1 Conjugation by the E2 SUMO-1 Conjugating
  Enzyme Ubc9. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(44), 40389–40395.
  https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M103786200
- Capelson, M., & Corces, V. G. (2005). The Ubiquitin Ligase dTopors Directs the Nuclear Organization of a Chromatin Insulator. *Molecular Cell*, 20(1), 105–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2005.08.031

- Capelson, M., & Corces, V. G. (2006). SUMO conjugation attenuates the activity of the gypsy chromatin insulator. *The EMBO Journal*, 25(9), 1906–1914. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.emboj.7601068
- Carbone, R., Pearson, M., Minucci, S., & Pelicci, P. G. (2002). PML NBs associate with the hMre11 complex and p53 at sites of irradiation induced DNA damage. *Oncogene*, 21(11), 1633–1640. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1205227
- Cenci, G., Bonaccorsi, S., Pisano, C., Verni, F., & Gatti, M. (n.d.). Chromatin and microtubule organization during premeiotic, meiotic and early postmeiotic stages of Drosophila melanogaster spermatogenesis. 14.
- Cenci, G., Rawson, R. B., Belloni, G., Castrillon, D. H., Tudor, M., Petrucci, R., Goldberg, M.
  L., Wasserman, S. A., & Gatti, M. (1997). UbcD1, a Drosophila ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme required for proper telomere behavior. *Genes & Development*, *11*(7), 863–875. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.11.7.863
- Chakarova, C. F., Khanna, H., Shah, A. Z., Patil, S. B., Sedmak, T., Murga-Zamalloa, C. A.,
  Papaioannou, M. G., Nagel-Wolfrum, K., Lopez, I., Munro, P., Cheetham, M.,
  Koenekoop, R. K., Rios, R. M., Matter, K., Wolfrum, U., Swaroop, A., & Bhattacharya,
  S. S. (2011). TOPORS, implicated in retinal degeneration, is a cilia-centrosomal protein. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 20(5), 975–987. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddq543
- Chan, C. W., Lee, Y.-B., Uney, J., Flynn, A., Tobias, J. H., & Norman, M. (2007). A novel member of the SAF (scaffold attachment factor)-box protein family inhibits gene expression and induces apoptosis. *The Biochemical Journal*, 407(3), 355–362.

- Che, L., Alavattam, K. G., Stambrook, P. J., Namekawa, S. H., & Du, C. (2020). BRUCE preserves genomic stability in the male germline of mice. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 27(8), 2402–2416. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41418-020-0513-4
- Chernikova, S. B., Dorth, J. A., Razorenova, O. V., Game, J. C., & Brown, J. M. (2010).
  Deficiency in Bre1 Impairs Homologous Recombination Repair and Cell Cycle
  Checkpoint Response to Radiation Damage in Mammalian Cells. *Radiation Research*, 174(5), 558–565. http://www.jstor.org/stable/40960995
- Chernikova, S. B., Razorenova, O. V., Higgins, J. P., Sishc, B. J., Nicolau, M., Dorth, J. A.,
  Chernikova, D. A., Kwok, S., Brooks, J. D., Bailey, S. M., Game, J. C., & Brown, J. M.
  (2012). Deficiency in Mammalian Histone H2B Ubiquitin Ligase Bre1 (Rnf20/Rnf40)
  Leads to Replication Stress and Chromosomal Instability. *Cancer Research*, 72(8), 2111–2119. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-2209
- Chikashige, Y. (n.d.). Meiotic nuclear reorganization: Switching the position of centromeres and telomeres in the fission yeast Schizosaccharomyces pombe. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/16.1.193
- Chu, D., Kakazu, N., Gorrin-Rivas, M. J., Lu, H.-P., Kawata, M., Abe, T., Ueda, K., & Adachi,
  Y. (2001). Cloning and Characterization of LUN, a Novel RING Finger Protein That Is
  Highly Expressed in Lung and Specifically Binds to a Palindromic Sequence. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(17), 14004–14013. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M010262200
- Chung, J. H., Whiteley, M., & Felsenfeld, G. (1993). A 5' element of the chicken beta-globin domain serves as an insulator in human erythroid cells and protects against position effect in Drosophila. *Cell*, 74(3), 505–514.

- Cléard, F., Delattre, M., & Spierer, P. (1997). SU(VAR)3-7, a Drosophila heterochromatinassociated protein and companion of HP1 in the genomic silencing of position-effect variegation. *The EMBO Journal*, *16*(17), 5280–5288.
- Cohen-Fix, O., & Askjaer, P. (2017). Cell Biology of the Caenorhabditis elegans Nucleus. *Genetics*, 205(1), 25–59. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.116.197160
- Cooper, J. P., Watanabe, Y., & Nurse, P. (1998). Fission yeast Taz1 protein is required for meiotic telomere clustering and recombination. *Nature*, 392(6678), 828–831. http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.uncg.edu/10.1038/33947
- Corbett, K. D., & Harrison, S. C. (2016). Molecular Architecture of the Yeast Monopolin Complex. *Cell Reports*, *17*(3), 929. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.09.070
- David, G., Neptune, M. A., & DePinho, R. A. (2002). SUMO-1 modification of histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1) modulates its biological activities. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(26), 23658–23663.
- Dearolf, C. R., Topol, J., & Parker, C. S. (1989). Transcriptional control of Drosophila fushi tarazu zebra stripe expression. *Genes & Development*, 3(3), 384–398. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.3.3.384
- Dechat, T., Shimi, T., Adam, S. A., Rusinol, A. E., Andres, D. A., Spielmann, H. P., Sinensky, M. S., & Goldman, R. D. (2007). Alterations in mitosis and cell cycle progression caused by a mutant lamin A known to accelerate human aging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *104*(12), 4955–4960. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0700854104
- Dellaire, G., Ching, R. W., Ahmed, K., Jalali, F., Tse, K. C. K., Bristow, R. G., & Bazett-Jones,D. P. (2006). Promyelocytic leukemia nuclear bodies behave as DNA damage sensorswhose response to DNA double-strand breaks is regulated by NBS1 and the kinases

ATM, Chk2, and ATR. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *175*(1), 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200604009

- Desterro, J. M. P., Rodriguez, M. S., Kemp, G. D., & Hay, R. T. (1999). Identification of the Enzyme Required for Activation of the Small Ubiquitin-like Protein SUMO-1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(15), 10618–10624. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.15.10618
- Ding, D.-Q., Chikashige, Y., Haraguchi, T., & Hiraoka, Y. (n.d.). Oscillatory nuclear movement in fission yeast meiotic prophase is driven by astral microtubules, as revealed by continuous observation of chromosomes and microtubules in living cells. 12.
- Doil, C., Mailand, N., Bekker-Jensen, S., Menard, P., Larsen, D. H., Pepperkok, R., Ellenberg, J.,
   Panier, S., Durocher, D., Bartek, J., Lukas, J., & Lukas, C. (2009). RNF168 Binds and
   Amplifies Ubiquitin Conjugates on Damaged Chromosomes to Allow Accumulation of
   Repair Proteins. *Cell*, *136*(3), 435–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.12.041
- Dorner, D., Gotzmann, J., & Foisner, R. (2007). Nucleoplasmic lamins and their interaction partners, LAP2α, Rb, and BAF, in transcriptional regulation: Nucleoplasmic lamins and their interactions. *FEBS Journal*, 274(6), 1362–1373. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-4658.2007.05695.x
- Eisch, V., Lu, X., Gabriel, D., & Djabali, K. (2016). Progerin impairs chromosome maintenance by depleting CENP-F from metaphase kinetochores in Hutchinson-Gilford progeria fibroblasts. *Oncotarget*, 7(17), 24700–24718. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.8267
- Ellison-Zelski, S. J., & Alarid, E. T. (2010). Maximum growth and survival of estrogen receptoralpha positive breast cancer cells requires the Sin3A transcriptional repressor. *Molecular Cancer*, 9(1), 263. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-9-263

Eriksson, M., Brown, W. T., Gordon, L. B., Glynn, M. W., Singer, J., Scott, L., Erdos, M. R.,
Robbins, C. M., Moses, T. Y., Berglund, P., Dutra, A., Pak, E., Durkin, S., Csoka, A. B.,
Boehnke, M., Glover, T. W., & Collins, F. S. (2003). Recurrent de novo point mutations
in lamin A cause Hutchinson–Gilford progeria syndrome. *Nature*, 423(6937), 293–298.
https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01629

Everett, R. D. (n.d.). Cell cycle regulation of PML modification. 8.

- Fagioli, M., Alcalay, M., Tomassoni, L., Ferrucci, P. F., Mencarelli, A., Riganelli, D., Grignani,
  F., Pozzan, T., Nicoletti, I., Grignani, F., & Pelicci, P. G. (1998). Cooperation between
  the RING+B1-B2 and coiled-coil domains of PML is necessary for its effects on cell
  survival. *Oncogene*, *16*(22), 2905. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1201811
- Filion, G. J., van Bemmel, J. G., Braunschweig, U., Talhout, W., Kind, J., Ward, L. D.,
  Brugman, W., de Castro, I. J., Kerkhoven, R. M., Bussemaker, H. J., & van Steensel, B.
  (2010). Systematic protein location mapping reveals five principal chromatin types in
  Drosophila cells. *Cell*, 143(2), 212–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.09.009
- Fu, Y., Katsaros, D., Biglia, N., Wang, Z., Pagano, I., Tius, M., Tiirikainen, M., Rosser, C., Yang, H., & Yu, H. (2021). Vitamin D receptor upregulates lncRNA TOPORS-AS1 which inhibits the Wnt/β-catenin pathway and associates with favorable prognosis of ovarian cancer. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 7484. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-86923-7
- Gareau, J. R., & Lima, C. D. (2010). The SUMO pathway: Emerging mechanisms that shape specificity, conjugation and recognition. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 11(12), 861–871. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3011

- Gause, M., Morcillo, P., & Dorsett, D. (2001). Insulation of enhancer-promoter communication by a gypsy transposon insert in the Drosophila cut gene: Cooperation between suppressor of hairy-wing and modifier of mdg4 proteins. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 21(14), 4807–4817.
- Ge, C., Che, L., & Du, C. (2015). The UBC Domain Is Required for BRUCE to Promote BRIT1/MCPH1 Function in DSB Signaling and Repair Post Formation of BRUCE-USP8-BRIT1 Complex. *PloS One*, *10*(12), e0144957. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0144957
- Ge, C., Che, L., Ren, J., Pandita, R. K., Lu, J., Li, K., Pandita, T. K., & Du, C. (2015). BRUCE regulates DNA double-strand break response by promoting USP8 deubiquitination of BRIT1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(11), E1210–E1219. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1418335112
- Geyer, P. K., & Corces, V. G. (1992). DNA position-specific repression of transcription by a Drosophila zinc finger protein. *Genes & Development*, *6*(10), 1865–1873.
- Giannattasio, M., Lazzaro, F., Plevani, P., & Muzi-Falconi, M. (2005). The DNA Damage Checkpoint Response Requires Histone H2B Ubiquitination by Rad6-Bre1 and H3 Methylation by Dot1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(11), 9879–9886. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M414453200
- Gill, G. (2004). SUMO and ubiquitin in the nucleus: Different functions, similar mechanisms?*Genes & Development*, 18(17), 2046–2059. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1214604
- Girdwood, D., Bumpass, D., Vaughan, O. A., Thain, A., Anderson, L. A., Snowden, A. W., Garcia-Wilson, E., Perkins, N. D., & Hay, R. T. (2003). P300 Transcriptional Repression

Is Mediated by SUMO Modification. *Molecular Cell*, *11*(4), 1043–1054. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00141-2

- Golovnin, A., Biryukova, I., Romanova, O., Silicheva, M., Parshikov, A., Savitskaya, E.,
  Pirrotta, V., & Georgiev, P. (2008). An endogenous Su(Hw) insulator separates the *yellow* gene from the *Achaete-scute* gene complex in *Drosophila*. *Development*, 135(4), 787–787. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.020263
- Grossman, S. R., Deato, M. E., Brignone, C., Chan, H. M., Kung, A. L., Tagami, H., Nakatani, Y., & Livingston, D. M. (2003). Polyubiquitination of p53 by a Ubiquitin Ligase Activity of p300. *Science*, *300*(5617), 342–344.
- Grossman, S. R., Perez, M., Kung, A. L., Joseph, M., Mansur, C., Xiao, Z. X., Kumar, S., Howley, P. M., & Livingston, D. M. (1998). P300/MDM2 complexes participate in MDM2-mediated p53 degradation. *Molecular Cell*, 2(4), 405–415.
- Gruenbaum, Y., & Foisner, R. (2015). Lamins: Nuclear intermediate filament proteins with fundamental functions in nuclear mechanics and genome regulation. *Annual Review of Biochemistry*, 84, 131–164. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-060614-034115
- Guan, B., Pungaliya, P., Li, X., Uquillas, C., Mutton, L. N., Rubin, E. H., & Bieberich, C. J.
  (2008). Ubiquitination by TOPORS Regulates the Prostate Tumor Suppressor NKX3.1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 283(8), 4834–4840.
  https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M708630200
- Haluska, P. (1999a). Interaction between human topoisomerase I and a novel RING finger/arginine-serine protein. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 27(12), 2538–2544. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/27.12.2538

Haluska, P. (1999b). Interaction between human topoisomerase I and a novel RING finger/arginine-serine protein. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 27(12), 2538–2544. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/27.12.2538

- Hammer, E., Heilbronn, R., & Weger, S. (2007). The E3 ligase Topors induces the accumulation of polysumoylated forms of DNA topoisomerase I in vitro and in vivo. *FEBS Letters*, 581(28), 5418–5424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2007.10.040
- Hammerich-Hille, S., Kaipparettu, B. A., Tsimelzon, A., Creighton, C. J., Jiang, S., Polo, J. M., Melnick, A., Meyer, R., & Oesterreich, S. (2010). SAFB1 Mediates Repression of Immune Regulators and Apoptotic Genes in Breast Cancer Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(6), 3608–3616. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.066431
- Hari, K. L., Cook, K. R., & Karpen, G. H. (2001). The Drosophila Su(var)2-10 locus regulates chromosome structure and function and encodes a member of the PIAS protein family. *Genes & Development*, 15(11), 1334–1348.
- Hashimoto, T., Matsuda, K.-I., & Kawata, M. (2012). Scaffold attachment factor B (SAFB)1 and SAFB2 cooperatively inhibit the intranuclear mobility and function of ERα. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, *113*(9), 3039–3050. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.24182
- Haupt, Y., Maya, K., Kazaz, A., & Oren, M. (1997). Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. *Nature*, *387*(6630), 296.

Hietakangas, V., Ahlskog, J. K., Jakobsson, A. M., Hellesuo, M., Sahlberg, N. M., Holmberg, C. I., Mikhailov, A., Palvimo, J. J., Pirkkala, L., & Sistonen, L. (2003). Phosphorylation of Serine 303 Is a Prerequisite for the Stress-Inducible SUMO Modification of Heat Shock Factor 1. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *23*(8), 2953–2968. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.23.8.2953-2968.2003

- Hochstrasser, M. (2000). All in the ubiquitin family. *Science*, 289(5479), 563–564. https://www.proquest.com/docview/213560526/abstract/FDF45BEB4BF64C05PQ/1
- Honda, R., & Yasuda, H. (n.d.). Activity of MDM2, a ubiquitin ligase, toward p53 or itself is dependent on the RING @nger domain of the ligase. 5.

Horn, H. F., Kim, D. I., Wright, G. D., Wong, E. S. M., Stewart, C. L., Burke, B., & Roux, K. J. (2013). A mammalian KASH domain protein coupling meiotic chromosomes to the cytoskeleton. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 202(7), 1023–1039. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201304004

- Hou, X., Zhang, W., Xiao, Z., Gan, H., Lin, X., Liao, S., & Han, C. (2012). Mining and characterization of ubiquitin E3 ligases expressed in the mouse testis. *BMC Genomics*, *13*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-13-495
- Huang, F., Paulson, A., Dutta, A., Venkatesh, S., Smolle, M., Abmayr, S. M., & Workman, J. L. (2014). Histone acetyltransferase Enok regulates oocyte polarization by promoting expression of the actin nucleation factor spire. *Genes & Development*, 28(24), 2750–2763. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.249730.114
- Hung, S.-H. (n.d.). *Monoubiquitylation of histone H2B contributes to the bypass of DNA damage during and after DNA replication*. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1612633114
- Hung, S.-H., Wong, R. P., Ulrich, H. D., & Kao, C.-F. (2017). Monoubiquitylation of histone
  H2B contributes to the bypass of DNA damage during and after DNA replication. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *114*(11).
  https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1612633114
- Joazeiro, C. A., Wing, S. S., Huang, H., Leverson, J. D., Hunter, T., & Liu, Y. C. (1999). The tyrosine kinase negative regulator c-Cbl as a RING-type, E2-dependent ubiquitin-protein

ligase. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 286(5438), 309–312. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.286.5438.309

- Johnson, E. S., & Blobel, G. (1997). Ubc9p is the conjugating enzyme for the ubiquitin-like protein Smt3p. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(43), 26799–26802. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.272.43.26799
- Jones, D., & Candido, E. P. (1993). Novel ubiquitin-like ribosomal protein fusion genes from the nematodes Caenorhabditis elegans and Caenorhabditis briggsae. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(26), 19545–19551. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)36550-0
- Kagey, M. H., Melhuish, T. A., & Wotton, D. (2003). The Polycomb Protein Pc2 Is a SUMO E3. *Cell*, *113*(1), 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00159-4
- Kellum, R., & Schedl, P. (1991). A position-effect assay for boundaries of higher order chromosomal domains. *Cell*, 64(5), 941–950.
- Khan, M., Nomura, T., Kim, H., Kaul, S. C., Wadhwa, R., Shinagawa, T., Ichikawa-Iwata, E., Zhong, S., Pandolfi, P. P., & Ishii, S. (n.d.). Role of PML and PML-RAR in Mad-Mediated Transcriptional Repression. *Molecular Cell*, 11.
- Khanna, R., Krishnamoorthy, V., & Parnaik, V. K. (2018). E3 ubiquitin ligase RNF123 targets lamin B1 and lamin-binding proteins. *The FEBS Journal*, 285(12), 2243–2262. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14477
- Kim, D.-H., Behlke, M. A., Rose, S. D., Chang, M.-S., Choi, S., & Rossi, J. J. (2005). Synthetic dsRNA Dicer substrates enhance RNAi potency and efficacy. *Nature Biotechnology*, 23(2), 222–226. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1051

Kimura, Y., & Tanaka, K. (2010). Regulatory mechanisms involved in the control of ubiquitin homeostasis. *Journal of Biochemistry*, 147(6), 793–798. https://doi.org/10.1093/jb/mvq044

- Kirsh, O., Seeler, J.-S., Pichler, A., Gast, A., Muller, S., Miska, E., Mathieu, M., Harel-Bellan,
  A., Kouzarides, T., Melchior, F., & Dejean, A. (2002). The SUMO E3 ligase RanBP2
  promotes modification of the HDAC4 deacetylase. *EMBO Journal*, 21(11), 2682–2691.
  http://www.proquest.com/docview/195252882/abstract/D79A3A4BFC9E4022PQ/1
- Krishnamoorthy, V., Khanna, R., & Parnaik, V. K. (2018). E3 ubiquitin ligase HECW2 targets PCNA and lamin B1. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. Molecular Cell Research*, 1865(8), 1088–1104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2018.05.008
- Krishnan, B., Thomas, S. E., Yan, R., Yamada, H., Zhulin, I. B., & McKee, B. D. (2014). Sisters Unbound Is Required for Meiotic Centromeric Cohesion in Drosophila melanogaster. Genetics, 198(3), 947–965. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.114.166009
- Kubbutat, M. H. G., Jones, S. N., & Vousden, K. H. (1997). Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. *Nature*, *387*(6630), 299–303.

http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.uncg.edu/10.1038/387299a0

- Kuhn, E. J., & Geyer, P. K. (2003). Genomic insulators: Connecting properties to mechanism. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 15(3), 259–265.
- Kuroda, M. I., Kernan, M. J., Kreber, R., Ganetzky, B., & Baker, B. S. (1991). The maleless protein associates with the X chromosome to regulate dosage compensation in drosophila. *Cell*, 66(5), 935–947. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91)90439-6
- Labrador, M., & Corces, V. G. (2002). Setting the boundaries of chromatin domains and nuclear organization. *Cell*, *111*(2), 151–154.

- Lapenta, V., Chiurazzi, P., van der Spek, P., Pizzuti, A., Hanaoka, F., & Brahe, C. (1997).
  SMT3A,a Human Homologue of theS. cerevisiae SMT3Gene, Maps to Chromosome 21qter and Defines a Novel Gene Family. *Genomics*, 40(2), 362–366.
  https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.1996.4556
- Lehembre, F., Badenhorst, P., Müller, S., Travers, A., Schweisguth, F., & Dejean, A. (2000).
  Covalent Modification of the Transcriptional Repressor Tramtrack by the Ubiquitin-Related Protein Smt3 inDrosophila Flies. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 20(3), 1072– 1082. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.20.3.1072-1082.2000
- Levine, A. J. (1994). The road to the discovery of the p53 protein: The Steiner Cancer Prize Award Lecture. *International Journal of Cancer*, *56*(6), 775–776. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910560602
- Li, S.-J., & Hochstrasser, M. (1999). A new protease required for cell-cycle progression in yeast. *Nature*, 398(6724), 246–251. http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.uncg.edu/10.1038/18457
- Li, W., Bengtson, M. H., Ulbrich, A., Matsuda, A., Reddy, V. A., Orth, A., Chanda, S. K., Batalov, S., & Joazeiro, C. A. P. (2008). Genome-wide and functional annotation of human E3 ubiquitin ligases identifies MULAN, a mitochondrial E3 that regulates the organelle's dynamics and signaling. *PloS One*, *3*(1), e1487. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0001487
- Li, Y., Jiang, X., Zhang, Y., Gao, Z., Liu, Y., Hu, J., Hu, X., Li, L., Shi, J., & Gao, N. (2019). Nuclear accumulation of UBC9 contributes to SUMOylation of lamin A/C and nucleophagy in response to DNA damage. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, 38(1), 67. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-019-1048-8

- Lill, N. L., Grossman, S. R., Ginsberg, D., DeCaprio, J., & Livingston, D. M. (1997). Binding and modulation of p53 by p300/CBP coactivators. *Nature*, 387(6635), 823–827. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/42981
- Lin, L., Ozaki, T., Takada, Y., Kageyama, H., Nakamura, Y., Hata, A., Zhang, J.-H., Simonds,
  W. F., Nakagawara, A., & Koseki, H. (2005). Topors, a p53 and topoisomerase I-binding
  RING finger protein, is a coactivator of p53 in growth suppression induced by DNA
  damage. *Oncogene*, 24(21), 3385–3396. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1208554
- Lin, Q., Yu, B., Wang, X., Zhu, S., Zhao, G., Jia, M., Huang, F., Xu, N., Ren, H., Jiang, Q., & Zhang, C. (2020). K6-linked SUMOylation of BAF regulates nuclear integrity and DNA replication in mammalian cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *117*(19), 10378–10387. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1912984117
- Link, J., Jahn, D., Schmitt, J., Göb, E., Baar, J., Ortega, S., Benavente, R., & Alsheimer, M.
  (2013). The Meiotic Nuclear Lamina Regulates Chromosome Dynamics and Promotes
  Efficient Homologous Recombination in the Mouse. *PLoS Genetics*, 9(1), e1003261.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003261
- Liu, B., Wang, J., Chan, K. M., Tjia, W. M., Deng, W., Guan, X., Huang, J., Li, K. M., Chau, P. Y., Chen, D. J., Pei, D., Pendas, A. M., Cadiñanos, J., López-Otín, C., Tse, H. F., Hutchison, C., Chen, J., Cao, Y., Cheah, K. S. E., ... Zhou, Z. (2005). Genomic instability in laminopathy-based premature aging. *Nature Medicine*, *11*(7), 780–785. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1266
- Liu, G., Yan, J., Wang, X., Chen, J., Wang, X., Dong, Y., Zhang, S., Gan, X., Huang, J., & Chen, X. (2021). RPA-mediated recruitment of Bre1 couples histone H2B ubiquitination

to DNA replication and repair. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *118*(8), e2017497118. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2017497118

- MacQueen, A. J., Phillips, C. M., Bhalla, N., Weiser, P., Villeneuve, A. M., & Dernburg, A. F. (2005). Chromosome Sites Play Dual Roles to Establish Homologous Synapsis during Meiosis in C. elegans. *Cell*, *123*(6), 1037–1050.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.09.034
- Marshall, H., Bhaumik, M., Aviv, H., Moore, D., Yao, M., Dutta, J., Rahim, H., Gounder, M., Ganesan, S., Saleem, A., & Rubin, E. (2010). Deficiency of the dual ubiquitin/SUMO ligase Topors results in genetic instability and an increased rate of malignancy in mice. *BMC Molecular Biology*, *11*(1), 31. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2199-11-31
- Matsui, M., Sharma, K. C., Cooke, C., Wakimoto, B. T., Rasool, M., Hayworth, M., Hylton, C.
  A., & Tomkiel, J. E. (2011). Nuclear Structure and Chromosome Segregation in *Drosophila* Male Meiosis Depend on the Ubiquitin Ligase dTopors. *Genetics*, 189(3), 779–793. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.111.133819
- Matunis, M. J., Coutavas, E., & Blobel, G. (1996). A novel ubiquitin-like modification modulates the partitioning of the Ran-GTPase-activating protein RanGAP1 between the cytosol and the nuclear pore complex. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *135*(6), 1457–1470. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.135.6.1457
- McKee, B. D. (1991). X-Y Pairing, Meiotic Drive, and Ribosomal DNA in Drosophila melanogaster Males. *The American Naturalist*, 137(3), 332–339. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2462567
- Meluh, P. B., & Koshland, D. (1995a). Evidence that the MIF2 gene of Saccharomyces cerevisiae encodes a centromere protein with homology to the mammalian centromere

protein CENP-C. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 6(7), 793–807. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.6.7.793

- Meluh, P. B., & Koshland, D. (1995b). Suppressors of MIF2, a putative centromere protein gene in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *Molecular Biology of the Cell 6(Suppl.*), 360. https://eurekamag.com/research/033/586/033586889.php
- Morimoto, A., Shibuya, H., Zhu, X., Kim, J., Ishiguro, K., Han, M., & Watanabe, Y. (2012). A conserved KASH domain protein associates with telomeres, SUN1, and dynactin during mammalian meiosis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *198*(2), 165–172. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201204085
- Mossessova, E., & Lima, C. D. (2000). Ulp1-SUMO Crystal Structure and Genetic Analysis Reveal Conserved Interactions and a Regulatory Element Essential for Cell Growth in Yeast. *Molecular Cell*, 5(5), 865–876. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80326-3
- Mukai, M., Hira, S., Nakamura, K., Nakamura, S., Kimura, H., Sato, M., & Kobayashi, S.
   (2015). H3K36 Trimethylation-Mediated Epigenetic Regulation is Activated by Bam and Promotes Germ Cell Differentiation During Early Oogenesis in Drosophila. *Biology Open*, 4(2), 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.201410850
- Muller, S. (1998). Conjugation with the ubiquitin-related modifier SUMO-1 regulates the partitioning of PML within the nucleus. *The EMBO Journal*, *17*(1), 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/17.1.61
- Müller, S., Berger, M., Lehembre, F., Seeler, J.-S., Haupt, Y., & Dejean, A. (2000). C-Jun and p53 Activity Is Modulated by SUMO-1 Modification. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(18), 13321–13329. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.275.18.13321

- Murray-Nerger, L. A., & Cristea, I. M. (2021). Lamin post-translational modifications: Emerging toggles of nuclear organization and function. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 46(10), 832–847. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibs.2021.05.007
- Nayak, P., Kejriwal, A., & Ratnaparkhi, G. S. (2021). SUMOylation of Arginyl tRNA Synthetase Modulates the Drosophila Innate Immune Response. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, 9, 695630. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.695630
- Nayler, O., Strätling, W., Bourquin, J. P., Stagljar, I., Lindemann, L., Jasper, H., Hartmann, A.
  M., Fackelmayer, F. O., Ullrich, A., & Stamm, S. (1998). SAF-B protein couples transcription and pre-mRNA splicing to SAR/MAR elements. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 26(15), 3542–3549.
- Nie, M., Xie, Y., Loo, J. A., & Courey, A. J. (2009). Genetic and proteomic evidence for roles of Drosophila SUMO in cell cycle control, Ras signaling, and early pattern formation. *PloS One*, 4(6), e5905. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0005905
- Nikolakaki, E., Kohen, R., Hartmann, A. M., Stamm, S., Georgatsou, E., & Giannakouros, T. (2001). Cloning and Characterization of an Alternatively Spliced Form of SR Protein Kinase 1 That Interacts Specifically with Scaffold Attachment Factor-B. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(43), 40175–40182. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M104755200
- Nimmo, E. (n.d.). *Defective meiosis in telomere-silencing mutants of Schizosaccharomyces pombe—ProQuest*. Retrieved March 8, 2022, from https://www-proquestcom.libproxy.uncg.edu/docview/204485384/fulltextPDF/97D488B2F19B4273PQ/1?acco untid=14604

- Oesterreich, S. (2003). Scaffold attachment factors SAFB1 and SAFB2: Innocent bystanders or critical players in breast tumorigenesis? *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry*, 90(4), 653– 661. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcb.10685
- Oyanagi, H., Takenaka, K., Ishikawa, S., Kawano, Y., Adachi, Y., Ueda, K., Wada, H., & Tanaka, F. (2004). Expression of LUN gene that encodes a novel RING finger protein is correlated with development and progression of non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*, 46(1), 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lungcan.2004.03.009
- Ozkaynak, E., Finley, D., & Varshavsky, A. (1984). The yeast ubiquitin gene: Head-to-tail repeats encoding a polyubiquitin precursor protein. *Nature*, *312*(5995), 663–666.
- Pan, M.-R., Peng, G., Hung, W.-C., & Lin, S.-Y. (2011). Monoubiquitination of H2AX Protein Regulates DNA Damage Response Signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(32), 28599–28607. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.256297
- Paouneskou, D., & Jantsch, V. (2019). Meiotic chromosome movement: What's lamin got to do with it? *Nucleus*, *10*(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1080/19491034.2019.1572413
- Park, H.-J., Zheng, H., Kulkarni, D., Kerrigan, J., Pungaliya, P., Saleem, A., & Rubin, E. H.
  (2008). Identification of Phosphorylation Sites of TOPORS and a Role for Serine 98 in the Regulation of Ubiquitin but Not SUMO E3 Ligase Activity. *Biochemistry*, 47(52), 13887–13896. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi801904q
- Parnell, T. J., Viering, M. M., Skjesol, A., Helou, C., Kuhn, E. J., & Geyer, P. K. (2003). An endogenous Suppressor of Hairy-wing insulator separates regulatory domains in *Drosophila. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(23), 13436–13441. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2333111100

Phillips, C. M., Wong, C., Bhalla, N., Carlton, P. M., Weiser, P., Meneely, P. M., & Dernburg,
A. F. (2005). HIM-8 Binds to the X Chromosome Pairing Center and Mediates
Chromosome-Specific Meiotic Synapsis. *Cell*, *123*(6), 1051–1063.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.09.035

- Pichler, A., Gast, A., Seeler, J. S., Dejean, A., & Melchior, F. (2002). The Nucleoporin RanBP2
  Has SUMO1 E3 Ligase Activity. *Cell*, 108(1), 109–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00633-X
- Pickart, C. M. (2000). Ubiquitin in chains. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences*, 25(11), 544–548. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0968-0004(00)01681-9
- Powers, N. R., Parvanov, E. D., Baker, C. L., Walker, M., Petkov, P. M., Paigen, K., & Adams,
  I. R. E. (2016). The Meiotic Recombination Activator PRDM9 Trimethylates Both
  H3K36 and H3K4 at Recombination Hotspots In Vivo. *PLOS Genetics*, *12*(6).
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006146
- Pungaliya, P., Kulkarni, D., Park, H.-J., Marshall, H., Zheng, H., Lackland, H., Saleem, A., & Rubin, E. H. (2007). TOPORS Functions As A SUMO-1 E3 Ligase for Chromatin-Modifying Proteins. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 6(10), 3918–3923. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr0703674
- Rajendra, R., Malegaonkar, D., Pungaliya, P., Marshall, H., Rasheed, Z., Brownell, J., Liu, L. F., Lutzker, S., Saleem, A., & Rubin, E. H. (2004). Topors Functions as an E3 Ubiquitin Ligase with Specific E2 Enzymes and Ubiquitinates p53. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(35), 36440–36444. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.C400300200

Rasheed, Z. A., Saleem, A., Ravee, Y., Pandolfi, P. P., & Rubin, E. H. (2002). The Topoisomerase I-Binding RING Protein, Topors, Is Associated with Promyelocytic

Leukemia Nuclear Bodies. *Experimental Cell Research*, 277(2), 152–160. https://doi.org/10.1006/excr.2002.5550

- Renner, F., Moreno, R., & Schmitz, M. L. (2010). SUMOylation-Dependent Localization of IKKε in PML Nuclear Bodies Is Essential for Protection against DNA-Damage-Triggered Cell Death. *Molecular Cell*, *37*(4), 503–515. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.018
- Renz, A., & Fackelmayer, F. O. (1996). Purification and Molecular Cloning of the Scaffold
  Attachment Factor B (SAF-B), a Novel Human Nuclear Protein That Specifically Binds
  to S/MAR-DNA. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 24(5), 843–849.
  https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/24.5.843
- Reo, E., Seum, C., Spierer, P., & Bontron, S. (2010). Sumoylation of Drosophila SU(VAR)3-7 is required for its heterochromatic function. http://doc.rero.ch/record/18078/files/bon\_sds.pdf
- Robida, M. D., & Singh, R. (2003). Drosophila polypyrimidine-tract binding protein (PTB) functions specifically in the male germline. *The EMBO Journal*, 22(12), 2924–2933. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/cdg301
- Robida, M., Sridharan, V., Morgan, S., Rao, T., & Singh, R. (2010). *Drosophila* polypyrimidine tract-binding protein is necessary for spermatid individualization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(28), 12570–12575.
   https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1007935107
- Rogakou, E. P., Pilch, D. R., Orr, A. H., Ivanova, V. S., & Bonner, W. M. (1998). DNA Doublestranded Breaks Induce Histone H2AX Phosphorylation on Serine 139. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(10), 5858–5868. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.10.5858

- Ryu, H.-Y., & Hochstrasser, M. (2021). Histone sumoylation and chromatin dynamics. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 49(11), 6043–6052. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab280
- Saitoh, H., Sparrow, D. B., Shiomi, T., Pu, R. T., Nishimoto, T., Mohun, T. J., & Dasso, M. (1998). Ubc9p and the conjugation of SUMO-1 to RanGAP1 and RanBP2. *Current Biology: CB*, 8(2), 121–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-9822(98)70044-2
- Saleem, A., Dutta, J., Malegaonkar, D., Rasheed, F., Rasheed, Z., Rajendra, R., Marshall, H., Luo, M., Li, H., & Rubin, E. H. (2004). The topoisomerase I- and p53-binding protein topors is differentially expressed in normal and malignant human tissues and may function as a tumor suppressor. *Oncogene*, 23(31), 5293–5300. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1207700
- Sato, A., Isaac, B., Phillips, C. M., Rillo, R., Carlton, P. M., Wynne, D. J., Kasad, R. A., & Dernburg, A. F. (2009). Cytoskeletal Forces Span the Nuclear Envelope to Coordinate Meiotic Chromosome Pairing and Synapsis. *Cell*, *139*(5), 907–919. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2009.10.039
- Savare, J., Bonneaud, N., & Girard, F. (2005). SUMO represses transcriptional activity of the Drosophila SoxNeuro and human Sox3 central nervous system-specific transcription factors. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, 16(6), 2660–2669.
- Schmitt, J., Benavente, R., Hodzic, D., Höög, C., Stewart, C. L., & Alsheimer, M. (2007).
  Transmembrane protein Sun2 is involved in tethering mammalian meiotic telomeres to the nuclear envelope. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *104*(18), 7426–7431. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0609198104
- Schwarz, S. E., Matuschewski, K., Liakopoulos, D., Scheffner, M., & Jentsch, S. (1998). The ubiquitin-like proteins SMT3 and SUMO-1 are conjugated by the UBC9 E2 enzyme.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 95(2), 560–564. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC18459/

- Secombe, J., & Parkhurst, S. M. (2004). Drosophila Topors Is a RING Finger-containing Protein That Functions as a Ubiquitin-protein Isopeptide Ligase for the Hairy Basic Helix-Loop-Helix Repressor Protein. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(17), 17126–17133. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M310097200
- Sergeant, K. A., Bourgeois, C. F., Dalgliesh, C., Venables, J. P., Stevenin, J., & Elliott, D. J. (2007). Alternative RNA splicing complexes containing the scaffold attachment factor SAFB2. *Journal of Cell Science*, *120*(2), 309–319. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.03344
- Shiio, Y., & Eisenman, R. N. (2003). Histone sumoylation is associated with transcriptional repression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(23), 13225–13230. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1735528100
- Shimizu, T., Cao, C.-X., Shao, R.-G., & Pommier, Y. (1998). Lamin B Phosphorylation by Protein Kinase Cα and Proteolysis during Apoptosis in Human Leukemia HL60 Cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(15), 8669–8674.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.15.8669

- Shinbo, Y., Taira, T., Niki, T., Iguchi-Ariga, S. M. M., & Ariga, H. (2005). DJ-1 restores p53 transcription activity inhibited by Topors/p53BP3. *International Journal of Oncology*, 26(3), 641–648.
- SINGLE-FLY DNA PREPS FOR PCR. (n.d.). Retrieved April 1, 2022, from http://diyhpl.us/~bryan/irc/protocol-online/protocol-cache/dnafly.html

- Spierer, A., Begeot, F., Spierer, P., & Delattre, M. (2008). SU(VAR)3-7 Links Heterochromatin and Dosage Compensation in Drosophila. Public Library of Science. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1000066
- Strong, A., Simone, L., Krentz, A., Vaccaro, C., Watson, D., Ron, H., Kalish, J. M., Pedro, H. F., Zackai, E. H., & Hakonarson, H. (2021). Expanding the genetic landscape of oral-facialdigital syndrome with two novel genes. *American Journal of Medical Genetics Part A*, *185*(8), 2409–2416. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.62337
- Stucki, M., Clapperton, J. A., Mohammad, D., Yaffe, M. B., Smerdon, S. J., & Jackson, S. P. (2005). MDC1 Directly Binds Phosphorylated Histone H2AX to Regulate Cellular Responses to DNA Double-Strand Breaks. *Cell*, *123*(7), 1213–1226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.09.038
- Thomas, J. B., & Kaltsikes, P. J. (1976). The genomic origin of the unpaired chromosomes in triticale. *Canadian Journal of Genetics and Cytology*, 18(4), 687–700. https://doi.org/10.1139/g76-081
- Thorne, A. W., Sautiere, P., Briand, G., & Crane-Robinson, C. (1987). The structure of ubiquitinated histone H2B. *The EMBO Journal*, *6*(4), 1005–1010.
- Thrower, J. S., Hoffman, L., Rechsteiner, M., & Pickart, C. M. (2000). Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal. *EMBO Journal*, 19(1), 94–102. http://www.proquest.com/docview/195258373/abstract/F07A5883C3614629PQ/1
- Tóth, A., Rabitsch, K. P., Gálová, M., Schleiffer, A., Buonomo, S. B. C., & Nasmyth, K. (2000).
  Functional Genomics Identifies Monopolin: A Kinetochore Protein Required for
  Segregation of Homologs during Meiosis I. *Cell*, *103*(7), 1155–1168.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00217-8

- Townson, S. M., Sullivan, T., Zhang, Q., Clark, G. M., Osborne, C. K., Lee, A. V., & Oesterreich, S. (2000). HET/SAF-B overexpression causes growth arrest and multinuclearity and is associated with aneuploidy in human breast cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research : An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, 6(9), 3788–3796.
- Treier, M., Seufert, W., & Jentsch, S. (1992). Drosophila UbcD1 encodes a highly conserved ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme involved in selective protein degradation. *The EMBO Journal*, 11(1), 367–372. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC556457/
- Trost, M., Blattner, A. C., Leo, S., & Lehner, C. F. (2016). Drosophila dany is essential for transcriptional control and nuclear architecture in spermatocytes. *Development* (*Cambridge, England*), 143(14), 2664–2676. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.134759
- Tsai, S.-F., Grigoriy G. Prikhod'ko, Jang, C.-C., Bessarab, D. A., Tang, C.-Y., Pflugfelder, G.
  O., & Sun, Y. H. (1997). Gypsy Retrotransposon as a Tool for the in vivo Analysis of the Regulatory Region of the Optomotor-Blind Gene in Drosophila. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(8), 3837–3841.
- Vazquez, J., Belmont, A. S., & Sedat, J. W. (2002). The dynamics of homologous chromosome pairing during male Drosophila meiosis. *Current Biology : CB*, *12*(17), 1473–1483.
- Vernizzi, L., & Lehner, C. F. (2021). Bivalent individualization during chromosome territory formation in Drosophila spermatocytes by controlled condensin II protein activity and additional force generators. *PLoS Genetics*, *17*(10), e1009870. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1009870

- Volpi, S., Bongiorni, S., Fabbretti, F., Wakimoto, B. T., & Prantera, G. (2013). Drosophila rae1 is required for male meiosis and spermatogenesis. Journal of Cell Science, jcs.111328. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.111328
- Wagner, S. A., Beli, P., Weinert, B. T., Nielsen, M. L., Cox, J., Mann, M., & Choudhary, C.
  (2011). A Proteome-wide, Quantitative Survey of In Vivo Ubiquitylation Sites Reveals
  Widespread Regulatory Roles \*. *Molecular & Cellular Proteomics*, 10(10).
  https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M111.013284
- Wang, Z.-G., Ruggero, D., Ronchetti, S., Zhong, S., Gaboli, M., Rivi, R., & Pandolfi, P. P.
  (1998). Pml is essential for multiple apoptotic pathways. *Nature Genetics*, 20(3), 266–272. https://doi.org/10.1038/3073
- Weger, S., Hammer, E., & Engstler, M. (2003). The DNA topoisomerase I binding protein topors as a novel cellular target for SUMO-1 modification: Characterization of domains necessary for subcellular localization and sumolation. *Experimental Cell Research*, 290(1), 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-4827(03)00292-1
- Weger, S., Hammer, E., & Heilbronn, R. (2005). Topors acts as a SUMO-1 E3 ligase for p53 in vitro and in vivo. *FEBS Letters*, 579(22), 5007–5012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2005.07.088
- Weighardt, F. (n.d.). HnRNPs and heat shock. 12.
- Wiborg, O., Pedersen, M. S., Wind, A., Berglund, L. E., Marcker, K. A., & Vuust, J. (1985). The human ubiquitin multigene family: Some genes contain multiple directly repeated ubiquitin coding sequences. *The EMBO Journal*, 4(3), 755–759.

- Wilkinson, K. D., Tashayev, V. L., O'Connor, L. B., Larsen, C. N., Kasperek, E., & Pickart, C.
  M. (1995). Metabolism of the polyubiquitin degradation signal: Structure, mechanism, and role of isopeptidase T. *Biochemistry*, *34*(44), 14535–14546.
- Wynne, D. J., Rog, O., Carlton, P. M., & Dernburg, A. F. (2012). Dynein-dependent processive chromosome motions promote homologous pairing in C. elegans meiosis. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 196(1), 47–64. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201106022
- Yamaguchi, H., Ding, Y., Lee, J.-F., Zhang, M., Pal, A., Bornmann, W., Yan, D.-H., & Hung,
  M.-C. (2008). Interferon-inducible protein IFIXalpha inhibits cell invasion by
  upregulating the metastasis suppressor maspin. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 47(10), 739–743. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.20423
- Yang, X., Li, H., Zhou, Z., Wang, W.-H., Deng, A., Andrisani, O., & Liu, X. (2009). Plk1mediated Phosphorylation of Topors Regulates p53 Stability. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(28), 18588–18592. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.C109.001560
- Ye, Y., & Rape, M. (2009). Building ubiquitin chains: E2 enzymes at work. Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology, 10(11), 755–764.

http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.uncg.edu/10.1038/nrm2780

- Yu, A. M., & McVey, M. (2010). Synthesis-dependent microhomology-mediated end joining accounts for multiple types of repair junctions. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 38(17), 5706– 5717. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq379
- Zhang, Y., Wang, J., Huang, W., Cai, J., Ba, J., Wang, Y., Ke, Q., Huang, Y., Liu, X., Qiu, Y., Lu, Q., Sui, X., Shi, Y., Wang, T., Shen, H., Guan, Y., Zhou, Y., Chen, Y., Wang, M., & Xiang, A. P. (2018). Nuclear Nestin deficiency drives tumor senescence via lamin A/C-

dependent nuclear deformation. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05808-y

- Zhang, Y.-Q., & Sarge, K. D. (2008). Sumoylation regulates lamin A function and is lost in lamin A mutants associated with familial cardiomyopathies. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, *182*(1), 35–39. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200712124
- Zhao, X., & Blobel, G. (2005). A SUMO ligase is part of a nuclear multiprotein complex that affects DNA repair and chromosomal organization. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 102(13), 4777–4782. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0500537102
- Zheng, D.-Q., & Petes, T. (2018). Genome Instability Induced by Low Levels of Replicative DNA Polymerases in Yeast. *Genes*, *9*(11), 539. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes9110539
- Zhong, S., Salomoni, P., & Pandolfi, P. P. (2000). The transcriptional role of PML and the nuclear body. *Nature Cell Biology*, 2(5), E85–E90. https://doi.org/10.1038/35010583
- Zhou, R., Wen, H., & Ao, S.-Z. (1999). Identification of a novel gene encoding a p53-associated protein. *Gene*, 235(1–2), 93–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1119(99)00203-6
- Zhu, K., Lei, P.-J., Ju, L.-G., Wang, X., Huang, K., Yang, B., Shao, C., Zhu, Y., Wei, G., Fu, X.-D., Li, L., & Wu, M. (2017). SPOP-containing complex regulates SETD2 stability and H3K36me3-coupled alternative splicing. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 45(1), 92–105. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw814
- Zickler, D., & Kleckner, N. (1998). The leptotene-zygotene transition of meiosis. *Annual Review* of Genetics, 32, 619–697.

https://www.proquest.com/docview/201195368/abstract/7B7B223BAD3746F7PQ/1